Public Document Pack

Notice of Meeting and Agenda
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
10.00 am, Tuesday, 9th August, 2022

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to watch the live
webcast on the Council’s website.
The law allows the Integration Joint Board to consider some issues in private. Any
items under “Private Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be
recorded in the minute.

Contacts
Email:

rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk / matthew.brass@edinburgh.gov.uk

Tel:

0131 529 4107

1. Welcome and Apologies
1.1

Including the order of business and any additional items of
business notified to the Chair in advance.

2. Declaration of Interests
2.1

Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests
they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest.

3. Deputations
3.1

If any.

4. Minutes
4.1

Minute of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board of 19 April 2022
submitted for approval as a correct record

5-8

5. Forward Planning
5.1

Rolling Actions Log

9 - 12

6. Items of Strategy
6.1

Primary Care Improvement Plan (PCIP) 5.0 – Report by the Chief
Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

13 - 24

6.2

Annual Review of Directions – Referral from the Performance and
Delivery Committee

25 - 46

6.3

Lothian Strategic Development Framework – Report by the Chief
Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

47 - 74

7. Items of Performance
7.1

Finance Update – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board - 9 August 2022

75 - 92

Page 2 of 4

Integration Joint Board
7.2

2022/23 Financial Plan – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh
Integration Joint Board

93 - 104

7.3

Evaluation of Winter 2021/22 – Report by the Chief Officer,
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

105 - 180

8. Items of Governance
8.1

Appointments to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and
Committees – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration
Joint Board

181 - 214

9. Committee Updates
9.1

None.

Board Members
Voting
Councillor Tim Pogson (Chair), Angus McCann (Vice-Chair), Councillor Euan Davidson,
Elizabeth Gordon, George Gordon, Peter Knight, Councillor Claire Miller, Councillor
Max Mitchell, Peter Murray, Councillor Vicky Nicolson.
Non-Voting
Bridie Ashrowan, Colin Beck, Heather Cameron, Christine Farquhar, Helen FitzGerald,
Ruth Hendery, Kirsten Hey, Jackie Irvine, Grant Macrae, Jacqui Macrae, Allister
McKillop, Moira Pringle, Judith Proctor and Emma Reynish.

Webcasting of Integration Joint Board meetings
Please note that that this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via
the Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part
of the meeting is being filmed.
The Integration Joint Board is a joint data controller with the City of Edinburgh Council
and NHS Lothian under the General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board - 9 August 2022

Page 3 of 4

Act 2018. This meeting will be broadcast to fulfil our public task obligation to enable
members of the public to observe the democratic process. Data collected during this
webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy.
If you have any queries regarding this and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or
storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial
damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk).

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board - 9 August 2022

Page 4 of 4

Agenda Item 4.1

Minute
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
10.00am, Tuesday 19 April 2022
Held remotely by video conference
Present:
Board Members:
Councillor Ricky Henderson (Chair), Angus McCann (Vice-Chair),
Councillor Robert Aldridge, Bridie Ashrowan, Colin Beck, Heather
Cameron, Councillor Phil Doggart, Christine Farquhar, Helen
Fitzgerald, Councillor George Gordon, Kirsten Hey, Grant Macrae,
Jacqui Macrae, Councillor Melanie Main, Peter Murray, Moira
Pringle, Judith Proctor, Emma Reynish and Richard Williams.
Officers: Matthew Brass, Jessica Brown, Tony Duncan, Rachel
Gentleman, Linda IrvineFitzpatrick, Gavin King, Mike MassaroMallinson, Jay Sturgeon
Apologies: Ruth Hendery, Siddharthan Chandran and Allister
McKillop

1. Minutes
The minute of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board of 22 March 2022 was
submitted for approval as a correct record.
Decision
To approve the minute as a correct record.

Page 5

2. Rolling Actions Log
The Rolling Actions Log updated to April 2022 was presented.
Decision
1) To agree to close the following actions:
•

Action 1 (2) – Membership Proposal – Referral from the Strategic
Planning Group.

•

Action 2 – Proposal to Continue Programme Management Resource
within the Health and Social Care Partnership.

2) To otherwise note the remaining outstanding actions.
(Reference – Rolling Actions Log, submitted)

3. Drug and Alcohol Recovery Orientated System of Care
Development and Investment Plan
The plans to achieve five treatment outcomes for people in Edinburgh who
are drug dependent were presented to the Board for approval alongside the
recurring spending forecast. It was noted that the funding for the full
implementation of MAT 2 remained unresolved.
Decision
1) To note the comments on the plans and allocates funding in line with
Appendix 2 (subject to formal confirmation of expected SG funding
allocations).
2) With exception of MAT 2, issue directions to implement these plans in
line with Appendix 3.
3) Instructs the Chair to raise concerns around the lack of funding to fully
implement MAT 2 standard with the Scottish Government.
4) To instruct the Chief Officer to issue a direction for MAT 2 once the
review of EADP slippage has concluded.
5) To formally record thanks to Colin Beck and David Williams for their
work with the Edinburgh Alcohol and Drug Partnership.
(Reference – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint
Board, submitted)

4. System Pressures and Renewal and Recovery
An update on system pressures and performance was presented to the
Board for information. The report also provided information on the
additional funding that had been provided from the Scottish Government.
Decision

Page 6

1) To note the current pressures on the Edinburgh Health and Social Care
Partnership (EHSCP) and mitigating actions being taken.
2) To agree to allocate recurring resources of £0.9m to support the
emerging innovation and sustainability programme.
(Reference – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint
Board, submitted)

5. The Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact: Formulation to Enactment
Progress Report
The Board were provided with an update on the seven recommendations
that were approved by the EIJB in April 2021 on the future work of the
Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact.
Decision
1) To acknowledge the progress made on the 7 recommendations of the
Edinburgh Pact Formulation to Enactment report agreed by the EIJB in
April 2021.
2) To approve a two-year extension of the EIJB Grants Programme from
31 March 2023 to 31 March 2025 whose beneficiaries will continue to
be active contributors to the More Good Days PSP.
3) To agree to present a report back to the EIJB within the next year on the
funding for the Grants Programme and the agreed allocations.
(Reference – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint
Board, submitted)

6. Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Governance Report
The Board were provided with a Governance Report which included the
EIJB, Committees, Development Sessions and Working Group Diary for
2023; the revised Terms of Reference for each committee and an update to
the Strategic Planning Group (SPG) membership.
Decision
1) To agree the proposed EIJB, Development Sessions, Budget Working Groups
and committee dates for 2023.
2) To agree the updated terms of reference for each of the EIJB committees.
3) To approve the recommendation from the Futures committee in the referral report
(appendix 6) to remove this committee from the EIJB and committee structure
and replace with an annual event for all EIJB members to attend.
4) To note that in line with the Covid-19 restrictions the appropriate engagement
and consultation will take place for the future ways of working for the EIJB.
5) To appoint Alyson Falconer to replace Belinda Hacking on the Strategic Planning
Group as the non-voting Health Professional.

Page 7

6) To appoint Susan McMillan to replace Phillip Brown on the Strategic Planning
Group as the non-voting Performance Lead.
7) To note the current vacancies on the EIJB and Committees.
Councillor Main requested her dissent to the decision be recorded.
(Reference – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint
Board, submitted)

7. Review of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Standing
Orders
A revised version of the EIJB’s Standing Orders were presented for approval
following the approval of the Code of Conduct at the previous Board meeting.
Decision
1) To approve the revised Standing Orders.
2) To note the outcome of the discussions with the Standards Commissioner and
the amendment made to the Model Code of Conduct.
(Reference – Report by the EIJB Standards Officer, submitted)

8. Membership Proposal for the Strategic Planning Group
A proposal for a member of the Edinburgh Association of Community Councillors to
join the EIJB’s Strategic Planning Group was presented for approval.
Decision
To agree to defer the report to a future meeting of the Edinburgh Integration Joint
Board once the concerns originally raised on EACC representation, communication
and the benefit to the Strategic Planning Group have been addressed in full.
(Reference – Report by the Service Director, Strategic Planning, EHSCP, submitted)

9.

Committee Updates

A report provided an update on the work of the IJB Committees which had met
since the last Board meeting. In addition to the summary report, the draft minutes
of the Strategic Planning Group and Performance and Delivery Committee were
submitted for noting.
Decision
To note the update and the draft minutes of the IJB Committees.

10.

Valedictory Remarks

The Chair gave thanks to Councillor Main and Councillor Gordon who were
resigning from the Board and wished them well in the future.
The Vice-Chair gave thanks to the Chair who was resigning from the Board
and wished him well in the future.

Page 8

Rolling Actions Log
August 2022
No

1

Agenda item

Membership
Proposal –
Referral from
the Strategic
Planning Group

Subject

Action

Action Owner

Expected Comments
completion
date

28-09-21

1)

Service Director,
Strategic
Planning

October
2021

Closed December
2021

Ongoing

The EACC referral
report from the SPG is
to be reconsidered at
the October EIJB

Page 9

Date

Service Director
Strategy has
confirmed that the
EACC represents all
44 community councils
in Edinburgh. A
steering group is in
place to ensure
engagement and
geographical
representation
including expansion
options as required.
The EACC holds
meetings monthly and
Page 1 of 3

Agenda Item 5.1

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board – August 2022

To agree to continue the report to
the October 2021 Board meeting
in order to seek further information
on how the EACC would involve,
represent and communicate to
communities throughout
Edinburgh.

No

Agenda item

Subject

Date

Action

Action Owner

Expected Comments
completion
date
has established a
website.

26-10-21

2)

Page 10
19.04.22

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board – August 2022

3)

To defer the decision of appointing
an EACC member to the Strategic
Planning Group until concerns on
representation, the EACC
membership, reporting from the
SPG to the EACC and the
contribution the member could
bring to the SPG were addressed
and reported back to the Board.

Service Director
– Strategic
Planning

April 2022

To agree to defer the report to a
future meeting of the Edinburgh
Integration Joint Board once the
concerns originally raised on
EACC representation,
communication and the benefit to
the Strategic Planning Group have
been addressed in full.

Service Director
– Strategic
Planning

October
2022

Closed April 2022
An update on the
appointment of a
representative of the
EACC to the SPG has
been deferred as a
result of the decision
to run a reduced
agenda due to system
pressures.
Further engagement is
recommended
between the new
Chair, Vice Chair and
EACC Chair in
advance of the
October EIJB to finally
resolve the proposition
for EACC
representation to join
the Strategic Planning
Group.

Page 2 of 3

No

3

Agenda item

System
Pressures
Update Briefing

Subject

Date

Action

Action Owner

Expected Comments
completion
date

08-02-22

To include in the next system pressures
update to the EIJB the wider pressures
on community support and unpaid carers
and the work of the Third Sector to help
tackle this.

Service Director
- Operations

October
2022

A further update report
will be brought to the
October Board
meeting

Page 11
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board – August 2022

Page 3 of 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6.1

REPORT
Primary Care Improvement Plan (PCIP) 5.0
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
9 August 2022
Executive Summary

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Edinburgh
Integration Joint Board (EIJB) with a summary of
progress made in 2021/22 against the Primary Care
Improvement Plan (PCIP). Overall, good progress
continues to be made, despite the concurrent
responsibility and exceptional demands of the covid
vaccination delivery program (written March 2022).
2. For new EIJB members, the PCIP is the mechanism
by which the new General Medical Services (GMS)
2018 Contract is enacted. Government invested new
funding into primary care (GMS) over a 4-year period
from August 2018. A tripartite agreement structure
governing the use of the funds was set in place,
ensuring concordance with the nationally agreed
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU), covering the
intended deployment of the resources agreed
between the Government and the British Medical
Association (BMA). The tripartite structure ensures
agreement on resource application by the Lothian
NHS Board GP Sub/LMC Committee, NHS Lothian
and EHSCP. (Appendix 2 describes intended
relationships in a diagram).
3. The first PCIP was considered and approved by the
EIJB in July 2018. In each subsequent year, the PCIP
progress has been reported at the EIJB following
support from the Lothian GP Sub/LMC, in line with
Scottish Government direction on the required
governance.
4. In 2018, the EIJB established the ‘Edinburgh Primary
Care Leadership and Resources Group’ (L&R)
chaired by the EHSCP Clinical Director, as the
governance mechanism to ensure robust governance
over spending decisions, together with the
assessment of impact. The L&R group has been an

1

Page 13

effective mechanism for ensuring primary care
involvement in decision-making.
5. The final tranche of recurrent funding was made
available in 2021 and adjusted for inflation, brought
the Edinburgh PCIP fund to £14.3M in 2021/22.
6. Although the four-year PCIP implementation program
has ended, the ongoing embedding and evaluation of
the PCIP resources continues, alongside the
complimentary ‘Transformation and Stability’ funds for
Primary Care. The Leadership and Resources Group
remains ideally placed to carry this work forward.
7. Discussions are ongoing at government/BMA level
about whether this funding can be increased further to
support a ‘minimum specification’ in three particular
areas of the MoU; pharmacotherapy, Community
Treatment and Care Centres (CTACs) and
vaccination transfer. In addition, (recurrent) funding is
being made available from 2022 to create Primary
Care Mental Health & Well Being Teams
(PCMHWBTs). The Edinburgh approach to
PCMHWBTs is described in a separate paper.

Recommendations

It is recommended that the EIJB:
1.

Notes that the whole time equivalent (wte) multidisciplinary team posts funded from PCIP has risen
from c170 to c225 over the course of the year,
exceeding expectation (end March 22).

2.

Notes a snapshot estimate of staff in post was
taken in mid-April against the figure above; 190wte
or c15% vacancy due to turnover.

3.

Notes that turnover continues to affect
pharmacotherapy most, with other areas of
recruitment relatively stable. Access to
pharmacotherapy hubs remains differential across
the City, as they become established over 2022
and 2023.

2

Page 14

4.

Notes confidence in the efficacy of all areas of
PCIP investment, although not all have yet been
subject to structured evaluation. (Outstanding initial
evaluations will be completed in 2022).

5.

Notes the estimated wte capacity benefit per
average practice of a combination of CTAC and
Vaccination Transfer of 0.7 wte and acknowledges
that access to CTAC services remains differential
across the City.

Directions
Direction to City
of Edinburgh
Council, NHS
Lothian or both
organisations

No direction required
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS
Lothian



Report Circulation
1.

Lothian GP Sub Committee/Lothian Medical Committee, June 2022

2.

Edinburgh Primary Care Leadership and Resources Group, May 2022

3.

Lothian Oversight Group, May 2022

Main Report
4.

PCIP 4.0 (2021), reported on the implementation status of all workstreams and
associated 17C and T&S (Transformation & Stability) Funds at the end of
March 2021. Many of the reported issues and overall status assessment remain
consistent and are not rehearsed again in this 2021/22 summary paper.

5.

As at 31.3.22, c98% of the PCIP which is already committed (i.e. £13.5M out of
the available £14.3M) is spent on staff who directly deliver MOU patient facing
services. This figure includes clinical staff who also carry management
responsibilities (e.g. mental health and pharmacotherapy team leads).

6.

The distribution methodology (consulted on in 2019) will give the average City
practice (list c8500) c3.0wte practice embedded PCIP staff, with an additional
3

Page 15

0.7wte non-practice attached benefit. (For the moment, all pharmacotherapy
staff are included as practice attached. With the development of
pharmacotherapy hubs over the next 2 years we may adjust the practice
embedded and multi-practice attached, as technicians find the best balance to
maximise workload contribution).
7.

The original aspiration for Primary Care Mental Health Nursing was c35wte. We
have c23wte in post and propose to switch funding source from PCIP for the
additional staff required. The additional Primary Care Mental Health & Well
Being (PCMHWB) funds (from 2022 and building to £3.2M over 3 years) will
replace this ‘loss’ of c12 wte with an estimated additional 20 wte mental health
nurses, in addition to other mental health staff. This area is expected to
continue to be subject to slow recruitment, due to lack of availability of qualified
staff in the UK.

8.

In contrast, the original aspiration for pharmacotherapy staff was c70wte and
we now have 93wte funded from PCIP. This enhanced investment was
supported partly due to the availability of trained staff, and partly because the
proposal to recruit an additional cohort of pharmacy technicians, did not
emerge until significantly after the 2018 GMS Contract funding was determined.

9.

An additional anticipated benefit will come from the combination of the
Community Treatment and Care Centres (CTAC) and vaccination workforces.
In simple illustrative terms, we have recruited c40 qualified/non-qualified
vaccination staff. Outside the intensive periods of vaccination (which remain
unpredictable) we require fewer than this to maintain the ongoing vaccination
demand. These staff will be able to contribute to routine CTAC work, whilst their
capacity is not fully required for vaccination. There will be a ‘quid pro quo’
during periods of intensive vaccination such as the winter campaign, when
CTAC staff will contribute to vaccination. There may be CTAC procedures e.g.
ear-irrigation, which can be reduced during these intense periods. A separate
paper will address these arrangements, but the net benefit to primary care
workload augmentation will be positive. This additional benefit has not yet been
quantified or added to the average practice CTAC-Vac capacity benefit of
0.7wte.

10. The 2019 Edinburgh consultation on optimal application of the available funds,
did not strongly support CTACs. Since then, recognition of their potential
contribution has gradually grown. Funding originally destined to encourage
cluster wide services was redirected to build the investment available to
c.£1.2M. This is now recognised to be a significant under-investment in the
medium to longer term and Leadership & Resources will consider the
opportunity presented by dissolution of 17C funding to further support this MOU
area. Availability of suitable and well- located premises remains a significant
4

Page 16

challenge in Edinburgh. With the establishment of two ‘permanent’ vaccination
sites in 2022 with dual use as CTACs, this position is gradually improving.
11. In the 2021/22 PCIP consultation and subsequent report, the differential
experience of practices in benefitting from PCIP investment was fully
acknowledged. Whilst this remains, we are gradually making progress in
establishing more equality between practices.
12. The cumulative 4 year underspend on PCIP now stands at £5.9M. Around £1M
of this has already been committed on a non-recurring basis. A consultation on
the best application of the underspend was committed to as part of the 2021/22
report and this will take place before summer 2022.
13. PCIP 5.0 saw a change in the way we report PCIP progress in the Scottish
Government ‘tracker’. Since 2018, we consistently reported the extent to which
we had been able to put in place the available funding as, ‘no access/partial
access/full access’, as did other Health and Social care Partnerships. As we
increasingly committed the available funding, and therefore reported ‘full
access’, colleagues were suddenly more conscious of the gulf between this
description and common workload augmentation aspirations associated with
the new (GMS) contract. In April 22, GP Sub/LMC colleagues asserted the
previous reporting was no longer credible. A letter to scotgov (with the tracker)
drawing attention to the consequent change is included as Appendix 1.
14.

We have been compiling a body of evaluation evidence (ref Table2), that
significant workload augmentation is now taking place and has further to go. It
is difficult however, to reconcile this success with the experience of general
practice which is busier than ever. The most resonant understanding is that the
benefit of the PCIP workforce has been hidden under the additional demands
on primary care, both during and in the wake of the covid epidemic. Without this
additional capacity, Primary Care might not have been as resilient as it was and
remains, despite a very difficult decade.

15. Table 1 below shows the 2022/23 budget expenditure by MOU area and
agreed by Leadership and Resources (via this paper).

5

Page 17

16. Table 1 shows an arithmetic 20.0 WTE benefit of the £1M of PCIP vaccination
transfer. This should not be confused with the additional covid and additional flu
related vaccination transfer funding, still to be confirmed.
17. Table 2 below summarises the estimated capacity benefit, using medical
sessions as a common currency. The difference between the current impact
and the target impact acknowledges the leave, turnover, recruitment and
training ‘loss’ which should gradually reduce as the workforce stabilises.

Pharmacotherapy
Linkworking
Vaccs
ANP / NP
PA
SPP
Mental Health
MSK
CTACs & HCAs
Clinical Admin
Tech
Total
Future Staff
Total exculding Vacancies
15% & Leave 20%

Edinburgh Primary Care Transformation Programme Impact Tracker April 22
Sessional Equiv (est)
Practices Benefitting
Wte in post
Target Impact
current input
70
102
204
306
43
22
22
22
70
20
40
40
32
26
104
130
3
3
9
12
7
5
25
25
19
23
80
115
29
18
72
72
49
34
34
34
60
30
30
66
TBC
TBC
253
620
786
(21)
(63)
-

403

Notes
All sessional equivalent impact subject to ongoing structured assessment.                                            
WTE total excludes pharmacy techs in training, WRW and LW ToC as workload impact currently marginal.                                             
Vaccination staff in post is an estimate                               
Differences between current and future impact reflect both turbulence and stage of ‘embeddedness’.
Vacancy/Leave factor of 35% applied to current workforce and future workforce.

6

Page 18

525

Funding Origin

Evaluation

PCIP
PCIP
PCIP
PCIP/T&S
PCIP
PCIP / T&S
PCIP
PCIP
PCIP
T&S
PCIP

Jun-21
Sep-19
Feb-21
Aug-22
Aug-22
Jul-22
May-19
Nov-19
Oct-19
Mar-20
TBC

PCIP

18. Edinburgh therefore, has put in place a workforce of c250 wte (225 wte
reported earlier, plus 20 vaccination transfer, plus c.6wte staff funded from
associated investments). We estimate that this workforce currently contributed
capacity equivalent to c.620 weekly medical sessions. When these sessions
are adjusted for a 15% vacancy factor and a 20% leave factor, the actual
weekly benefit across primary care in Edinburgh is assessed as equivalent to
c400 weekly medical sessions of capacity. These are parts of the current
workforce whose sessional yield will increase over the next couple of years as
training and embedding of new services takes place. In addition, the 15%
vacancy/turnover should drop to below 10%, thus contributing more sessions.
19. With the employment of an additional 21wte PCIP staff and the embedding of
the workforce, we expect to realise a weekly benefit equivalent of the injection
of over 500 medical sessions of capacity over the next 2-3years. In addition,
the national allocation of vaccination transfer staff and mental health
(PCMHWB Teams) will add to this.
20. Consensus on the additional PCIP funds required to deliver either the full
transformation described in the 2018 New GMS Contract or an acceptable level
of additional capacity support, remains elusive across Scotland, as it does
across the main stakeholder groups and amongst colleagues involved in the
implementation. The Edinburgh PCST believe that an additional injection of
c£5M is required to giver all our practices recognisable access to the MOU
areas most relevant to their populations. Other colleagues would advocate
strongly for a doubling of the current resource.
21. The Edinburgh population continues to grow by c6000 per year. As reported
each year, the PCIP fund does not increase with this growth and has therefore
been reduced by 1% per year since 2018. The average list size has grown
steadily over the last decade and currently stands at 8500 (excludes
Access/Challenging Behaviour/Ratho practices).
22. Despite the progress made, the sustainability of General Practice remains a
risk, as it does in most of the UK. Practices continue to struggle to attract the
required medical staff and the number of people seeking support for distress
and anxiety is overwhelming. The continuing risk posed to health and social
care provision remains at ‘severe’ in the EHSCP Risk Register. The PCIP
implementation is one of the significant mitigating factors.

7

Page 19

Report Author
Judith Proctor
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Contact for further information:
Name: David White
Email:david.white@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk Telephone: 07974 185419

Appendices
Appendix 1
Appendix 2

Diagram showing MoU impact intentions
Scottish Government submission 28 April 2022

8

Page 20

Appendix 1

Page 21
9

Appendix 2
Local Implementation Tracker Guidance
The following tracker should be used by Integration Authorities in collaboration with Health Boards and GP sub-committees
to monitor progress of primary care reform across their localities, and in line with service transfer as set out within the
Memorandum of Understanding.
The MoU Progress tab should be used through local discussions between Integration Authorities and GP sub-committee to
agree on progress against the six MoU priority services as well as that the barriers that areas are facing to full delivery.
Integration Authorities should provide information on the number of practices in their area which have no/partial/full access
to each service. The sum of these should equal the total number of practices in each area. Please only include numbers (or a
zero) in these cells; comments boxes have been provided to supply further information.
If you are funding staff through different funding streams, for example, mental health workers through Action 15 funding,
please include this information in the relevant section so we are aware that you are taking steps to recruit staff in this area.

The Workforce and Funding Profile tab should allow Integration Authorities to consider financial and workforce planning
required to deliver primary care improvement, and reassure GP sub-committee of progress.
For the workforce numbers and projections, we are limiting our questions to WTE numbers, but are also asking you to
provide headcounts for community links workers so that we can monitor progress towards the commitment to 250 additional
CLWs. Please fit staff into categories provided as best as possible rather than adding extra columns. Additonal explanation of
staffing roles can be provided in the comments box.
If you are funding staff through different funding streams, for example, recruiting mental health workers in Action 15, do not
record these in Table 1. However, they should be included in Tables 2 and 3 to inform workforce planning.
As in PCIP 4.5 tracker we have included rows at the foot of Tables 1 and 3 (shaded in red) to try and capture future recurring
workforce and costs. In Table 1, please include here your estimate of planned spend in 2022-23, which will represent
recurring annual spend on the MOU for future years. In a change to last template, use cash costs expected in 2022-23 (rather
than stripping out inflationary impacts). In Table 3, please include the extra staff you intend to employ in 2022-23, this will
then automatically total, in the line below, to provide recurring staff numbers for 2022-23 onwards.
If there are changes to spend/WTE for the years prior to FY 2021-22, compared to previously submitted trackers, please can
you provide notes in comments to explain.

We would also ask that this local implementation tracker be updated and shared with Scottish Government by 29th April
2022.

Page 22

Covid PCIP 5
Health Board Area: Lothian
Health & Social Care Partnership: Edinburgh
Total number of practices: 70
MOU PRIORITIES
2.1 Pharmacotherapy
Practices with NO Pharmacotherapy service in place
Practices with Pharmacotherapy level 1 service in place
Practices with Pharmacotherapy level 2 service in place
Practices with Pharmacotherapy level 3 service in place
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. Planning to over recruit in 2022/23 & 2023/24 (Using PCIP underspend) then to stabilise the
average practice model of 1 wte qualified pharmacist per 8,000 - 8500 (embedded in practices) & 0.5wte pharmacy technician per 8,000, mainly embedded in multi-practice hubs.

2.2 Community Treatment and Care Services
Practices with access to phlebotomy service
Practices with access to management of minor injuries and dressings service
Practices with access to ear syringing service
Practices with access to suture removal service
Practices with access to chronic disease monitoring and related data collection
Practices with access to other services
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. Edinburgh will have a multi CTACs to support the City practices with 1. Complex Dressing 2.
Dopller ABI 3. Ear Care 4. secondary Care Blood Request and from Feb22 suture removal added to the service and more services to be added in the future. Chronic disease monitoring was not planned to be part
of the CTAC Services in Edinburgh. Some Practices will continue to have restricted access due to lack of premises. The Edinburgh plan to merge the PCIP CTAC , PCIP Vaccination and Scottish Government funding
for the Vaccination programme will give a combined workforce and dual CTAC/Vaccination premises at three more accessible venues. Arrangements being trialled in 2022 with consolidation in 2023 if successful.
proposal for mobile CTAC/Vaccination unit will be reconsidered in 2022 as network is confirmed and persistent gaps in coverage become clear.
2.3 Vaccine Transformation Program
Pre School - Practices covered by service
School age - Practices covered by service
Out of Schedule - Practices covered by service
Adult imms - Practices covered by service
Adult flu - Practices covered by service
Pregnancy - Practices covered by service
Travel - Practices covered by service
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. Out of Schedule is expected to be Full By May22

2.4 Urgent Care Services
Practices supported with Urgent Care Service
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. Only 45 practices out of Edinburgh 70 Practices requested to use part of their share of the
available PCIP Fund in ANPs , NPs & SPP as part of their PCIP Allocation, following our 2019 local consultation. (Practices with No Access: 9 out of 45 requested or 34 out of the 70 in the City) . Additional
Recruitment for ANPs in 2021/22 very restricted despite internal arrangements for training places. SPP and Physician Associate recruitment prospects more promising for 2022.
Additional professional services
2.5 Physiotherapy / MSK
Practices accessing APP
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. Only 40 practices out of Edinburgh 70 Practices requested to use part of their share of the
available PCIP Fund in MSK APP as part of their PCIP Allocation, following our 2019 local consultation. (Practices with No Access: 10 out of 40 requested or 40 out of the 70 in the City). If the national fund fixed at
£170m (Edinburgh share £14.3m) then is unlikely to expand more unless will be part of the new Urgent Care Model?
2.6 Mental health workers (ref to Action 15 where appropriate)
Practices accessing MH workers / support through PCIF/Action 15
Practices accessing MH workers / support through other funding streams
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. 53 out of the 70 Practices requested to use part of their share of the available PCIP Fund in Mental
Health Practice Nurses as part of their PCIP Allocation, following our 2019 local consultation. (Practices with No Access: 33 out of 53 requested or 50 out of the 70 in the City). EHSCP plans to have c100wte with
current PCIP Committed (c24wte) + CLWs and additional Mental Health and Well Being Fund (PMHN,OT, peer support, psych,...). PCIP/PCMHWB c50/50 contribution at end of 2025. as previously reported,
Edinburgh Primary Care has no direct access to any staff employed through Action 15. Action 15 funding has different and separate governance arrangements to PCIP.
2.7 Community Links Workers
Practices accessing Link workers
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. Beside the National LW Programme in 21 practices, 22 Practices out of Edinburgh 70 Practices
requested to use part of their share of the available PCIP Fund in Link Workers as part of their PCIP Allocation, following our 2019 local consultation. (Practices with No Access: 0 out of 43 National Programme &
PCIP requested or 26 out of the 70 in the City). LW will become an integrated part of the new Mental Health Model.
2.8 Other locally agreed services (insert details)
Practices accessing service
Please outline any assumptions or caveats in the data and any significant changes since your October 2021 return. 50/50 Deals in 17 Practices 18wte TUPE 12wte and the remaining 6wte to continue funded by
EHSCP NHSL Transformation & Stability Fund but part of the PCIP Workforce.

2.9 Reflection
What have been the key successes, achievements or innovations in implementing the MOU? Early
decision to embed majority of PCIP Staff in GMS Primary Care Teams has been shown to effective in
both managing workload & transferring skills / knowledge. This applies across all workstreams.
Early investment in evaluation has built understanding and confidence throughout the implementation
period.
The governance framework insisted on by SG has been extremely effective in ensuring a collaborative
approach between primary care teams/ GP SUB – LMC / HSCP.
The Link Worker network has strengthened relationships and understanding between the natural allies
of the third sector and primary care.
Flexibility of the MDT with Edinburgh practices to match the practices working style & demographic
demand
PCIP has lent itself to additional resources being well deployed and integrated into primary care
capacity eg vaccination transformation
Early implementation of the transfer of the flu programme in 2020 under COVID19 conditions gave us
important understanding how to implement the COVID19 vaccination program

Page 23

Health Board Area: Lothian
Health & Social Care Partnership: Edinburgh

Funding and Workforce profile
Table 1: Spending profile 2018 - 2022 (£s)
Please include how much you spent in-year from both PCIF and any unutilised funding held in reserve

Service 1: Vaccinations Transfer
Programme (£s)
Financial Year

Service 2: Pharmacotherapy (£s)

Staff cost

Other costs (staff
training,
equipment,
infrastructure etc.)

Staff cost

2018-19 actual spend

£109,400

£0

2019-20 actual spend

£182,000

£0

2020-21 actual spend

£305,394

2021-22 actual spend

£400,681

Total actual spend to March 2022
2022-23 planned spend i.e. projected
annual recurring cost

Service 3: Community Treatment and
Care Services (£s)

Other costs (staff
training,
equipment,
infrastructure etc.)

Staff cost

Other costs (staff
training,
equipment,
infrastructure etc.)

£1,109,522

£0

£73,118

£1,709,179

£100,000

£99,520

£250,000

£2,803,704

£100,000

£320,424

£35,000

£3,289,822

£100,000

£600,335

£997,475

£285,000

£8,912,227

£300,000

£850,000

£150,000

£5,247,100

£104,000

Service 4: Urgent care (£s)

Service 5: Additional Professional roles
(£s)

Staff cost

Other costs (staff
training,
equipment,
infrastructure etc.)

Staff cost

Other costs (staff
training,
equipment,
infrastructure etc.)

£10,000

£0

£0

£462,269

£0

£5,000

£95,879

£0

£856,522

£50,000

£462,431

£32,000

£897,686

£91,000

£1,300,814

£37,000

£1,550,144

£46,000

£1,093,397

£156,000

£1,859,124

£69,000

£3,766,621

£1,285,432

£100,000

£2,400,300

£43,000

£2,416,000

Service 6: Community link workers (£s)

Staff cost

Other costs (staff
training,
equipment,
infrastructure etc.)

£670,994

£100,000

£541,000

£1,092,812

£100,000

£517,000

£1,105,797

£100,000

£670,000

£1,157,943

£100,000

£645,456

£46,000

£4,027,546

£400,000

£2,373,456

£41,000

£1,200,000

£100,000

£422,000

Table 2: Workforce profile 2018 - 2022 (headcount)
Financial Year

Service 6:
Community link

Page 24

TOTAL headcount staff in post as at 31
14
March 2018
INCREASE in staff headcount (1 April 2018 3
31 March 2019)
INCREASE in staff headcount (1 April 2019 4
31 March 2020)
INCREASE in staff headcount (1 April 2020 2
31 March 2021)
INCREASE staff headcount (1 April 2021 2
31 March 2022) [b]
TOTAL headcount staff in post by 31
25
March 2022
[b] If planned increase is zero, add 0. If planned increase cannot be estimated, add n/a

Table 3: Workforce profile 2018 - 2022 (WTE)

Financial Year
TOTAL staff WTE in post as at 31 March
2018
INCREASE in staff WTE (1 April 2018 - 31
March 2019)
INCREASE in staff WTE (1 April 2019 - 31
March 2020)
INCREASE in staff WTE (1 April 2020 - 31
March 2021)
INCREASE staff WTE (1 April 2021 - 31
March 2022) [b]

Service 2: Pharmacotherapy
Pharmacy
Pharmacist
Technician

Services 1 and 3: Vaccinations / Community Treatment and
Healthcare
Nursing
Other [a]
Assistants

Service 4: Urgent Care (advanced practitioners)
Advanced
ANPs
Other [a]
Paramedics

Service 5: Additional professional roles
Mental Health
MSK Physios
Other [a]
workers

Service 6:
Community link
workers

14.7

2.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

15.2

12.6

2.0

2.0

3.1

0.0

11.0

1.0

0.0

14.4

3.9

0.0

0.0

13.0

14.0

0.5

0.0

0.0

4.1

0.5

0.0

1.3

1.5

0.0

5.3

14.4

1.0

5.4

2.8

0.0

10.1

1.0

2.0

0.0

8.6

0.0

0.0

19.2

12.1

10.2

3.8

0.0

1.1

2.5

4.0

7.3

2.0

0.0

1.9

TOTAL staff WTE in post by 31 March 2022

73.9

31.1

18.1

9.7

6.2

26.3

5.0

6.0

23.0

16.0

0.0

22.4

PLANNED INCREASE staff WTE (1 April
2022 - 31 March 2023) [b]

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.0

2.0

0.0

2.0

0.0

0.0

TOTAL future recurring staff WTE [c]

73.9

31.1

18.1

9.7

6.2

26.3

9.0

8.0

23.0

18.0

0.0

22.4

[a] please specify workforce types in the comment field
[b] If planned increase is zero, add 0. If planned increase cannot be estimated, add n/a
[c] automatically calculated as staff as at 31 March 2022 plus additional staff to be recruited by March 2023
Comment: Costing based on 2021/22 Pay Scale and Edinburgh share of the PCIF £14.3m (£170m National)
Comment: £690,000 per annum: ANP Training / Phlebotomy, Technology, Practice Support and Clinical Management & Evaluation. 2018/2019: £540,907, 2019/2020: £517,645, 2020/2021: £669,061 and 2021/2022: £645,456.
Adjusted to recurring £422,000.
Comment: Vaccination costs for full roll out, Edinburgh has estimated £1m based on the original contract (ie Adult Flu, at Risk,.....), but this does not count the additional cohort for flu (50-64) nor specify the additional cost of
delivering in pandemic conditions.
Comment: Urgent Care: ANPs, SPP or Physician Associate either.

Support

Agenda Item 6.2

REFERRAL REPORT
Annual Review of Directions – Referral from the Performance
and Delivery Committee
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
21 June 22
Executive
Summary

1. The purpose of this report is to refer the attached
report on the Annual Review of Directions from the
Performance and Delivery Committee to the
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB) for
consideration with the Committee’s recommendations
detailed below.
2. The period considered by the report is April 2021 to
March 2022.
3. The report was considered by the Performance and
Delivery Committee on 6 April 2022. There are future
actions included at paragraph 5 of the main report
which have since been completed.

Recommendations The Performance and Delivery recommends that the
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board:
1.

Approves the varied Directions provided at
Appendix 1 of the report.

1

Page 25

Terms of Referral
1.

The Performance and Delivery Committee on 6 April 2022 considered the
Annual Review of Directions, which provided a progress update on the
achievement of extant directions between April 2021 – March 2022. The report
also proposed retaining, varying, closing or superseding the existing
recommendations moving forward.

2.

During consideration of the report, the Committee discussed the following:
•
•

3.

The clear and concise reporting throughout, and praised the progress made in
this reporting over the last few years.
The work undertaken to meet Internal Audit (IA) requirements.
The Committee agreed:
3.1 To note the update on progress of directions in place during the period
April 2021 – March 2022 provided at appendix 1.
3.2 To approve the recommendations for retaining, varying, closing or
superseding existing directions (also provided at Appendix 1) prior to
referral to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB).
3.3 To note the work undertaken to meet Internal Audit (IA)
recommendations in respect of the impact of COVID on directions.
3.4 to note the IA requirement to strengthen partner compliance with
statutory obligations and regulations and the actions to support this.
3.5 To refer the report to the June Edinburgh Integration Joint Board.

The Integration Joint Board is asked to consider the recommendations of the
Performance and Delivery Committee.

Report Author
Councillor Melanie Main
Chair, Performance and Delivery Committee
Contact for further information:
Name: Matthew Brass, Committee Services
Email: matthew.brass@edinburgh.gov.uk

2

Page 26

Appendices
Appendix 1

Annual Review of Directions

3

Page 27

REFERRAL REPORT
Annual Review of Directions – Referral from the Performance and
Delivery Committee
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
9 August 2022

Executive Summary

The purpose of this report is to refer the attached report
on the Annual Review of Directions from the
Performance and Delivery Committee to the Edinburgh
Integration Joint Board for consideration with the
Committee’s recommendations detailed below.

Recommendations

The Performance and Delivery recommends that the
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board:
1.

Approves the varied Directions provided at
Appendix 1 of the report.

Terms of Referral
1.

The Performance and Delivery Committee on 6 April 2022 considered the
Annual Review of Directions, which provided a progress update on the
achievement of direction between April 2021 – March 2022. The report also
proposed retaining, varying, closing or superseding the existing
recommendations moving forward.

2.

During consideration of the report, the Committee discussed the following:

The clear and concise reporting throughout, and praised the progress made in
this reporting over the last few years.
• Assurance was provided that Integrated Impact Assessments (IIAs) were
conducted during the process of producing submissions.
3.
The Committee agreed:
•

3.1 To note the update on progress of directions in place during the period
April 2021 – March 2022 provided at appendix 1.
1

Page 28

3.2 To approve the recommendations for retaining, varying, closing or
superseding existing directions (also provided at Appendix 1) prior to
referral to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB).
3.3 To note the work undertaken to meet Internal Audit (IA)
recommendations in respect of the impact of COVID on directions.
3.4 to note the IA requirement to strengthen partner compliance with
statutory obligations and regulations and the actions to support this.
3.5 To refer the report to the June Edinburgh Integration Joint Board.
The Integration Joint Board is asked to consider the recommendations of the
Performance and Delivery Committee.
Report Author
Councillor Melanie Main
Chair, Performance and Delivery Committee
Contact for further information:
Name: Matthew Brass, Committee Services
Email: matthew.brass@edinburgh.gov.uk
Appendices
Appendix 1

Annual Review of Directions

2

Page 29

REPORT
Annual Review of Directions 2022
Performance and Delivery Committee
6 April 2022
Executive
Summary

The purpose of this report is to present the annual review
of directions in place between April 2021-March 2022.
This report provides a progress update on the
achievement of directions, together with proposals for
retaining, varying, closing or superseding existing
directions.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Performance and Delivery
Committee:
1.

Considers the update on progress of directions in
place during the period April 2021 – March 2022
provided at Appendix 1.

2.

Considers the recommendations for retaining,
varying, closing, or superseding existing directions
(also provided at Appendix 1) prior to referral to the
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB).

3.

Notes the work undertaken to meet Internal Audit
(IA) recommendations in respect of the impact of
COVID on directions.

4.

Notes the IA requirement to strengthen partner
compliance with statutory obligations and
regulations and the actions to support this.

Directions
Direction to City
of Edinburgh
Council, NHS
Lothian or both
organisations

No direction required
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS
Lothian
1

Page 30

✓
✓

Report Circulation
1.

This report is being considered by the Performance and Delivery Committee
before referral to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB).

Main Report
2.

The EIJB approved a new Directions Policy and at its meeting held on 20
August 2019. The approved Directions Policy makes provision for all directions
to be reviewed annually through the work of the Performance and Delivery
Committee with recommendations about whether directions should be retained,
closed, varied or superseded being brought to the EIJB at the start of each
financial year.

3.

A review of current directions (ie those in place or approved during the period
April 2021-March 2022) has now been undertaken. This has involved:
• providing progress updates;
• establishing if the direction remains relevant or if it has been achieved;
• establishing if the strategic direction remains relevant in light of any ‘lessons
learned’ or impact from the COVID-19 pandemic;
• determining if timescales remain achievable; and
• establishing if any amendments are required to performance measures.

4.

In summary out of a total 16 directions, the recommendations are for 9 to be
retained, 1 varied, 5 closed and 1 superseded.

Directions proposed for retention
5.

Out of the 9 directions proposed for retention, the expectation is that three of
these will be reviewed in-year.

2

Page 31

• Direction EIJB-10/12/2019 – 1 which relates to alcohol and drug services is
proposed for retention on the understanding that a spending plan report and
associated directions will be considered by the EIJB in April 2022.
• The carers direction (EIJB-02/02/2021-1) will be considered as part of work
to review the Joint Carers Strategy planned to take place in the Autumn.
• EIJB-07/12/2021-2 which relates to the development of the One Edinburgh
approach will be reviewed in June 2022 when it is anticipated this work will
be completed.
6.

The remainder of the directions proposed for retention remain relevant and
appropriate at this juncture. It is anticipated, however, that there will be further
consideration of directions as part of the development of the next three-year
Strategic Plan.
Directions proposed for closure

7.

Five directions are proposed for closure. The spreadsheet at Appendix 1
provides further detail but in summary:
•

For EIJB-22/06/2021-2, the performance targets in respect of workforce have
been achieved.

•

The community ‘step-down’ resource for adults with a learning disability has
been operational since April 2020 and is now part of mainstream service
provision (EIJB-10/12/2019-2).

•

Tenancies have been commissioned for adults with forensic support needs
(EIJB-22/06/2021-3)

•

All contractual uplifts (EIJB-07/12/2021-1) have been actioned by the end of
the March 2022.

•

There is an agreement in principle to mainstream transformation within
strategic planning (EIJB-22/10/2019-2).

3

Page 32

Direction requiring a variation
8.

Only one direction (sensory support services) requires a variation. This is to
confirm the financial allocations for 2022/23 onwards. The new draft direction is
provided at Appendix 2.
Superseded directions

9.

A finance report is scheduled for the EIJB on 22 March 2022 which includes the
recommendation that direction EIJB-22/10/2019-1 (which encompasses all
services not covered by a specific direction) is superseded.

Internal Audit (IA) recommendations and requirements
10. As part of this year’s review and in response to an Internal Audit (IA)
recommendation, direction owners were asked to consider if there is
requirement to vary or supersede the extant direction to take account of any
strategic implications arising from the COVID-19 pandemic.
11. There has been no requirement to amend any of the extant directions. There
are two reasons for this: firstly, directions formulated and approved late 2020
onwards took account of any COVID emerging issues or lessons learned;
secondly, for those directions approved prior to the pandemic, the high-level
strategic objectives remain relevant and appropriate.
12. It is important, however, to understand that while the strategic intent remains
the same, the mechanism for operational implementation of the direction may
have changed to take account of the impact of COVID, for example by
introducing different ways of working. This distinction is best illustrated by way
of example. In respect of sensory support services, the direction remains
relevant, but an element of contracted service is no longer required. During the
pandemic, it became clear that the BSL duty service was no longer required as
service users utilised a Scotland-wide online tool instead and the associated

4

Page 33

funding was redistributed to enhance other parts of contracted services for
which there was increased demand.
13. Likewise, although timescales for some projects did slip (for example, the
construction of the new-build flats referenced in direction EIJB-22/06/2021-3)
progress was monitored via the direction tracker and reported accordingly.
14. There has also been discussion with IA about the need to strengthen the
approach to partner compliance with legislation and regulations in respect of
directions following a recent audit. The directions template has been amended
accordingly (see Appendix 3) and is now being used for all new, varied or
superseded directions, including the direction recommended for variance as
part of this review.
15. As noted earlier, three of the directions that are recommended for retention will
be reviewed within the next few months and are likely to be recommended for
closure or to be superseded at this point. There is therefore no proposal to
transfer these onto the new directions template.
16. For the remainder of the directions to be retained, the intent is to transfer these
to the new directions template and re-issue from the Chief Officer.
17. There is a requirement to review the overarching directions policy later in the
year. The necessity for partner agencies to be mindful of statutory obligations
and regulations in the carrying out of EIJB directions will be included in the
refresh of the policy.
Next steps
18. For the direction recommended for variance, a revised draft direction has been
formulated and can be found at Appendix 2. The Performance and Delivery
Committee is asked to review this draft direction before onward referral to the
EIJB for formal approval.

5

Page 34

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Financial
19. All extant directions have been subject to EIJB reporting and approval and
consideration of the financial implications has been part of this governance
process.
Legal / risk implications
20. Failure to comply with the legislative requirement in respect of directions would
place the EIJB in breach of its statutory duties.
21. Failure to provide sufficiently detailed directions to partner organisations (NHS
Lothian and the City of Edinburgh Council) may impact on the ability to deliver
of key areas of the Health and Social Care Partnership’s work.
22. The IA requirement to strengthen the approach to legislative and regulatory
requirements in respect of directions has been acknowledged and addressed in
the proposals contained within this report.
Equality and integrated impact assessment
23. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. All directions
have been subject to EIJB reporting which includes comment on equalities
implications.
Environment and sustainability impacts
24. There are no direct environmental and sustainability impacts arising from this
report.
Quality of care
25. Directions are intended to impact positively on quality of care by setting out
service delivery requirements and associated performance measures alongside
budget allocation.
6

Page 35

Consultation
26. Existing directions are based on strategic priorities which have been subject to
prior co-production and consultation, and agreement with partner organisations
(NHS Lothian and The City of Edinburgh Council).
27. Health and Social Care Partnership Strategic Managers, the Chief Finance
Officer and Service Director Strategic Planning have been involved in
reviewing current directions as part of the annual review process.

Report Author
Tony Duncan
Head of Strategic Planning, Edinburgh Health and Social Care
Partnership

Contact for further information:
Julie Tickle
Julie.tickle@edinburgh.gov.uk

Tel: 07770 884320

Background Reports
1.

EIJB Directions Policy

Appendices
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Update on existing directions and recommendations
Draft varied direction
New directions template

7

Page 36

Appendix 1 - P&D report Annual Review of Directions

IJB Directions Tracker
Updates on progress and recommendations on whether to retain, vary, supersede or close extant directions

Reference

Services
covered

EIJB-22/10/2019-1

All

Direction

Relevant report

Budget allocation

For those services that are not covered by a
specific direction, the City of Edinburgh Council
and NHS Lothian will continue to provide
services within current budgets, and in
accordance with statutory and regulatory
obligations, policies and procedures,
endeavouring to meet national and local targets
and the strategic objectives laid out in the
Strategic Plan.
Set up and implement the outputs from the
transformation programme as approved by the
EIJB on 8 February 2019 and set out in the
Strategic Plan 2019-22.

EIJB Strategic Plan
2019-22, EIJB 20
August 2019

The Financial Schedule sets out
Relevant national and local targets,
financial allocations for all delegated reported on through annual
services.
performance report

Primary care /
general medical
services

Work with EHSCP to produce business cases to
support priorities for capital investment beyond
the current year taking account of the
anticipated population expansion in each
locality

• Primary Care
Population and
Premises, EIJB, 22
September 2017

EIJB-10/12/2019 - 1 Alcohol & Drugs
Services

Implement the Seek, Keep and Treat
components of the national strategy ‘Rights,
Respect and Recovery’ to improve health by
preventing and reducing alcohol and drug use,
harm and related deaths, through the delivery
of services outlined in the investment plans.
A local delivery and performance plan will
measure engagement and outcomes for people
and will be informed by the national framework
to be issued shortly for Rights, Respect and
Recovery.

·Scottish
Government - Seek, 19/20
Keep and
20/21
Treat Funding, EIJB 21/22
21 June 2019
·Edinburgh Alochol
and Drug
Partnership - Seek,
Keep and Treat
Funding 2018/19

EIJB-22/10/2019-2

Page 37

EIJB-22/10/2019-9

All

•EIJB Strategic Plan
19/20
2019-22, EIJB 20
20/21
August 2019
21/22
•Transformation
and Service
Redesign, EIJB 8
February 2019

NHSL
£0
£0
£0

Performance measures

CEC
£2.788m
£0
£0

Capital allocation as identified in
each business case

NHSL
£1.1m
£1.1m
£1.1m

CEC
£0.3m
£0.3m
£0.3m

Issued to

Approval
date

CEC & NHSL

22/10/19

Issue date

Status

14/11/19 On track.
Financial schedule maintained by
the Chief Financial Officer and
updated regularly.

Recommendation

A finance report is
scheduled for the EIJB
on 22 March 2022 at
which point it will be
recommended that this
direction is superseded.

Contained in the report to the EIJB and CEC & NHSL
to be further developed by the EHSCP

22/10/19

14/11/19 Achieved
Proposal to establish a permanent
project management/
transformational change resource
in strategic planning has been
agreed in principle by EIJB, and will
be subject to further consideration
by EIJB (report anticipated August
2022).

Recommended for
closure as agreement in
principle to mainstream
transformation within
strategic planning. New
directions will flow from
the next three-year
strategic plan to be in
place by April 2023.

Delivery of Primary Care Infrastructure NHSL
to meet identifed need

22/10/19

14/11/19 On track
• Panmure St Anne's provision
complete.
• Liberton Business Case
proceeding.
• Salsibury Court on schedule to
complete June 2022.
• Student population has grown
within Edinburgh in last 5 years.
Meetings taking place in March
2021 to discuss City plan and
further pressures this may cause
to Prmary Care premises.

Retain direction and
review in April 2023

In line with Scottish Government
national outcomes and targets

10/12/19

11/02/20 On track
A new spending plan and
proposals together with associated
directions is scheduled to be
considered by the EIJB in April
2022 at which point this direction
will be superseded.

Retain direction on the
understanding that this
will be superseded in
April 2022 subject to
EIJB approval

CEC & NHSL

20/21

Plus £1.074m previously
unallocted from
2018/19. Further work
required to determine
allocation across
partners

Disability Services In response to the development of a 'step
down' resource for adults with a learning
disability that NHS Lothian decommission three
beds within the Royal Edinburgh

Learning Disability Step Down - Royal 19/20
Edinburgh Hospital, 20/21
EIJB 10 December
21/22
2019

NHSL
£0
£0
£0

CEC
£0.075m
£0.3m
£0.3m

EIJB-10/12/2019-3

Adult Sensory
Commission and redistribute a revised suite of
Support Services services for meeting the needs of adults with a
sensory impairment on a three-year basis (from
October 2020) with an option for 1+1 year
extensions to take account of proposals for a
pan-Lothian sensory impairment service

Adult Sensory
Impairment Services 19/20
Contracts 20/21
Extension and
21/22
Awards
Policy and
Sustainability
Committee, 25 June
2020

NHSL
£0
£0
£0

CEC
£0
£0.235m
£0.471m

Carers

·EIJB Strategic Plan
2019-22, EIJB 20
20/21
August 2019
21/22
· Edinburgh's Joint
Carers Strategy and
implemention plans,
EIJB 20 August 2019
EIJB report, 2
February 2021

NHSL
£0.53m
£0.54m

CEC
£5.31m
£6.97m

Page 38

EIJB-10/12/2019-2

EIJB-02/02/2021-1

Implement the Edinburgh Joint Carers Strategy
2019-22 and associated implementation plans.

10/12/19

11/02/20 Achieved
• The Step down resource has
been operational from April 2020.
• It has supported three people
who left hospital and have moved
into their own tenancies.
• There are now two further
people using the resource and
have their own tenancies in the
planning stage.

Each commissioned service will have its CEC
own KPIs developed as part of the
commissioning process. Outcomes for
people using the service to be delivered
within the locality teams (social work
assessment and care management with
people with a vision impairment) will
be monitored.

10/12/19

Vary direction to confirm
11/02/20 On track.
• Deaf Action is experiencing high finance 22/23 onwards
demand for its specialist social
as per contract award.
work service, and a proposal is
expected on how to redistribute
unused funds from the cessation
of the BSL duty service due to
under-use to employ additional
social work resource.
• Sight Scotland services are
meeting targets for rehabilitation
and mobility clients, and
administering the sight loss
register effectively on behalf of the
Council.
• Visibility Scotland is developing
the patient support service at the
Eye Pavillion well, with plans for
clinician education over the next
quarter to increase referrals.
• All contracted sensory providers
are contributing both to extensive
and wide-ranging partnership
working, including joint funding
bids, and contract community
benefits as required.

6 priority areas will have services
CEC & NHSL
provided and commissioned to support
improvement across the identified
outcomes as per the timeline included
with the EIJB report of 20 August 2019.

02/02/21

25/02/21 On track
• Contracts awarded January 2021.
• Year 1 Report of Performance
and Evaluation to EIJB
Performance and Delivery
Committee March 2022

The outcomes of this direction will be
measured by:
- Three people successfully move from
hospital to a community step down
resource
- That three people move from the step
down resource into their own tenancies
- That community teams continue to
provide support to these people to
ensure a successful community
placement
- That the step down resource can offer
the same outcomes to more people as
people transition to a
community placement.

CEC & NHSL

Recommended for
closure as the Step
Down resource is
operational and part of
mainstream service
provision.

Retain direction and
review when the
strategy is refreshed anticipated autumn
2022

Primary care /
general medical
services

Expand the Primary Care Workforce in line with • Edinburgh Primary
the 6 clinical areas set out in the National 2018 Care Improvement 21/22
New GMS Contract
Plan (PCIP), EIJB 15
June 2018
• Primary Care
Transformation
Programme, EIJB 24
May 2019
• Primary Care
Improvement Plan,
EIJB, October 2020
• Primary Care
Improvement Plan,
EIJB, October 2021

EIJB-22/06/2021-3

Disabilities

Provide more support in the community by
decommissioning Glenlomond wards in the
Royal Edinburgh Campus and commissioning
eight tenancies for adults with forensic support
needs

EIJB- 22/06/2021-4

Disabilities

EIJB--22/06/2021-5

Mental healh

Page 39

EIJB-22/06/2021-2

NHSL
£15. 5m

CEC
£0

Growth of staffing resource to target of NHSL
c230wte spread across City practices by
April 2022

22/06/21

Recommended for
25/06/21 Achieved
• Total c240 WTE in place by
closure.
March 2022.
• In additon new vaccination team
is becoming embedded and will
join with community treatment
and care.

• Royal Edinburgh
21/22
Campus,
22/23
EIJB 18 May 2018
• EIJB Strategic Plan 23/24
2019-22, EIJB 20
August 2019

NHSL
£0.7m
£0.5m
£0

CEC
£0
£0.2m
£0.8m

6 people move from hospital to live in
the community by June 2021

CEC & NHSL

22/06/21

25/06/21 Achieved
Recommended for
Construction of the new build flats closure
had previously been impacted by
the COVID-19 pandemic but the
building works are now complete
(as of March 2022).
The Support Works service is
working with individuals in a
person-centred way to support
their tenancies.

Increase support options in the community by
decommissioning wards in the Royal Edinburgh
Campus and commissioning sixteen tenancies
for adults with complex support needs,
Specifically, commission 9 flats from Lifeways,
plus other new accommodation options.

• Royal Edinburgh
21/22
Campus
22/23
IJB report 18 May
23/24
2018
• EIJB Strategic Plan
2019-22, 20 August
2019

NHSL
£3.2m
£2.6m
£2.0m

CEC
£0
£0.6m
£1.2m

16 people are living in the community
by December 2023

CEC &
NHSL

22/06/21

25/06/21 On track
Retain and review April
• 9 tenancies with support were
2023
commissioned as a new build
property and are now operational.
• 5 new build houses have been
agreed by 21st century homes in
Silverknowes. These should be
built and operational by 2023
• The refurbishment of Hillview is
now complete and will provide a
home for 2 people.

Implement the Scottish Government's National
Mental Health Strategic commitment to support
the employment of 800 additional mental
health workers to improve access in key settings
such as Accident and Emergency departments,
GP practices, police station custody suites and
prisons. For Edinburgh this equates to 8.2%
which is equivalent to 66.56 WTE.

• Action 15 funding,
21/22
EIJB 21 June 2019
• Psychological
Therapies Additional
Investment, EIJB 20
August 2019

NHSL
£2.9m

CEC
£0

Additional staffing as detailed in the
CEC &
report to the EIJB in June 2019.
NHSL
Reduction in waiting lists / waiting
times. Establishment of the Thrive open
access centres. Each development will
have its own outcomes and KPIs

22/06/21

25/06/21 On track.
Retain and review April
Planned number of staff to recuit 2023
was 66.56 WTE.
As at January 2022 68.76 WTE
recruited.
Due to our success with recruiting
adnd fulluy utilising our funding,
the SG awarded further funding to
support our redesign of
unscheduled care which will
enhace capacity to respond to
peoople in distress with the
appointment of an additional 3.2
WTE nurses and 3.00 WTE
navigators.

Mental healh

NHS Lothian to recruit 17 WTE additional
temporary staff to deliver psychological
therapies.

• Action 15 funding,
21/22
EIJB 21 June 2019
• Psychological
Therapies Additional
Investment, EIJB 20
August 2019

EIJB-28/09/2021-1

Intermediate
care, Hospital
Based Complex
Clinical Care
(HBCCC) and Care
Homes

a. Decommission the residential care model
provided at Drumbrae Care Home and direct
the re-provisioning of Hospital Based Complex
Clinical Care (HBCCC) services within that
facility.
b Decommission intermediate care beds
currently provided at the remaining wards at
Liberton Hospital and to direct the reprovisioning of these within a reconfigured
number of beds within the remaining HBCCC
estate.
c Decommission HBCCC beds provided at
Findlay House and Ellen’s Glen House and direct
the re-provisioning of these within the former
residential care home facility in Drumbrae.
d. Commission Intermediate Care beds within
the bed base remaining at Ellen’s Glen House
and Findlay House.
e Decommission the HBCCC beds provided at
Ferryfield House, noting this will enable a
withdrawal from the lease at intended break
point and decommission the service provided
there by October 2023.

Bed Based Care –
Phase 1 strategy,
EIJB, 28 September
2021

•All purchased
services
•All direct
payments,
individual service
funds and
payments to
personal
assistants
Care at Home

Implement a contractual uplift to allow
Finance Update,
frontline staff delivering frontline social care
EIJB, 7 December
services in the third and independent sector to 2021
be paid a minimum of £10.02/hour with effect
from 1st December 2021

Page 40

EIJB--22/06/2021-6

EIJB-07/12/2021-1

EIJB-07/12/2021-2

Direct contract award to PwC to undertake the
work to develop the One Edinburgh approach

B Agenda item –
EIJB Meeting 07
December 2021

NHSL
£0.85m

Please
NHSL
refer to
£15.7m
Appendix
3 of the
report for
further
detail of
the
timeline
and
financial
model.

CEC
£0

Number of staff in post
NHSL
Increase in number of patients seen
who have waited over 18 weeks
Decrease in number of patients waiting
longer than 18 weeks

22/06/21

25/06/21 Delayed
Retain and review April
Additional funding secured by NHS 2023
Lothian from Scottish Government
in August 2021 to increase staffing
to ensure that all patients are seen
within 18 weeks by March 2023

CEC
£7.7m

Monitoring and reporting on delayed
discharges; waiting list monitoring for
each bed type considered;
length of stay data; care home delays;
occupancy rates across bed types; care
at home / homecare demand.

City of
Edinburgh
Council (a)
NHS
Lothian (be);

28/09/21

26/10/21 Slight delay
Retain direction and
* Slight delay to timescales due to review in April 2023
impact of system pressures around
6 months added to original
timeframe.
* All residents and staff moved
from Drumbrae care home, care
home has been decommissioned
as planned.
* Lease T&Cs being agreed
between partner organisations,
once complete work can begin on
adapting the building for use as
HBCCC enabling remaining
redesign activities.
* Nursing model has been
approved through relevent
governance routes and posts will
be advertised in the immediate
future.

CEC

07/12/21 27/-1/22

NHSL
£0

CEC
£4.260m

Uplift to be actioned

21/22

2021/22

NHSL
£0

CEC
Up to
£1.2m,
depending
on the scope
of the work

Performance will be measured via the CEC
contract agreement with PwC. This will
include appropriate gateways/points of
review and will be regularly monitored
at the Partnership’s IMT meeting.

07/12/21

Achieved.
Recommended for
The majority of uplifts were
closure.
applied by 3 March 2022, with the
remainder achieved by 31 March
2022. Reported and discussed at
the Procurement Board.

Retain and review June
30/12/21 On track
Work commenced in December
2022
2021 focusing on three main
areas; the establishment of a
command centre, development of
performance dashboards and
development of target operating
model optimising internal and
external capacity. It is anticipated
that programmed work will be
complete by May.

EIJB-07/12/2021-3

Residential care
homes

Provide interim care beds to support hospital
B Agenda item –
discharges. People will be supported to move to EIJB Meeting 07
this accommodation while waiting for either a December 2021
package of care or a care home placement. This
will be in a combination of beds in City of
Edinburgh run care homes and beds purchased
directly from the independent sector

2021/22

NHSL
£0

CEC
Funding of
£5.4m over
2 years has
been
provided as
part of the
winter
package of
measures.

The associated financial risk has
been the subject of discussion
between the Leader of the Council,
the Cabinet Secretary and the IJB
Chief Officer. As a result, the SG has
now confirmed that, if necessary,
further funding would be made
available to Edinburgh to support the
purchase of this capacity and that
next year’s costs would be
considered and a subsequent letter
of comfort has been issued by the
Cabinet Secretary and accepted by

Performance will be measured by the
Partnership’s IMT meeting which
regularly will monitor the availability
and use of the capacity

CEC

07/12/21

Retain and review April
30/12/21 On track
• 116 moved to an interim bed
2023
between 2.12.21 and 16.3.22.
• IMT receive a weekly report on
number of interim beds available,
numbers of people moving to an
interim bed and those moving on
from an interim bed
• A review of the interim beds is
due to be undertaken and
reported to the Executive Team in
April 2022.

Page 41

Appendix 2 – Annual Review of Directions report P&D 6 April 2022

DIRECTION FROM THE EDINBURGH INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD (EIJB)
Partner agencies are required to carry out this direction in accordance with statutory and regulatory obligations, ensuring
adherence to relevant guidance, policies and procedures, in pursuit of the EIJB’s strategic objectives.

Reference number

EIJB-TBC

Does this direction supersede, vary
or revoke an existing direction?

Yes – this varies direction EIJB-10/12/2019-3 by specifying finances allocated for 2022/23 onwards to reflect
approved contract lengths.

If yes, please provide reference
number of existing direction

Page 42

Approval date

TBC

Services / functions covered

Community and hospital based support services for people with sensory loss, i.e. Deaf, hard of hearing, deafened
and deafblind people, and people with sight loss.

Full text of direction

Continue commissioned services contracts for sensory support. For deaf services, contract period ends
September 2023 with an optional 2 year extension; for sight loss services, contract period ends March 2024 with
an optional 2 year extension.

Direction to

The City of Edinburgh Council

Link to relevant EIJB report / reports

Adult Sensory Support.pdf

Budget / finances allocated to carry
out the direction.

NHS Lothian

City of Edinburgh Council

Financial year 2022/23

£0m

£0.471m

Recurring funding

£0m

£0.471m

Performance measures

Specific performance measures developed and agreed for all services as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Sight Loss Rehabilitation and Mobility (Sight Scotland)
Certificate of Vision Impairment register (Sight Scotland)
Patient Support Service, Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion (Visibility Scotland)
Deaf social work service (Deaf Action)
Deaf equipment service (Deaf Action)

Performance measures are specified in contracts and monitored as part of contractual arrangements.

Page 43

Date direction will be reviewed

April 2023

DIRECTION FROM THE EDINBURGH INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD (EIJB)
Partner agencies are required to carry out this direction in accordance with statutory and regulatory obligations, ensuring
adherence to relevant guidance, policies and procedures, in pursuit of the EIJB’s strategic objectives.

Reference number

Use format: EIJB-approval date-sequential number eg EIJB-22/10/2019-xxx

Does this direction supersede, vary
or revoke an existing direction?

Yes / No (delete as appropriate)
If yes, provide details

If yes, please provide reference
number of existing direction

Page 44

Approval date

Insert date of EIJB meeting (day/month/year format)

Services / functions covered

List all services subject to direction eg mental health services, disability services, general medical services

Full text of direction

Direction to

NHS Lothian
The City of Edinburgh Council
(please specify if the direction is for NHS Lothian or The City of Edinburgh Council or for both organisations ie
NHS Lothian and The City of Edinburgh Council)

Link to relevant EIJB report / reports

Provide hyperlinks

Budget / finances allocated to carry
out the direction.

Performance measures

Page 45
Date direction will be reviewed

State the financial resources
allocated to enable NHS Lothian or
the Council or both to implement
the direction.

NHS Lothian

City of Edinburgh Council

Year one funding (delete if not year
one) and specify financial year eg
2022/23

Provide in format £x.xm

Provide in format £y.ym

Recurring funding

Provide in format £y.ym

Provide in format £y.ym

Please list performance measures specific to the project or programme or refer to the section of the business case
which contains this information.
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) should be SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and timely)
Where performance is linked to national indicators, national strategy outcomes or targets, the relevant measures
should be detailed, together with information on how and when these indicators / targets / outcomes are reported
and measured.

April 20xx (insert year – no more than 12 months from the date the direction has been approved)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6.3

REPORT
Lothian Strategic Development Framework (LSDF)
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
9 August 2022
Executive Summary

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Edinburgh
Integration Joint Board (EIJB) on progress in the
development of the Lothian Strategic Development
Framework (LSDF).
2. The LSDF sets out the approach that the Lothian
Health and Care System (LHCS) will take over the
next five years to deliver improved outcomes.
3. The LSDF was considered at the Strategic Planning
Group (SPG) in May 2021 and again in March 2022.
The SPG remains broadly supportive of the LSDF.
4. An initial period of engagement on the LSDF was
initiated in April and the output of engagement to date
reported to the NHS Lothian Board in June 2022.

Recommendations

It is recommended that the EIJB:
1. Note progress and support the development of the
LSDF.
2. Note that a further developmental session on the
LSDF is planned for the autumn.

Directions
Direction to City
of Edinburgh
Council, NHS
Lothian or both
organisations

No direction required
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS
Lothian

1

Page 47

✓

Consultation
1. The LSDF was considered by the SPG in May 2021 and then again in March
2022. It was taken to the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership
(EHSCP) Executive Management Team in April 2022.
2. A briefing note on the LSDF was circulated to EIJB members in April 2022 to
provide an opportunity to consider it and provide feedback. No feedback was
received.
3. EIJB members will be offered the opportunity to hear more about the
development of the LSDF, its content and the output of engagement activity to
date through a developmental session in the autumn (details to follow).
Main Report
1. The LSDF summary is attached at Appendix 1. There are a number of
supporting documents. These are available within the LSDF Full Document suite
published on the NHS Lothian website here:
https://org.nhslothian.scot/Strategies/LSDF/Documents/Lothian%20Strategic%20
Development%20Framework%20for%20website%2008042022.pdf
2. LSDF includes a focus on areas that cut across the organisational boundaries of
NHS Lothian and the 4 Lothian Integration Joint Boards, known collectively as the
Lothian Health and Care System (LHCS).
3. The LSDF intends to identify the approach that the LHCS will take over the next
five years to deliver improved outcomes in:
a. Population Health – tackling inequalities, maximising prevention of illhealth and increasing the number of years of healthy lives.
b. How we work with people – increasing citizen engagement and
understanding of the system and working to ensure that the way we
deliver care is of a standard we would all wish.
c. Performance – working to improve our performance against key national
measures.
4. The LSDF is intended to be appropriately respectful of the authority of each of the
partner organisations and understands where responsibilities sit. Care will be
taken to avoid any risk of duplication of effort or convergence of intent and/or
directed action.
5. The final LSDF document suite includes:
a. A short, accessible and readable summary of the case for change and the
actions to be taken. This is the core of the LSDF.

2

Page 48

b. A series of aligned documents for each ‘pillar’ within the LSDF (Improving
Population Health; Children and Young People; Mental Health, Illness and
Wellbeing; Primary Care; Scheduled Care and Unscheduled Care), which
provide supporting detail including the case for change in each section and
proposed actions.
c. Cross-cutting sections on our parameters and outlining our commitments
around workforce, finance, capital, and environmental measures.
6. The summary document included in the LSDF builds on the Principles and
Assumptions discussed with the SPG in May 2021, and the proposed Fixed
Points shared with IJB Chairs and Chief Officers in June 2021.
7. The more detailed content of the sections aligned to each pillar have been
developed via existing Programme Boards, or in partnership with colleagues
across the LHCS. Each section sets out the context relevant to the pillar, and
details the actions we intend to take. Colleagues within HSCP operational teams
have had the opportunity to review and contribute to these sections, which
should, where appropriate, reflect the strategic plans and directions of the four
Lothian Integration Joint Boards.
8. A short initial period of public engagement on the LSDF was conducted by NHS
Lothian from April to June 2022, marking the first step in a continuous
engagement process over the life of the LSDF. Through this engagement activity,
NHS Lothian seek to explain the drivers for change, and listen to the views and
needs of our citizens.
Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Financial
9. It is intended that the delivery of the LSDF will focus on how resources can best
be utilised to deliver improved outcomes for those who live in the Lothians.
Legal / risk implications
10. There is no identified legal impact from the LSDF.
11. The implementation of the National Care Service may impact some of the plans
outlined within the LSDF.
12. No risks to the EIJB strategic direction have been identified as a result of the
LSDF.
Equality and integrated impact assessment
13. An integrated impact assessment (IIA) workshop was conducted by NHS Lothian on 24
May 2022.

3

Page 49

Environment and sustainability impacts
14. The intent is that the LSDF will include consideration of environmental
sustainability as a core requirement.
Quality of Care
15. The LSDF sets out the outcomes hoping to be achieved including those
outcomes relating to the six dimensions of quality.
Report Author
Judith Proctor
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Contact for further information:
Name: Tony Duncan, Service Director Strategic Planning, EHSCP
Email: tony.duncan@edinburgh.gov.uk Mobile: 07935208040
For more detail contact:
Rebecca Miller, Head of Strategy Development, NHS Lothian
Rebecca.miller@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk
07824 606518
Appendices
Appendix 1:

Lothian Strategic Development Framework

4

Page 50

Page 51

1

Page 52
System Vision:
Citizens lead longer, healthier lives, with better outcomes from
the care & treatment we provide
We connect health and social care services seamlessly,
wrapping around the citizen in their 2
home
We improve performance across our system, with better
experiences for citizens and those who work for and with us

About this document
This document is the Lothian Strategic Development Framework and lays out what we want to
happen across Lothian’s Health and Care system over the next 5 years, up to and including the
financial year 2027-28. It is a collaboration between the bodies with responsibility for the planning,
commissioning, and delivery of health and care services in the Lothians;






East Lothian Integration Joint Board;
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board;
Midlothian Integration Joint Board;
NHS Lothian;
West Lothian Integration Joint Board.

Collectively, we refer to these five organisations as the Lothian Health and Care System (LHCS).
Our vision for the system is that:
Citizens live longer, healthier lives, with better outcomes from
the care and treatment we provide
We connect health and social care services seamlessly,
wrapping around the citizen in their home
We improve performance across our system, with better
experiences for citizens and those who work for and with us

We call this document a Framework because it knits together the five interdependent approaches of
the collaborating LHCS bodies and lays out a basis for us to collectively move forward. It represents
our high-level thinking of what we want to happen and what we want to do over the next five years,
but this Framework lays out a flexible and adaptive approach around key principles, assumptions,
and fixed points.
We do need to be candid that as we are publishing this, public services are under enormous strain.
The NHS and services which are crucial to promoting health, preventing disease, and providing
treatment are no different. The ongoing challenges of the pandemic, combining the disease, the
impact on our workforce, and “catching up” with other diseases, means that we are in a position
where performance and outcomes are not what we would want them to be. However, we believe
that the principles and assumptions we make support a general direction of travel in a post-COVID
world, and that we can adhere to these.
The Framework describes;





What we are trying to achieve;
Where we are now and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the services we provide;
Our principles, assumptions, and fixed points;
The needs of our population, and the longer-term demographic challenges we face;

Page 53

3




The parameters of our system in terms of our people, our financial resources, and our
infrastructure;
The actions we will take to deliver over the next five years across a range of settings;
o Population health and anchor institution status;
o Children and Young People;
o Mental Health, Illness, and Wellbeing;
o Primary Care;
o Unscheduled Care;
o Scheduled Care

We also present supporting assessment and evidence which outlines the parameters we work
within;









Our workforce context, where we have a population growing rapidly and aging
simultaneously. We note that across the country we have a reducing number of people of
working-age, which means there are fewer people to work in health and care services and
settings;
Our financial context, where we have an accumulated financial gap as a result of the
national funding formulas as they have applied to the public sector in the Lothians, and
growing financial challenges from new drugs and treatments;
Our capital context, where, while we have significant Scottish Government investment
pledged for large new clinical facilities such as a new Cancer Centre, a new Eye Pavilion, and
a new short-stay scheduled treatment centre at St John’s Hospital, we do not as yet have
investment for improvements to the Royal Edinburgh Hospital and have a significant
challenge to fund other community facilities;
Our digital context, with technology more and more capable and supportive of clinical
practice and practitioners;
Our environmental context, where we have an obligation to ensure that we reduce our
carbon footprint. 5% of all travel in the UK is healthcare-related.

NHS Lothian subscribes to a clear set of values which underpin everything we do. Each of the four
IJBs in the LHCS has their own values as described in their individual strategic plans, which are under
review, but those of NHS Lothian speak to the core of what we are committed to;






Care and compassion
Dignity and respect
Quality
Teamwork
Openness, honesty, and transparency

Page 54

4

What are we trying to achieve?
The health and care system is a key underpinning of the success and prosperity of Scottish society.
To this end, it contributes directly to the National Outcomes which drive the national Programme for
Government. At a more local level, our organisations seek to work together to improve the health
and wellbeing of a population of nearly 1 million. Our population has grown by 12% since 2011 and
we expect it to grow by 8% over the next ten years.
Our aims and objectives for the next five years are;




An improvement to population health;
Outcomes we aim for in how we will work with citizens and with patients;
To deliver nationally-prevailing performance measures;

There are some broad themes about how we will work that are central to our approach;















We want to move care closer to home where we can. The citizen’s home should be the key
fixed point for how services are designed and delivered. We believe that we should have
very good clinical reasons to ask someone to come to one of our facilities;
We see an ever-increasing role for self-care by citizens, and of their deeper engagement in
the prevention of disease. We see this as particularly valuable in the provision of services for
children and young people;
We want to embed things we have learned from the covid-19 pandemic in everything we do;
We want to work ever-closer with all of our partners in the public square – local authorities,
the third sector, the Scottish Government, educational institutions, and the private sector –
to maximise and augment the positive impact each sector can have on citizen’s lives. We see
this as crucial to meet our aspirations to work as an anchor institution; Particularly
important in our future work will be Scottish Government policy changes, and the most
obvious impact of this is in the development of the National Care Service;
We will work to improve our health and care facilities whenever and wherever we can, and
remain committed to our campuses at the Royal Edinburgh Hospital, Royal Infirmary of
Edinburgh, St John’s Hospital, and the Western General. This will mean some new buildings
to replace of buildings which are no longer suitable ;
When we do need to build new facilities, we want to work with our partners from across the
public square to ensure that these are multi-use and bring together the services citizens
access on a regular basis. It doesn’t matter to the citizen what the nameplate on the building
says – it matters that we make it easier for the citizen to get the right help;
We will increasingly use technology and innovation to support our delivery of treatment and
care. Citizens will see this in the increased use of digital communications technology to
provide appointments where previously they had to travel to outpatient or general practice
settings;
Recovery from the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic will take years, not months, and this
will mean longer waits for scheduled care. We will work to prioritise treatment for cancer
and life-threatening illness in this context.

Page 55

5

Where are we now? The impact of COVID-19
We are all aware of the direct impact of COVID-19. It will be rare to not know someone who has
been infected, and unusual to not know of someone who has been seriously ill, or died, as a result of
the disease. Our people worked, and continue to work, to manage the spread of the disease and the
impact of the illness where it appears. We continue to run the largest vaccination programme in
history, and our hospitals continue to see high numbers of people admitted to wards and to critical
care units.
What is less clear to many is the set of associated impacts, which include but are not limited to;






A health debt built up in people who did not access our services during the most acute
lockdowns, and who now have conditions which are more advanced than they would have
been previously;
A rapidly-increased series of waits for scheduled care – hip replacements, cancer
treatments, outpatient appointments;
Severe difficulties for many independent-sector care providers, who support people in their
homes. Many of these organisations are struggling to sustain themselves;
Impacts on the people who work in our services, ranging from exhaustion, through stressrelated mental illness, to a desire to retire early or reduce their hours to protect their own
wellbeing;

Changes in how society operates that previously may have taken years have happened in days and
weeks and we have delivered some services in very different ways, with a much greater reliance on
digital services, on self-management, on being remote from buildings, and on explicitly prioritising
some forms of care above others. LHCS has also shown an ability to re-engineer and re-provide at a
pace that hasn’t existed previously. This work has also shown the importance of working effectively
and at speed with our partners in the rest of the public sector, the third sector, and the private
sector.
Before the pandemic we did find it increasingly difficult to meet national targets due to the nature of
our funding settlement. This funding settlement sees us receive less revenue than we should
according to the national resource allocation framework set by the Scottish Government. This has,
over time, widened the gap between the money we should have, and the money we do have. Similar
challenges apply for our local public sector partners and this, in particular, has contributed to
widening inequalities.
We also have the same problems as before the pandemic in terms of finance and the fabric of our
buildings, and the pressure put upon us by the changing demographics within the Lothians. We also
need to step up our efforts to improve quality and play our part in tackling climate change.
Perhaps our biggest concern in sustaining and improving our services is ensuring we can recruit and
retain an appropriately-skilled workforce. The demographic challenges we face in caring for and
treating an expanding and aging population also apply to our workforce. Some key services are
facing particularly acute challenges, where the workforce is unbalanced and where not enough
young people are joining the workforce. These pressures mean that we need to radically redesign
some of our services in order to sustain them.

Page 56

6

How we built the LSDF
The extant NHSL strategy – Our Health, Our Care, Our Future – was intended to cover the years
2014-2024, which would have coincided with the end-point for the next iteration of IJB Strategic
Plans. However, the impact of first wave of the pandemic was such that during the late summer of
2020, we began working with the Royal Society of the Arts, using their Future Change Framework, to
see what we had learned. We were also open to the idea that, as well as the vast range of problems
and difficulties that the pandemic had wrought, we had also learned a lot about ways we could
positively change how our system works and the services we provide.
Based on this work the NHSL Board adopted a series of principles and assumptions, and agreed fixed
points to give us a skeleton to work within.
We have also worked with our finance, workforce, and other teams to identify the parameters of
what can be done over the next five years. We have worked on the basis of the best currentlyavailable information on these areas and have drawn our conclusions in good faith, and are keen to
be as transparent with citizens as we can be.
Over the last 3 years, we have established a series of programme boards which bring together the
leadership teams from our IJBs and from NHSL to map out our actions to improve services. These
programme boards – for scheduled care, unscheduled care, and mental health, illness, and wellbeing
– have worked over the last year to build plans for the next five years to deliver on our aims and
objectives. In addition, we have worked with partners to develop plans for primary care and children
and young people’s services .
We have worked to ensure that we take account of citizens views in our work so far, but it is really
important to remember that what is presented here is meant to start a much broader conversation
with citizens and partners. Not everything we have summarised in here will be “right”, and some
things are not completely clear to us yet. We need the help of citizens and partners to work to get
the best answers we can, and so this document is really just the first instalment in a commitment we
are making to work more closely with citizens and partners going forward.

Page 57

7

Figure 1: Engagement

Purpose

It is important that we don't do what we think is right without seeking the views
of the people we work for. Engaging our communities in this work will help us to
understand what is important to people who live in Lothian, and help to inform
the choices we make.
By sharing with residents what we and our partners have learned during the
pandemic, we hope to build understanding about how we might tackle the
challenges we face to deliver efficient and effective services to support good
health and wellbeing in future.
By seeking views on what is important to our residents, we hope to shape our
ideas to ensure they meet the needs and wants of our communities.

Expectations

By engaging in dialogue with our communities, we hope to envisage new models
of wellbeing and care, and to begin to discuss what we might let go of in order to
make way for new innovations and models.
By working with partners across the public and third sector, we hope to improve
understanding of our shared challenges, and tease out synergies and
opportunities for collaboration to address these challenges.

Anticipated
Outcomes

Actions

Some elements of our future direction are fixed by policy directives, and will be
out of scope of this work. We will be open about what these elements are.
For Lothian residents:
Able to influence choices within a harsh reality, informed by relevant data and
information.
For NHS Lothian:
Confidence that our future direction is cognisant of the priorities of our
communities, and focussed on delivering the outcomes they value.
Inform:
We will share information about the LSDF via our website, social media and by
engaging with the media, and invite local networks to participate in engagement
opportunities.
Engage:
We will review existing local and national engagement activity, and distribute an
online survey to seek a broad understanding of what is important to people in
Lothian, in terms of health and care.
Working with the RSA, we will bring together partners from across the public and
third sector to understand our shared challenges and tease out synergies and
opportunities for collaboration.
Working with the RSA, we will convene a reference group to engage in a dialogue
with residents, to envisage new models of care and consider what we might let go
of to make way for new innovations.

Page 58

8

Taken altogether, the work we have done builds into a strategic framework where the outcomes we
aim to achieve are delivered by our 5-year plans for scheduled care and children’s services - where
NHSL is the planner and commissioner – and for unscheduled care, primary care, and mental health,
illness, and wellbeing – where our IJBs are the planners and commissioners. These plans are
sensitive to and supported by our parameters – workforce, revenue, capital, technology, and
sustainability. Figure 2 below shows how this all fits together.
Figure 2: How the Lothian Strategic Development Framework fits together

Page 59

9

Our principles, our assumptions, and our fixed points
We have agreed a series of principles and assumptions to guide our work in developing this strategy
and delivering it over the next 5 years. These will help us deliver on the outcomes of care we are
committed to delivering. These are shown in Figure 3, on the following page.
We also have a series of fixed points that we will work with over the next five years. The most
important of these fixed points is the citizen’s home, and we want to make sure that everything we
do is focussed on getting people the help they need in their own home, if at all possible. We believe
that we will continue to work to enhance our four major hospital campuses as the backbone of our
acute hospital system.
1. We will retain the four campus sites – The Royal Edinburgh Hospital, the Royal Infirmary of
Edinburgh, St John’s Hospital at Howden, and the Western General Hospital.
2. Per the Lothian Hospitals Plan, we will use the sites as;
a. The Royal Edinburgh Hospital will be the specialist acute mental health facility with
specialist learning disabilities and rehabilitation services;
b. The Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh will be South-East Scotland’s major unscheduled
care centre, incorporating the Major Trauma Centre, and specialist neurosciences
and children’s services;
c. St John’s Hospital will be West Lothian’s district general hospital, with specialist
regional surgical services and a short-stay elective centre;
d. The Western General will be South-East Scotland’s Cancer Centre, with breast,
urology, colorectal surgical services on-site
3. We will have community inpatient facilities in East Lothian, West Lothian, and Midlothian;
4. We will only provide general anaesthetics at RIE, SJH, and WGH, with provision at REH to
support treatments such as electro-convulsive therapies;
5. We are clear that the Western General will be the home for the new Edinburgh Cancer
Centre, which will be the Cancer Centre for the South-East of Scotland;
6. We will not provide high-secure forensic mental health accommodation
7. The strategic planning and commissioning of unscheduled care, primary care, general
practice, rehabilitation, and mental health services are delegated to the four IJBs – East
Lothian, Edinburgh, Midlothian, and West Lothian
8. All other services are the strategic planning and commissioning responsibility of NHS
Lothian.

Page 60

10

Figure 3: Assumptions & Principles

Page 61

11

Specific proposals for change
We have a system serving a million people, employing over 35,000, and with budgets totalling over
£2billion, would have a broad range of actions it intends to take forward. There is a lot of detail
provided in the supporting documents, but key highlights are;























We expect to increasingly emphasise prevention and self-management of disease,
supporting this with community services and new technologies like closed-loop insulin
pumps;
We will work to develop our ways of accessing our services and this will mean an increasing
use of digital communication technologies for outpatient and primary care services, in
particular;
Where we need to replace buildings that we deliver community services in, we will look to
bring as many services together from across public services together in community centres
and use these as flexibly as we can;
We will continue to change the model of care in primary care generally and general practice
in particular, emphasising the role of the GP as the “expert medical generalist” and
developing alternatives delivered through pharmacy, nursing, mental health, physiotherapy,
and other services;
We will work to strengthen communications and links between the different parts of our
system to deliver streamlined pathways for citizens;
We will continue with our work to provide more services for people with mental health
needs or learning disabilities in the community. This includes increasing the number of
community placements and reducing the size of the Royal Edinburgh Hospital;
We want to move from buildings that are no longer fit for purpose and utilise land to create
modern, flexible, multi-use, accommodation to replace them. This affects the Royal
Edinburgh Hospital, and a series of community facilities in West Lothian, East Lothian, and
the City of Edinburgh. It will also see us develop business cases for REH, for a new West
Lothian Community Hospital, and for the development of East Lothian Community Hospital,
as well as community treatment centres;
We want continue to implement systems to schedule urgent care, with citizens given same
or next-day appointments to attend, and will work with NHS24 and the Scottish Ambulance
Service to deliver this;
We want develop a new Cancer Centre on the Western General Hospital campus;
We want to deliver surgical treatments where the patient will stay less than 48 hours in
hospital in the new National Treatment Centre at St John’s Hospital in Livingston. This will
include procedures in gynaecology, general surgery, colorectal surgery, urology, and
orthopaedics;
We want develop a new specialist eye hospital in Edinburgh to replace the Princess
Alexandra Eye Pavilion;
We will work to improve the efficiency and productivity of our elective services, but our
recovery from the impact of COVID-19 will take years, and not months or weeks, to reach
the levels we would want;
We will explicitly consider the sustainability impacts of our services and commit to deliver
the commitments made by the Scottish Government on carbon zero service provision.

Page 62

12

Working to become an Anchor Institution
LHCS has a combined spending power of £2 billion, employs roughly 35,000 people, and serves a
population of nearly a million people. The actions we take are fundamentally focussed on improving
the health and wellbeing of our population, as we have described in the rest of this document. We
will continue to undertake our work in preventing ill-health through our services, but we also
recognise that prevention needs to work beyond service provision. Engaging with and influencing
the wider social determinants of health such as housing, employment, income, sustainable
placemaking and sustainable transport systems is crucial to population health improvement.
A key element of this is recognising the LHCS can have a direct impact through our spending power,
our providing jobs, and how we work with partners to maximise our economic “weight” for social
good. The LCHS should seek to be a good neighbour, a good consumer, and a good employer by
deploying its influence in purchasing and procurement, its assets and facilities, its significance as a
regional employment hub to impact positively the health and wellbeing of the local population. The
Sustainable Development Framework is a key component of this approach. We will also bear in mind
our Anchor Institution responsibilities in the disposal of property we no longer have a use for. As an
example, we would want to influence the ultimate use of the Astley Ainslie site, considering the
need for affordable housing that many of our health and care staff need access to.
This work comes under the banner of seeing LHCS as anchor institutions for our communities, where
we impact on lives not just through the way we provide care and treatment but through our
engagement with health in all policies at local partnership, regional and national level to shape and
influence a health promoting environment across Lothian.
Our analysis is that several key actions are fundamental to how we can deliver on this aspiration;
 Focussing on providing the best possible start to life, as outlined in the Children and Young
People’s section of this LSDF;
 Focussing on supporting people in their own homes and neighbourhoods, as described in our
Mental Health, Illness, and Wellbeing, Primary Care, Unscheduled Care, and Scheduled Care
sections;
 Maximising income for the low-paid, some of whom are within our own workforce;
 Becoming accredited Living Wage employers, and working to ensure that our suppliers and
contractors are also Living Wage employers;
 Ensuring that our community benefits clauses really provide benefit for our population;
 Ensuring that NHS Lothian contributes actively to emerging community planning partnership
discussions about community wealth building by utilising its influence as an anchor
institution
 Considering whether and how our buildings can bring together a broader range of public
services to deliver on shared aims;
 Considering whether and how our land disposal and redevelopment can support a
larger series of broader public goals including population health improvement and reduction
of health inequalities.

Page 63

13

Children’s Services
We see the provision of appropriate support, care, and treatment when required for children as the
major investment we can make in the health of the Lothians. To this end, we will continue to work
closely with our partners in education, the third sector, social care, and with parents and families, to
ensure that we provide the best possible support for our young people.
Foremost in this area is the radical redesign of mental health services for children and young people.
It is well-known that our performance in providing treatment for children waiting for psychological
support has not been at the level we would have wanted for some time. Our analysis shows that this
is at least in part because the other layers of care have weakened, and in turn that our highly
specialised services are unable to cope. We have therefore set out to strengthen the less specialised
levels, and will work to provide support closer to where young people are – in communities, in
schools, in youth clubs, and by remote means where appropriate.
We will design and implement a new pathway for children and young people with
neurodevelopmental challenges.

Page 64

14

Page 65

15

Mental Health, Illness, and Wellbeing
All four of our IJB areas are committed to developing programmes focussed on sustaining people’s
wellbeing. These programmes are tailored to the particular circumstances of each community, but
bring together NHS services, volunteering, lived experience, the third sector, local authorities, and
the private sector to expand access for support at a less acute level.
We will invest to expand our capacity in respect of psychological therapies, with a focus on meeting
the Scottish Government’s target that no one should wait longer than 18 weeks for this key form of
treatment.
All five partners in the Lothian system are committed to improving the standard of facilities provided
for inpatient treatment at the Royal Edinburgh Hospital, which looks after patients diagnosed with
serious mental illness. We aim to commence construction of new facilities for mental illness
rehabilitation, and of a new national unit for young people with learning disabilities and mental
illness, by 2024.
The changes to the Royal Edinburgh Hospital come out of our desire to implement a radical redesign
of care. For people with learning disabilities, care will increasingly be provided away from hospital, in
homes with support provided by care workers, as opposed to doctors and nurses.
Similarly, our 4 IJBs will invest heavily in providing non-medicalised care and support outside of
hospital for those recovering from long-term mental illness, with people settled into new homes and
supportive environments designed around them.

Page 66

16

Page 67

17

Primary care services
We will implement the next stage of the GP contract. We are conscious that GP contracting
arrangements are negotiated nationally and not locally, and that as we complete this document, the
Scottish Government’s proposals for general practice would see these contracts managed in new
Community Health and Social Care Boards. What we propose as a direction of travel, however, is one
that we believe stands as the right direction to ensure a sustainable and high-quality service. The
way in which we deliver general practice services will continue to evolve. As with the model for
hospital outpatients, we will seek to ensure that people only travel to their general practice if they
absolutely have to, with alternatives via digital technologies – and the telephone – increasingly
offered. This will also mean that we continue to use telephone triage to stream citizens to the most
appropriate professional, which will not always be the general practitioner.
We also recognise that general practice is one of the key elements of any community, and we also
recognise that many of our general practice buildings are in need of replacement. When we require
to replace a facility of this type, we will seek to do so in conjunction with our partners and create
new buildings which bring together education, social care, other primary care services, the third
sector and other services. Experience of the pandemic has been that citizens seek one place for
support.
We have collectively sought to move from buildings which are not suitable for the delivery of
modern care and treatment, and this affects general practices and hospitals both large and small.
We will look to further develop the services that are provided through pharmacies and opticians
across the Lothians, recognising that these are a vital part of communities.
We will also work to help the recovery of our dental services. Currently our estimate is our services
are running at 40% of pre-pandemic levels, with a Scottish Government expectation of at least 20% .

Page 68

18

Page 69

19

Supporting access to unscheduled care
We will continue to aim to deliver improved patient experience and safety as measured against the
4-hour emergency access standard.
Our system is consistent in its belief that people should only come to a hospital if they absolutely
have to, and should not stay in hospital any longer than absolutely necessary. We will therefore
continue to develop the approach to redesign urgent care we introduced during the pandemic, with
citizens asked to use the 111 phone number to be assessed and directed appropriately, with as many
attendances as possible scheduled according to clinical priority and patient convenience.
To support this change, we will also roll out the Same-Day Emergency Care programme that has
been very effective at the Western General Hospital. We will introduce the service at the Royal
Infirmary of Edinburgh and St John’s Hospital, and look to deliver as much as possible of this work at
East Lothian Community Hospital and Midlothian Community Hospital. We will develop a business
case for a new West Lothian Community Hospital and seek to develop further the services delivered
at the East Lothian Community Hospital. We believe that this will improve the quality of care we can
offer in these areas and allow us to replace buildings which are no longer fit for purpose.
We will continue to develop the approaches introduced successfully in each of the four IJB areas to
get people home quickly after they have been in hospital. This means we will expand our Hospital to
Home, HomeFirst, and Discharge to Assess approaches, allowing elements of acute hospital care and
social care assessment to take home in the patient’s own home.

Page 70

20

Page 71

21

Scheduled Care
We want to:
Begin the construction of a new regional Cancer Centre on the Western General campus, which will
include specialist diagnostics, breast care, and chemotherapy and radiotherapy services;
Build and commence operating a new National Treatment Centre at St John’s Hospital, which will
see the vast majority of elective treatment for patients we expect to stay less than two days. We
expect this centre to see the bulk of people receiving treatment in general surgery, orthopaedics,
urology, colorectal surgery, and gynaecology;
Work to recruit an additional xxx staff to operate this NTC;
Build and commence operating a new Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion on the Royal Infirmary of
Edinburgh campus, to bring together all aspects of specialist eye treatment for the people of
Lothian;
Work to achieve prevailing national targets for diagnostics and treatment, prioritising those with lifeand limb-threatening conditions, and supporting those who wait longer than we would want;
Use the physical space freed up in the Royal Infirmary, St John’s Hospital, and the Western General
to increase our capacity for the most complex conditions, thereby accelerating treatment for those
with cancer or complex orthopaedic needs;
As part of our move to improve the waiting time for outpatient assessment, we will look to build on
learning from the pandemic and use digital communications technologies such as NearMe to replace
appointments in person, when this is appropriate to do so.

Page 72

22

Page 73

23

What next?
This summary lays out the framework as we see it. We are keen to work with our citizenry, our
partners, and our staff, to refine this and make sure we have captured all the elements required for
a credible strategy that we would all endorse.
To this end, we are undertaking a initial period of engagement in Spring 2022. We have therefore
prepared a suite of documents which provide further detail on the concepts and initiatives explained
here. The entire suite is available on the NHS Lothian website, and includes:













Summary (this document)
Where we are now
Where we want to be - Outcomes/population health/performance
Anchor Institutions
Children and Young People
Mental Health, Illness, Wellbeing
Primary Care
Unscheduled Care
Scheduled Care
A summary of our parameters – finance, capital monies, our workforce, sustainability, and
digital
Engagement process
Questions we need your help to answer

You do not have to read all of the documents we have identified, but you are very welcome to do so.

We are keen to ensure the LSDF has captured all of the elements required to provide a credible
strategy, and would like to hear your views. You can share your thoughts on the LSDF by emailing us:
loth.lsdf@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk
In particular, we would like to hear:






Do you feel the LSDF addresses the issues that are most important? If not, why not?
Have we missed anything really significant in the LSDF? If so, what?
What, if any, or the proposals set out in the LSDF worry or concern you?
What would you suggest that the Lothian Health & Care System could do to alleviate your
concerns?
Is there anything else you would like to tell us before we finalise our strategy?

Page 74

24

Agenda Item 7.1

REPORT
Finance update
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
9 August 2022

Executive

This report confirms the out turn position for 2021/22. A

Summary

separate paper to this meeting provides the Integration
Joint Board with an update on progress with balancing
the 2022/23 financial plan.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Edinburgh Integration Joint
Board note that, subject to audit, a surplus of £3.2m is
reported for financial year 2021/22.

Directions
Direction to
City of
Edinburgh
Council, NHS
Lothian or both
organisations

No direction required



Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council & NHS Lothian

Report Circulation
1.

This report has not been considered elsewhere.

1

Page 75

Main Report
Background
2.

In March 2021, the IJB agreed the 2021/22 financial plan and associated
savings and recovery programme. Recognising that the additional measures
required to balance the plan would have a significant negative impact on
performance gains and, ultimately on outcomes for people, the board made the
difficult decision to support a budget which did not deliver financial balance.
The initial plan had a deficit of £9.3m.

3.

Scottish Government (SG) officials confirmed in October 2021 that Integration
Authorities (IAs) would receive sufficient funding for Covid related costs to
support them to break even in 2021/22. As a consequence, the Chief Finance
Officer gave the board significant assurance on the in year financial position
at its meeting in December. This was clearly a very positive and welcome step
and allowed us to focus on the underlying financial deficit and the budget
setting process for 2022/23.

2021/22 outturn position
4.

As members are aware, the IJB “directs” budgets back to our partner
organisations, the Council and NHS Lothian, who in turn provide the associated
services. The majority of these services are delivered through the Partnership,
with the balance being managed by NHS Lothian under the strategic direction
of the IJB. Management of financial performance is undertaken through the
governance arrangements in the 2 partner organisations and the Partnership.

Page2 76

5.

The Integration Joint Board (IJB) is reporting an overall surplus of £3.2 on
delegated services for the year. This is after the application of £42.3m to meet the
additional in year costs of Covid. Underlying drivers remain as previously reported
to the board, namely: pressure on the purchasing budget; slippage on the savings
and recovery programme; offset by vacancies across some key Council and NHS
services. Table 1 below summarised the position with further detail in appendices 1
(NHS Lothian) and 2 (the Council):
Budget
£k

Actual
£k

Variance
£k

NHS services
Core
401,026 397,731
3,295
Hosted
102,667 101,833
833
Set aside
108,530 109,507
(976)
Non cash limited services
64,942 64,942
0
Sub total NHS services
677,165 674,013
3,151
CEC services
252,238 252,238
0
Total
929,403 926,251
3,151
Table 1: financial position for delegated services to March 2022
Savings and recovery programme
6.

Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has clearly impacted on the ability to deliver
and realise associated or recurring savings for some projects within the
2021/22 Savings and Recovery Programme (SRP), it can be confirmed that
financial balance has reached across the 2021/22 SRP.

7.

High level details of the individual projects statuses can be found in appendix 3,
based on the Savings Governance Board (SGB) Programme Dashboard for
June 2022 (covering actions up to and including March 2022), which indicates
the end of year position for all savings projects. It includes: RAG statuses of
progress against plan and savings; mitigations where risks or issues have been
identified and highlights projects that will have financial implications for the
2022/23 SRP.

8.

Projects approved as part of the 2021/22 SRP having a financial impact on the
2022/23 SRP and Financial Plan, were included in the Budget papers approved
by the EIJB at their meeting on the 22nd of March 2022.

Page
77
3

9.

Where the pressures created by COVID-19 on capacity across the system led
to slippages in the delivery of savings, financial balance has been achieved
through under spends or slippage in other budget areas and through Scottish
Government (SG) funding for unachieved savings.

Financial implications of the pandemic
10. Included in the above are net additional costs of £42.3m which were incurred
as a direct result of Covid. The main categories of associated expenditure
being: sustainability payments made to support providers during the pandemic;
purchase of additional capacity; additional staffing; reimbursement of
independent contractors; increased prescribing costs; and slippage in the
delivery of the savings and recovery programme.
11. As in 2020/21, these related costs were met in full by the Scottish Government
(SG) via the mobilisation planning process (LMP). Funding was provided in 2
tranches during the year with the second of these confirmed by the SG’s
Director of Health Finance and Governance in February 2022. The
accompanying letter highlighted that the £619m provided for integration
authorities included funding for a range of Covid-19 measures. The letter went
on to say:
‘The significant disruption to services has created a backlog of demand as well
as increasing unmet need and frailty of service users. Investment is needed
across day care services, care at home and to support unscheduled care, to
keep people within the community, where possible and safe to do so, to avoid
unplanned admissions and impacts on delayed discharges. Alongside this is
the impact on mental health and services have been stepped up through, for
example, Mental Health Assessment Units. This funding will also cover
sustainability payments to social care providers and additional staff costs
across Health & Social Care. Where funding remains at year end 2021-22, this
must be carried in an earmarked reserve for Covid-19 purposes in line with
usual accounting arrangements for Integration Authorities, and I expect that this
funding to be used before further allocations are made through the Local
Mobilisation Planning process. This can be used to support continuation of
costs which were funded in 2021-22 as a direct result of Covid-19.’

Page4 78

12. Consequently, the funding received was significantly above the level requested
via the LMP process, a position which is replicated across Scotland. The
surplus of £44.9m will be transferred to an earmarked reserve and carried
forward to 2022/23 as per the requirement outlined in the paragraph above.
13. The SG’s current indication is that no new funds will be available in 2022/23 (or
beyond) to support further costs generated by the pandemic. This position is
also reflected in the Resource Spending Review, published in June 2022.
Thus, across the health and social care sector in Scotland, the non recurring
monies currently sitting in integration authority reserves is the only funding
available to meet the additional and ongoing costs of Covid. Recognising this
the SG is working with the partners to develop an exit strategy.
14. The allocations received in 21/22 and associated costs are summarised in table
2 below with the detail provided in appendix 4:
£k
Funding
IJB reserves (cfwd from 20/21)
LMP funding allocated in year
Total funding available
Costs
Costs incurred in NHS delegated services
Costs incurred in Council delegated services
Total net additional Covid costs
Balance carried forward
Table 2: Delegated Covid funding and costs – 2021/22

11,634
75,675
87,309
10,910
31,462
42,372
44,937

Integration Joint Board Reserves
15. The final piece of the financial jigsaw is the reserves which the IJB will carry
forward to next financial year. These are summarised in appendix 5 and, at
£82.2m, are clearly considerable with the vast majority (£79.0m) being
earmarked for specific purposes. These reserves fall into the following
categories:
• Funding received in 2021/22 for Covid pressures. This is discussed in
paragraphs 10 to 14 above;

Page
79
5

• The unspent portion of winter funding announced in November 2021 and
discussed in a paper to the board in December 2021;
• Funding for specific initiatives (e.g. action 15, primary care improvement
funding, drugs death task force, community living change fund);
• Unscheduled care monies which would historically been carried forward
by SG on behalf of NHS Lothian;
• Other balances including the provision for transformation previously
agreed by the IJB; and
• The surplus for the year discussed in paragraph 5 above.
16. These sums will be carried forward to 2022/23 via the board’s reserves and,
with the exception of the in year surplus, will all be treated as earmarked (or
ring fenced) reserves.

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Financial
17. Outlined elsewhere in this report.
Legal/risk implications
18. The position outlined in this report are subject to year end audit process. The
key risk associated with the contents of this report relates to the application of
the Integration Joint Board’s reserves in 2022/23 in the context of no further
funding being available centrally to meet the additional and ongoing costs being
incurred as a result of the pandemic.
Equality and integrated impact assessment
19. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents.
Environment and sustainability impacts
20. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents.

Page6 80

Quality of care
21. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents.

Consultation
22. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents.

Report Author
Judith Proctor
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Contact for further information:
Moira Pringle, Chief Finance Officer
Email: moira.pringle@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk

Appendices
Appendix 1

Financial outturn for NHS delegated services for 2021/22

Appendix 2

Financial outturn for Council delegated services for 2021/22

Appendix 3

Savings and recovery programme 2021/22

Appendix 4

2020/21 Covid funding and costs

Appendix 5

Integration Joint Board reserves carried forward to 2022/23

Page
81
7

FINANCIAL POSITION FOR NHS DELEGATED SERVICES FOR 2021/22 Appendix 1
Core services
Community Hospitals
District Nursing
Geriatric Medicine
GMS
Learning Disabilities
Mental Health
PC Services
Prescribing
Resource transfer and reserves
Substance Misuse
Therapy Services
Other
Sub total core
Hosted services
Community Equipment
Complex Care
Hospices & Palliative Care
Learning Disabilities
LUCS
Mental Health
Oral Health Services
Pharmacy
Primary Care Services
Psychology Services
Public Health
Rehabilitation Medicine
Sexual Health
Substance Misuse
Therapy Services
UNPAC
Other
Sub total hosted
Set aside services
Acute management
Cardiology
Diabetes & endocrinology
ED & minor injuries
Gastroenterology
General medicine
Geriatric medicine
Infectious disease
Junior medical
Other
Rehabilitation medicine
Respiratory medicine
Therapy services
Sub total set aside
Non cash limited services
Dental
Ophthalmic
Pharmacy
Sub total non cash limited
Net position

Budget
£k

Actual
£k

Variance
£k

%

13,633
12,830
2,845
101,071
1,254
8,641
8,029
79,537
157,140
4,773
10,378
893
401,026

12,489
12,154
2,854
101,458
1,068
7,431
8,088
79,834
157,030
4,395
10,129
801
397,731

1,144
677
(8)
(386)
186
1,209
(59)
(297)
110
378
248
92
3,295

8%
5%
0%
0%
15%
14%
-1%
0%
0%
8%
2%
10%
1%

1,862
955
2,559
8,069
7,503
32,201
10,567
4,185
2,994
6,019
1,024
5,011
3,972
2,235
9,110
3,746
656
102,667

3,339
879
2,592
8,138
7,467
32,224
10,389
4,173
2,929
5,892
839
4,509
3,855
2,219
8,473
3,249
669
101,833

(1,477)
76
(33)
(69)
35
(23)
178
12
65
127
185
502
117
16
637
497
(13)
833

-79%
8%
-1%
-1%
0%
0%
2%
0%
2%
2%
18%
10%
3%
1%
7%
13%
-2%
1%

3,453
4,221
3,715
10,801
8,560
28,061
17,945
8,491
3,940
558
1,729
7,198
9,857
108,530

3,516
3,995
4,048
10,751
9,479
28,818
17,935
8,008
3,435
546
1,776
7,250
9,948
109,507

(62)
227
(333)
50
(920)
(758)
9
483
505
12
(47)
(52)
(91)
(976)

-2%
5%
-9%
0%
-11%
-3%
0%
6%
13%
2%
-3%
-1%
-1%
-1%

33,374
9,932
21,636
64,942
677,165
Page 82

33,374
9,932
21,636
64,942
674,013

0
0
0
0
3,151

0%
0%
0%
0%
0.5%

8

Appendix 2

FINANCIAL POSITION FOR COUNCIL DELEGATED SERVICES FOR 2021/22

Budget
£k

External
Assessment and care management
Care and support
Care at home
Day services
Direct payments/individual service funds
Other/generic/universal services
Residential services
Transport services
Total external services
Internal
Assessment and care management
Care and support
Care at home
Day services
Equipment services
Management
Other operating costs
Other services
Residential services
Strategy/contract/support services
Therapy services
Pension costs
Digital transformation
Analogue to digital
Total internal services

Actual
£k

Variance
£k

%

60,520
36,784
12,208
40,294
15,591
73,355
904
239,656

66,393
38,520
11,988
43,959
15,038
76,241
1,297
253,436

0
(5,873)
(1,736)
221
(3,665)
553
(2,886)
(393)
(13,779)

N/A
-10%
-5%
2%
-9%
4%
-4%
-44%
-6%

15,211
7,276
25,292
10,632
10,006
2,440
1,160
5,598
27,779
4,322
3,656

14,488
7,700
23,902
9,263
10,346
2,446
685
5,124
25,681
3,826
3,703

800
67
114,239

244
78
107,486

723
(424)
1,390
1,369
(340)
(5)
475
474
2,099
495
(47)
0
556
(12)
6,753

5%
-6%
5%
13%
-3%
0%
41%
8%
8%
11%
-1%
N/A
70%
-18%
6%

20,638

(20,638)

Total service wide COVID costs
Total costs
Income and funding
Income, funding and cost recovery
COVID LMP funding
Total income and funding

353,895

381,559

(27,664)

-8%

101,338
101,338

101,338
35,261
136,598

0
35,261
35,261

0%
N/A
35%

Budget gap

(3,797)

0

(3,797)

3,478

7,277

(3,799)

252,238

252,238

0

Transfer to IJB reserves
Net position

Page 83
9

0%

Appendix 3

SAVINGS AND RECOVERY PROGRAMME 2021/22
3.1 2021/22 Savings and Recovery Programme Year End Summary
Project Name

In year
savings target
(£m)

1

Ex Housing Support Older People

0.5

Closed

10

10

Full savings have been realised. Project activity has completed as
planned. The project has been closed under CLR-07.

2

Day Centres &
BeAble

0.13

Closed

10

10

Full savings have been realised. Project activity has completed as
planned. The project has been closed under CLR-05.

3

Learning Disabilities

0.02

Closed

10

10

Full savings have been realised. Project activity has completed as
planned. The project has been closed under CLR-01.

8

Positive Steps

0.03

Closed

10

10

Full savings have been realised. Project activity has completed as
planned. The project has been closed under CLR-02.

12

OP Day Opportunity

0.16

Closed

10

10

Full savings have been realised. Project activity has completed as
planned. The project has been closed under CLR-08.

16

LD Overnight
Services

0.08

Closed

10

10

Full savings have been realised. Project activity has completed as
planned. The project has been closed under CLR-09.

15

BBV Service Review

0.05

Closed

5

10

Project has been closed under CLR-04. Full savings have been
confirmed, however, the project did not progress as expected. Lessons
learnt have been logged in alignment with programme governance.

9

The project has been closed under CLR-11 following the full (nonrecurring) realisation of the savings target (£150k), through changes to
pharmacy dispensing practices during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Assurance has been given that the change in pharmacy dispensing
practices during the pandemic have not had any negative unintended
consequences.

Page 84

Project
Number

11

Substance Misuse

17

Policy
Development (Social
Care)

0.15

4.0

End of
End of
End of
Programme
Programme
Programme
Status
Progress RAG* Savings RAG**

Closed

Closed

6

4

1

10

Progress update at end of Programme / Commentary

The project has been closed under CLR-12. Following significant work
in this area it became clear that policy review and development should
not sit in isolation, rather to be effective, the process of policy and
procedure review must be embedded into projects and programmes to
ensure it is meaningful and impactful. For example, through the ongoing

Appendix 3

SAVINGS AND RECOVERY PROGRAMME 2021/22
Project
Number

Project Name

In year
savings target
(£m)

End of
End of
End of
Programme
Programme
Programme
Status
Progress RAG* Savings RAG**

Progress update at end of Programme / Commentary
work being undertaken within SDS which will incorporate the review of
any appropriate policies or procedures.
The planned savings for 2021/22 was £4m; however, only partial
savings of £400k have been achieved through this project. Savings that
have been realised, have come from reviewing processes associated
with Direct Payment reclaims as a result of this project. Despite the only
partial realisation of savings, financial balance has been reached
across the programme in 2021/22 via mitigation through the SG funding
plan and identified slippage across the system. As with purchasing this
saving target was reviewed as part of the 22/23 budget setting
process.

Page 85

The project has been closed under CLR-10. Year to date (10/05/22)
EHSCP has delivered £2,060k savings (94% of EHSCP agreed total of
£2,202k). The project is expected to deliver on the targeted saving of
£2,202k but cannot be confirmed at this point due a 3-month data lag).

10

Prescribing 21-22

2.2

Closed

10

8

Efficiencies were derived from multiple sources, including embedded
working practices and specific targeted projects.
Prescribing projects were underpinned by quality improvement
methodology aimed at improving clinical effectiveness. Operational
delivery was reported monthly and overseen by the NHS Lothian’s
Health and Social Care Partnership Prescribing Forum.

13

Hosted Service & Set
aside

2.16

Closed

9

8

The project has been closed under CLR-12 this is following the almost
total delivery (£2,154k) of the £2,162k savings target for the 2021/22
financial year, with COVID-19 having impacted on the ability to deliver
fully on all agreed projects and therefore all planned savings. Financial
balance has been reached across the programme in 2021/22 via
mitigation through the SG funding plan and identified slippage across
the system.

4

Review Rehabilitation
Services

0.14

Recurrent
project 22/23

6/ 4

9

Under spend in vacancies and non-pay budgets supported the delivery
of financial balance in year. Further work to understand the impact of
these on the model of care is expected to be completed in the next 2

11

Appendix 3

SAVINGS AND RECOVERY PROGRAMME 2021/22
Project
Number

Project Name

In year
savings target
(£m)

End of
End of
End of
Programme
Programme
Programme
Status
Progress RAG* Savings RAG**

Progress update at end of Programme / Commentary
months. Activities to implement the approved option will roll over as part
of the 22/23 savings programme.

5

Page 86

9

14a

14b

7

Sexual Health Service
Review

The Works

Medical Day
Hospitals

Bed Based Review

Purchasing

0.11

0.03

Recurrent
project 22/23

Recurrent
project 22/23

0.2

Recurrent
project 22/23

1.61

Recurrent
project 22/23

7.19

Recurrent
project 22/23

5/4

6

6

9

Under spend in vacancies and non-pay budgets have supported
delivery of financial balance in year. Service user engagement
activities for shared service delivery of LSRHS across Lothian has
completed. Preferred options are due to be presented for approval at
the beginning of July 2022. Activities to implement the approved option
will roll over as part of the 22/23 savings programme.
A saving was achieved in 2021/22 through an underspend in vacancies
and non-pay budgets to support delivery of financial balance in year.
Assurance was given that there were no negative impact/
consequences as a result of this.
During 2022/23 focus will be on embarking on a strategic review of
employability services under mental health to identify a recurring
saving.

6

5

5

12

8

Under spend in vacancies and non-pay budgets supported delivery of
financial balance in 2021/22. The financial modelling of the options,
required to assess the impact on the programme and provide
assurance, was delayed due to system pressures. An options paper
was presented to EMT in April 2022, with activities to implement the
approved option to be rolled over as part of the 22/23 savings
programme.

5

Slippage in the project has meant that full savings were not realised.
This was mitigated through in year savings as result of low occupancy
rates in residential care. Activities to realise further savings have been
rolled over into the 2022/23 savings programme

1

Work has been ongoing to implement changes across the purchasing
project that support grip and control and improve practice, despite
increased demand and reduced capacity due to the impact of COVID19. The impact of the work completed and therefore the delivery of
savings has been restricted by challenges linked to staff capacity and

Appendix 3

SAVINGS AND RECOVERY PROGRAMME 2021/22
Project
Number

Project Name

In year
savings target
(£m)

End of
End of
End of
Programme
Programme
Programme
Status
Progress RAG* Savings RAG**

Progress update at end of Programme / Commentary
the cost and availability of affordable care and support. A break-even
position has been reached across the programme in 2021/22 via
mitigations through the SG funding plan and identified slippage across
the system. A revised project brief has been approved as part of the
2022/23 savings programme.

6

Community
Equipment

0.25

Recurrent
project 22/23

4

1

Delivery of project and savings behind plan due to the impact of
COVID-19, which has increased demand for equipment and reduced
capacity to make planned changes. Financial balance has been
reached across the programme in 2021/22 via mitigation through the
SG funding plan and identified slippage across the system

Page 87

Project has completed a rescoping exercise, with a revised project brief
and activities agreed as part of the 2022/23 savings programme.

13

Appendix 3

SAVINGS AND RECOVERY PROGRAMME 2021/22

3.2 Progress RAG Scoring Guidance*
0

No confidence in delivery

Red

1

Critical issues threaten the success of the project and confidence in delivery is very low

Red

2

Significant project issues mean project is not on track and confidence in delivery is very low

Amber

3

Major problems regarding project performance and no or limited corrective actions in place

Amber

4

Major problems regarding project performance and delivery, but corrective actions are in place to improve confidence in delivery

Amber

5

Problems exist regarding project performance, delivery of corrective actions are/ have been delivered, with reasonable confidence
of success

Amber

6

Minor problems exist with the project but confidence in the delivery of the project remains high

Green

7

Project on track and expected to deliver minimum outputs/ benefits

Green

8

Project on track. Progress and achievement of the project is on target

Green

9

Progress and achievement of the project is likely to exceed planned output/benefits

Blue

10

Project completed and outputs/ benefits delivered. Appropriate learning shared within and beyond Programme

Page 88

Red

14

Appendix 3

SAVINGS AND RECOVERY PROGRAMME 2021/22
3.3 Saving RAG Scouring Guidance**
RAG Rating

% of Savings Target

Page 89

Red

0

0% achieved

Red

1

<20%

Red

2

20% - 30%

Amber

3

30% - 40%

Amber

4

40% - 50%

Amber

5

50% - 60%

Amber

6

60% - 70%

Green

7

70% - 80%

Green

8

90% -100%

Green

9

>100% achieved

Blue

10

Financial balance achieved and recorded in General Ledger
Appropriate learning shared within and beyond Programme

15

Appendix 4

2021/22 COVID FUNDING AND COSTS
£k
Funding sources
11,634
75,675
87,309

IJB reserves (cfwd from 20/21)
LMP funding allocated in year
Total funding available
Additional costs
NHS

FHS contractor costs
Hosted and set aside service costs
Other costs
Prescribing
Staff costs
Vaccination programme
Sub total NHS

1,822
3,224
166
2,008
2,710
981
10,910

Council

Additional community capacity
Loss of income
Net unmet savings
Other costs
PPE
Safehaven beds
Staff costs
Sustainability payments
Sub total Council

1,807
1,733
10,824
371
314
1,127
598
14,688
31,462

Total net additional Covid costs

42,372

Balance carried forward (via IJB reserves)

44,937

Page
16 90

Appendix 5

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD RESERVES CARRIED FORWARD TO
2022/23

£k
Earmarked reserves
Balance of covid and winter funding
Care at home capacity
COVID LMP balance
Interim care
Multi-disciplinary teams
Winter
Sub total covid and winter
Action 15 and mental health
Community investment
Community living change fund
Drugs death task force
Home first
Other
Primary care improvement fund
Transformation
Unscheduled care
Total earmarked reserves

2,286
44,937
1,189
1,656
264
50,331
2,938
1,000
925
4,170
927
4,731
5,960
841
7,183
79,006

General reserve
21/22 underspend
Total general reserve
Grand total reserves cfwd to 22/23

3,151
3,151
82,157

Page
91
17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.2

REPORT
2022/23 Financial Plan
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
9 August 2022

Executive

This report presents an update on the 2022/23 financial

Summary

plan for the Integration Joint Board. The paper sets out
the latest available information, including information on
the Scottish Government’s Covid Cost Improvement
Programme and an update on the position with reserves.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board:
1.

Agree to transfer £3.2m from reserves to partially
offset the in year deficit;

2.

Note the deficit in the Integration Joint Board’s
budget for 2022/23 has reduced to £10.8m;

3.

Note the position with reserves;

4.

Agree that officers continue tripartite efforts with
colleagues in the City of Edinburgh Council and
NHS Lothian to bridge the remaining anticipated in
year shortfall; and

5.

Agree to receive an update on progress following
publication of the financial results for quarter 1.

Page 93

Directions
Direction to
City of
Edinburgh

No direction required



Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council

Council, NHS
Lothian or
both
organisations

Issue a direction to NHS Lothian
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council & NHS Lothian

Report Circulation
1.

This report has not been presented elsewhere.

Main Report
Background
2.

At the meeting in March 2022 the Integration Joint Board (IJB) agreed the
financial plan for 2022/23. At this point the budget was out of balance by
£16.9m and the board recognised that IJB officers would work with partner
bodies to address the gap as the year progressed. In setting a budget with a
deficit, the IJB recognised the clear risk that agreeing stringent additional
savings at a time of significant uncertainty could lead to unnecessary public
concern as well as a material deterioration in performance. Further the board
acknowledged that, to address sustainability in the longer term and avoid the
need to relentlessly develop savings programmes that lead to inefficient "salami
slicing", we need to evolve our thinking and adopt a longer term, strategic
approach.

Update on budget gap
3.

Two factors will potentially reduce the budget gap, these are discussed in
paragraphs 4 to 6 below:
• agreement of the final NHS Lothian financial plan; and
• the final outturn for 2021/22.

Page 94
2

4.

The financial plan approved by the IJB in March 2022 was based on a final
budget offer from the City of Edinburgh Council (the Council) and, due to the
timing, an indicative one from NHS Lothian. The final iteration of NHS Lothian’s
financial plan, which was agreed by their board on 6th April 2022, represented an
improvement in both the overall position for NHS Lothian and that of the IJB. For
the IJB this equates to a net reduction of £2.9m in the budget gap.

5.

As discussed in a separate paper to this meeting, the IJB is reporting a surplus
of £3.2m against the budget for the year. This sum was transferred to a
general reserve at the end of 2021/22. As a general reserve, the utilisation can
be agreed by the board and it is recommended that this is used to offset the
2022/23 deficit referred to above. If agreed, this would be a one off contribution
as the reserve in question is non recurring.

6.

Taking these two factors into account would reduce the in year budget shortfall
from £16.9m (reported to the board in March) to £10.8m. These changes,
which total £6.1m, are summarised in table 1 below:
£m
Net budget gap reported to IJB in March
Improvement in NHS Lothian financial plan

2.9

Contribution from general reserve

3.2

Remaining gap for 2022/23
Table 1: movement in budget shortfall 2022/23
7.

(16.9)

(10.8)

Comprehensive financial reporting covering all delegated services is not yet
available for 2022/23. However, all indications are that the underlying position
is likely to represent an improvement in the position set out in the financial plan.
Clearly, this will be closely monitored by the Chief Officer and Chief Finance
Officer working closely with the finance teams from the Council and NHS
Lothian and will be reported through the Performance and Delivery Committee
and to the board itself.

Financial impact of Covid
8.

In the previous 2 financial years (i.e. 2020/21 and 2021/22) Covid related costs
have been met in full by the Scottish Government (SG) via the mobilisation
planning process. Towards the end of 2021/22, as well as funding for the in
year Covid costs, an additional tranche of funding was issued by the SG. This

Page 95
3

was on the following basis: ‘The significant disruption to services has created a
backlog of demand as well as increasing unmet need and frailty of service
users. Investment is needed across day care services, care at home and to
support unscheduled care, to keep people within the community, where
possible and safe to do so, to avoid unplanned admissions and impacts on
delayed discharges. Alongside this is the impact on mental health and services
have been stepped up through, for example, mental health assessment units.
This funding will also cover sustainability payments to social care providers and
additional staff costs across health & social care’.
9.

Edinburgh’s share of this funding was £70.3m, with any balance not required to
meet the costs of the pandemic in 2021/22 being transferred to reserves and
carried forward. Now that the financial position for 2021/22 has been finalised it
can be confirmed that the sum carried forward via reserves is £44.9m. There is
further information in the separate paper to this meeting.

10. In May 2022 the Resource Spending Review (RSR, available here) was
published, setting out the SG’s high level financial plans for the period 2023/24
to 2026/27. This document signalled that the SG is projecting future budgetary
settlements below current levels in real terms. As a consequence, the recent
constraints we have seen in public sector spending will be exacerbated.
Significant savings programmes will need to be identified and delivered in order
to balance budgets. In this context, it is extremely unlikely that the current level
of service provision can be sustained.
11. The RSR was followed by correspondence from the SG’s Director of Health
Finance and Governance which highlighted the financial risk and approach
required in relation to Covid services in the current financial year. Specifically,
it has now been confirmed that no further Covid consequentials are anticipated
in 2022/23 or in future years. Further, while there is clearly a requirement in
2022/23 to continue with some areas of investment, these costs need to be
managed down where possible. In this context the SG is taking forward a
range of actions through the Covid Cost Improvement Programme to address
the overall scale of the challenge in 2022/23 and beyond, and it is essential that
activity across NHS Boards and Integration Authorities is fully aligned with this
work. We have been instructed to consider how existing funding streams can

Page 96
4

be utilised prior to the use of Covid reserves, due to the non-recurring nature of
the funding for Covid.
12. Accordingly, the Executive Management Team undertook a high level review of
the investments made during the pandemic and funded from centrally provided
Covid monies. Where possible, it is proposed to meet any ongoing costs from
confirmed recurring funding sources. This is discussed in paragraphs 14 to 15
below.
13. For those Covid costs for which there is no viable alternative funding source our
planning assumption is that the remaining costs will be met in year from the
£44.9m currently being carried in the IJB's reserves. These costs (which are
summarised in appendix 1) total £26.8m and it should be noted that the budget
gap discussed above accounts for £10.8m of this total. Given the SG’s current
stance on Covid exit planning it is acknowledged that there is a degree of risk
around this assumption. The Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer,
supported by senior officers from our 2 partner organisations, will be reinforcing
the implications of any deviation from this position with SG colleagues.
Specifically, the consequential detrimental impact on performance if the board
is required to identify further savings to balance the plan.
14. It should also be noted that it is possible for some of these costs (e.g.
prescribing where we have seen a change in practice which is unlikely to be
reversed) may continue beyond 2022/23. Where this is the case we will
continue to work with partners on projections and reflect these in future
financial plans.
Integration Joint Board reserves
15. As referenced in a separate paper to this meeting, we started the financial year
with reserves of £82.2m. Paragraphs 12 to 13 above describe the costs which
be charged against the £44.9m Covid reserve. Plans for the other earmarked
reserves are being progressed by the relevant strategic leads.
16. Additionally, the IJB has not yet fully committed all the sums allocated to it via
the SG budget of December 2021. As set out above, officers have responded
to the SG’s requirement on all Integration Authorities and Health Boards to
review all Covid costs with a view to meeting any recurring costs through
confirmed recurring allocations (e.g. sustainable vaccination workforce) or from

Page 97
5

existing baseline budgets. The outcome of this exercise is summarised in
appendix 2, although it is recognised that these decisions will require to be
reviewed in the context of the financial position for 2023/24 and beyond. This
shows a total of £6.6m for prioritisation in year and £4.4m on a recurring basis.
Achieving financial balance
17. We continue to face unprecedented challenges to the sustainability of our
health and care system; an ageing population; an increase in the number of
people living with long term condition; a reduction in the working age population
which compounds the challenge in workforce supply, and fundamentally
resource availability cannot continue to match levels of demand. These
challenges are longstanding and have been recognised on a UK and Scotland
wide basis. Indeed, the Audit Scotland report ‘NHS in Scotland in 2021’
underscored the financial and other challenges facing health and social care
services across the country. In the case of Edinburgh this is compounded by
the structural deficit which the IJB inherited from partners (particularly for social
care services). Since its inception the IJB has routinely faced an underlying
budget gap which we are unable to bridge on a sustainable basis. These are
amongst the factors which led the board to set an unbalanced budget.
18. During the development and refinement of the IJB’s financial plan, the Chief
Officer and Chief Finance Officer have been working closely with the Council’s
Head of Finance and NHS Lothian’s Director of Finance. These tripartite
discussions were productive and reflected a shared intent, recognising the
impact of any additional measures which would be required to balance the plan.
The shared view which emerged from these tripartite discussions was that
sufficient flexibility existed in the system to support the IJB to deliver financial
balance by the end of the year.
19. This paper has discussed a number of key changes and issues which have
come to light following the IJB's agreement of the budget in March 2021. The
most material of these is the announcement that the SG is not expecting any
Covid consequentials from the UK Government in 2022/23 or beyond. As a
result they have introduced a Covid Cost Improvement Programme with the
objective of reducing Covid costs as far as possible. Whilst we have updated
our cost estimates and, wherever possible, identified alternative funding

Page 98
6

sources, the key risk is that the SG does not support the use of reserves to
offset the IJB's residual financial plan deficit.
20. Notwithstanding this, officers will continue to work proactively with partners,
including SG officials, to identify and implement any mitigating actions. Areas
of further flexibility currently being considered include:
• At the time of writing the IJB has not fully committed the funding received
through the SG budget (see above). When setting the budget, the board
noted that this funding would be held in reserves pending the appropriate
business cases coming forward. These cases are being developed and
will target key areas of performance improvement although it should be
recognised we are likely to be limited by the availability of staffing. Whilst
we will continue to develop these cases through our usual business and
governance process, there will be an element which can be used in year
to support financial balance; and
• Also noted in the financial plan paper agreed in March was that
expenditure projections had assumed that the majority of existing
vacancies are filled from 1st April. Given the ongoing recruitment and
retention challenges and the high levels of current staffing gaps, it would
be reasonable to assume that some of these vacancies will be carried for
at least part of the year. This has been borne out by the financial
management information received to date and will be continue to be
closely monitored as the year progresses.
21. We have agreed with our partners that we will work collegiately to identify the
means to address the remaining budget gap as the year progresses. This will
require the support and commitment of all 3 organisations and strong
leadership to deliver. Such an approach clearly brings risk but, equally, a more
aggressive savings and recovery programme will lead to reductions in services
and have a detrimental impact on people.
22. Work will continue across a number of fronts to provide the IJB assurance as
the year progresses. In further mitigation, the financial position of the
delegated services will be closely monitored. It is recommended that progress
towards financial balance by the end the year is formally considered by the

Page 99
7

board following the quarter 1 review with further updates will be provided via
the regular finance report.

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Financial
23. Are outlined in the main body of this report.
Legal/risk implications
24. This report outlines how the budget for 2022/23 could be balanced, albeit
recognising that elements of mitigation are difficult to quantify at this point. This
clearly presents a risk for the IJB as delivery is not certain. However we have
secured the commitment of our partners to work collaboratively to address this
as the year progresses. Regular updates will be provided for the board with the
quarter 1 review providing a key milestone for review.
25. Whilst every effort has been made to ensure all likely additional costs have
been incorporated into the financial outlook at this time, there remain a number
of inherent uncertainties and associated risks. The financial planning process
is an ongoing and iterative cycle, and it is not possible to fully identify all
financial risks facing individual service areas, or the wider organisation, at this
stage.
26. A number of specific risks were set out in the March financial plan paper and
these are reiterated below for consideration by the board:
• The impact Covid has on service delivery, new and emerging models of
care and the cessation of any specific Covid related financial support;
• The impact of material changes to the cost base, for example the financial
impact of workforce shortages and rising energy costs. This is being
closely monitored by partners;
• Potential costs associated with the national move from analogue to digital
telecommunications systems have not been included in the plan at this
stage. These are currently being quantified, particularly as they impact on
the ATEC 24 alarm service;

Page 100
8

• Continued management of the financial exposure facing NHS Lothian
arising from the escalation of operational performance on elective, mental
health and unscheduled care capacity pressures including delayed
discharges;
• Availability of SG funding for both nationally funded programmes &
initiatives and services funded annually on a non recurring basis; and
• Ongoing impact of uncertainty in global markets as a result of the Russian
invasion of Ukraine.
Equality and integrated impact assessment
27. There are no specific implications arising from this report.
Environment and sustainability impacts
28. There are no specific implications arising from this report.
Quality of care
29. There are no specific implications arising from this report.

Consultation
30. This report has been prepared with the support of the finance teams in the City
of Edinburgh Council and NHS Lothian.

Report Author
Judith Proctor
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Contact for further information:
Moira Pringle, Chief Finance Officer
Email: moira.pringle@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk

Appendices
Appendix 1

Projected Covid related costs for 2022/23

Appendix 2

Planned use of additional funding

Page 101
9

APPENDIX 1
PROJECTED COVID RELATED COSTS FOR 2022/23

22/23
£k
Additional community capacity
Additional PPE

1,129.0
365.0

Additional staff costs

1,115.0

GP prescribing

2,152.0

Hosted and set aside costs

3,583.0

Interim care beds

1,439.5

Loss of income

1,126.0

Net budget gap/unachievable savings

10,835.8

Other

33.0

Provider sustainability payments

3,604.0

Vaccination programme

1,387.0

Total investments

26,769.3

Funding

44,936.9

Balance

18,167.6

10

Page 102

APPENDIX 2
PLANNED USE OF ADDITIONAL FUNDING
22/23
£k

Recurring
£k

1,362.7

763.0

Home first

564.0

707.17

Hospital at home

157.0

157.0

Other

92.0

Community capacity
Investments
One Edinburgh

Total investments

2,175.7

1,627.2

Total funding

5,514.0

5,514.0

Balance

3,338.3

3,886.8

Home first

487.0

487.0

Hospital at home

60.0

400.0

Hospital to home

178.0

178.0

Care home support team

554.0

554.0

Transformation

922.0

949.7

7.0

214.0

Total investments

2,208.0

2,782.7

Total funding

3,568.0

3,568.0

Balance

1,360.0

785.3

299.0

299.0

299.0

299.0

Total funding

2,199.0

0.0

Balance

1,900.0

(299.0)

Grand total investments

4,682.8

4,708.9

Grand total funding

11,281.0

9,082.0

Balance

6,598.2

4,373.1

Multi disciplinary teams
Investments

Other

Social workers and MHOs
Investments
6 social work posts
Total investments

Summary

11

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.3

REPORT
Evaluation of Winter 2021/22
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
9 August 2022

Executive Summary

The purpose of this report is to provide the Edinburgh
Integration Joint Board with an update on performance over
winter 2021/22. As anticipated, winter 2021/22 proved to be
challenging, not only in the Partnership but system-wide due
to the continuing effects of the Covid-19 pandemic. The easing
of lockdown has seen an increased demand for services
alongside workforce pressures caused by staff absence and
difficulties in recruiting to key service areas including social
work, therapy, and care at home, exacerbated in Edinburgh
due to the competitiveness of the local recruitment market.
This was reflected in a high number of delayed discharges but
despite this challenging position, we were able to maintain
delays at a relatively similar level throughout December and
January, avoiding the increase normally seen at that time of
year. Delays decreased through the remainder of winter
ending 18% lower in March than November 2021, something
not seen in previous years. This has also bucked the national
trend, with Edinburgh seeing a 14% drop in delays at census
point for those over 18 years of age between the peak in
January and March, compared to a 7% rise across the rest of
Scotland (minus Edinburgh). There was a similar trend for
those over 75 years of age, with a 13% drop in Edinburgh and
a 10% rise across Scotland. Also, a 17% drop in monthly bed
days occupied for 18+ between the peak in January and
March compared to a 5% rise across the rest of Scotland. For
75+ this was a 16% drop in Edinburgh and a 7% rise across
Scotland.

Recommendations

It is recommended that the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board:
1.
Note the evaluation of winter 2021/22 contained in this
paper.
2.
Note that a number of winter initiatives are being funded
recurringly.
3.
Note that planning is underway around identified
priorities for winter 2022/23.

1

Page 105

Directions
Direction to City of
Edinburgh Council,
NHS Lothian or
both organisations

No direction required
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS
Lothian




Report Circulation
1.

The report has not been presented to any other EIJB Committee.

Main Report
2.

Winter preparedness planning plays a key role in ensuring National Health Service
(NHS) boards and Health and Social Care Partnerships (HSCP) are ready to meet the
additional challenges likely to be faced over the winter months as a result of seasonal
influenza, norovirus, severe weather, and public holidays. This was again amplified this
year by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. As lockdown ended and society started to
open again the impact has been felt across the whole system through increasing
demand and workforce pressures.

3.

John Burns, Chief Operating Officer for NHS Scotland, wrote to NHS health boards on
21 July 2021 setting out requirements for the latest iteration of their Remobilisation
Plan, known as RMP4. This included planning for winter 2021/22 and a selfassessment checklist which was to be completed and returned by 30 September 2021.
It requested that planning should take account of the impact of winter and other
seasonal factors likely to affect demand including the need for COVID-19 booster
vaccinations alongside the annual flu vaccination programme, and the potential for an
upsurge in Respiratory Syncytial Virus cases this winter.

4.

The Partnership was approached and asked to complete the self-assessment for
inclusion in the Lothian return, incorporating:
a. Resilience preparedness
b. Unscheduled/elective care preparedness
c. Out of hours preparedness
d. Norovirus outbreak control measures
e. COVID-19, RSV, seasonal Flu, staff protection and outbreak resourcing
f. Respiratory pathway, and
g. Integration of key partners/services

5.

A copy of the completed Edinburgh HSCP Checklist of Winter Preparedness 2021/22
is included as Appendix 1.

2

Page 106

Allocation and use of additional funding for winter pressures
6.

Over recent years, several different approaches have been used by NHS Lothian
Unscheduled Care Committee to ensure best use of Scottish Government funding for
winter pressures. This has generally involved submission of proposals from across the
system with schemes being scored against criteria including:
a. Supports joint working between acute/HSCPs
b. Supports a Home First approach
c. Facilitates seven-day working and discharging
d. Site and community resilience/flow
e. Admissions avoidance
f. Supports a non-bed-based model

7.

This year however it was agreed that winter funding would be allocated to each HSCP
based on average percentage of funding received in the previous three years. This
would give local areas autonomy to build more sustainable solutions to winter
pressures. The outcome of this was that the Edinburgh Partnership received a total
allocation of £171,000 for winter 2021/22.

8.

Allocation of this funding, was based on previously identified priorities arising from the
evaluation of winter 2020/21, considering funding already set aside through NHS
Lothian’s Gold Command and the resultant gaps. An outline of the selected areas of
work is given below in table 1, along with an update on outcomes.
Table 1 Winter Funding Allocation

Title

Update

Hospital Social
Worker Enhancement

Recruitment of experienced social workers was
exceptionally difficult, with posts being re-advertised four
times. It was not until January 2022 that the four posts were
filled. Following employment checks, three candidates were
given a start date of March/April but the fourth accepted an
offer from another local authority.
These posts will enhance hospital social work capacity but
with a focus on a Home First approach. A social worker will
be part of a dedicated ‘front door’ team where the focus is
on the patient for the first 72 hours, supporting them and
ensuring early conversations with the person and their
family/carer to assist and influence discharge. This should
reduce the numbers being admitted and enable prompt
discharge.

Edinburgh Community
Respiratory Hub
CRT+

Recruitment to the two senior social workers posts was
unsuccessful. These and the remaining social worker post
will be re-advertised early June 2022.
Additional Advanced Physiotherapy Practitioner (APP) and
specialist physiotherapist posts to support patients with
respiratory conditions other than COPD remained unfilled.
Ongoing support and care of these patients was instead
3

Page 107

delivered through the Physio@Home Service, with a
referral pathway on SCI-Gateway and professional-toprofessional for this group.

Early supported
discharge of people
with Covid-19

There were a total of 13 referrals made, below the seasonal
average, likely due to the continuing pandemic. The service
was able to manage these additional cases with minimal
impact to their routine waiting list or delivery of their normal
weekend service. There were a total of 32 interventions (13
face-to-face and 19 by telephone). This provided an
improved experience for the patients as it required fewer
hand offs, and the service was able to provide follow-up
interventions to support other non-respiratory symptoms or
needs.
The Community Respiratory Team (CRT) further built on
the success of the test of change done in Wards 203/204 at
the Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh in 2021 to support the
discharge of patients with Covid-19.
Patients continued to have a complex presentation with all
of those discharged during November 2021 to January
2022 requiring long-term oxygen. This involved an
increased number of interventions, in some cases spanning
several months. CRT clinicians supported them in
navigating the system, ensuring appropriate follow-up from
the wider multi-disciplinary team, and overseeing the
oxygen weaning process.

Assistant
Practitioners,
Discharge to Assess
(D2A) teams

There were 20 referrals over the reporting period with the
average being 27 days on oxygen (range 0 to 147). The
average number of days on the CRT caseload was 41 days
(range 5 to 147). No new referrals were received during
February and March, indicating a trend towards reducing
demand, and all patients have now been discharged from
the service. The initiative has highlighted that this can be
facilitated in the community by a specialist respiratory team
and this can be reinstated in the Community as and when
needed in the future.
Recruitment to these posts took several months, despite
being on a permanent basis. This was due in part to
difficulties experienced navigating the NHS recruitment
process and employment checks for staff who are new to
the NHS. Staff took up post late March 2022 and were
going through induction but still awaiting Protecting
Vulnerable Group (PVG) certification. They will enhance the
service skill mix and capacity to facilitate early discharge as
an alternative to bed-based rehabilitation going forward.
Winter demands were met by the locality based D2A teams
who were and are supported by the wider Hub therapy,
team therapists if/when required. This ability to utilise the
4

Page 108

wider team ensured discharges could still be supported
however the impact on supporting Prevention of Admission
functions were monitored to ensure this was not negatively
impacted.
9.

Recruitment to key service areas to support reducing admissions/re-admissions and
delayed discharges proved to be a significant challenge. This has been a sector-wide
issue but exacerbated in Edinburgh due to the competitiveness of the local recruitment
market. In addition, the increased demand for staff across the system also made it
difficult to source suitably qualified candidates. This was not limited to short-term winter
contracts but also experienced for full-time roles the Partnership was recruiting to on a
permanent basis. The outcome of this was that planned additional capacity was not
available in most service areas, adding significantly to pressures.

10.

As set out in table 2 below, additional funding was also made available through the
Partnership to support unpaid carers for whom the festive period can be a difficult time,
and to improve anticipatory care planning (ACP) for people with severe frailty or were
at risk of falls. An update of the outcomes of this work is set out below.
Table 2 Additional Winter funding allocation
Title

Update

VOCAL Surviving
Christmas – providing
support for unpaid
carers

The programme supported 105 unpaid carers (114 people
in total as carers could be accompanied) across a range
of interventions. This included emotional support groups,
drop-in sessions, short break visits to local attractions,
and recreational activities such as arts and crafts. Where
they responded to the online evaluation, they reported
high levels of improvement in areas of mental health
(94.2%) and social interaction (94.4%), but also improved
relationships (70.6%), financial position (61.2%) and
confidence (53%).
An outcomes review (involving a practitioner obtaining
evaluative information through conversation with carers)
reported that it was well received with participants
reporting feeling less isolated, having improved well-being
and for many, the funding enabled them to access
supports there would not otherwise have been able to
afford at that time of year.
Feedback from participants:
“I felt less alone at that point in time – it enabled me to get
through”
“It was really great to know that someone was thinking of
me at that time of year”
“It is so important that these opportunities are maintained
– this time of year, carers can be very isolated and not
supported elsewhere”

5

Page 109

Improving outcomes for
people with severe
frailty through
anticipatory care
planning

Improving outcomes for
people at risk of falls

11.

As VOCAL gain more experience of running this
programme they are able to ensure maximum uptake. It is
not just offering recreational opportunities but an
important way to sustain their caring role and improve
caring relationships.
Funded through LTC programme. The social worker who
was to progress this initiative unfortunately left and it had
to be put on hold due to an inability to recruit. The aim is
that it will be picked up again in future as initial work was
promising. It has the potential to inform evidence-based
decision making to provide the right care, at the right time,
in the right setting, reducing unnecessary hospital
admissions and delayed discharges.
Funded through the LTC programme. This initiative was
aimed to identify people at risk of falls in the NW locality to
offer multifactorial falls assessment, rehabilitation, and
intervention. An assistant practitioner was recruited
however with considerable upskilling requirements. A
three month extension was proposed and declined, which
resulted in the project being unable to continue. A total of
14 people were identified in the community for follow up,
10 of which were telephoned for further support. Out of
these, 3 accepted further support, with 2 accepting a face
to face falls assessment, and 1 being referred to Steady
Steps programme. A dedicated project management
function to provide support and oversight has been
identified as the main lesson learnt. Learning from this will
be incorporated into the Home First Programme where the
falls pathways continue to be subject to scrutiny and
improvement.

In January 2022, the NHS Lothian Unscheduled Care Committee requested an update
on how allocated funds were being used and how they might contribute to winter
pressures (Appendix 2). This was followed by an end-of-winter report in April 2022
(Appendix 3).

Performance from November 2021 to end of March 2022
12.

Since October 2021, Edinburgh IJB has received updates describing the significant
system pressures being faced by the wider Lothian health and social care system as
society opened up and restrictions eased. This is also reflected nationally and many of
these pressures are not new although they have been exacerbated by the EU exit and
the Covid-19 pandemic.

13.

There was both an increase in referrals to Assessment and Care Management teams
with requests for service, and an increasing number of cases assessed as requiring a
service since March 2021. Other drivers for increasing demand include people being
de-conditioned, frailer, and less confident following periods of lockdown, family/unpaid
carers who are exhausted having cared for people during the pandemic returning to
work following furlough, and a general build-up of demand emerging as messaging
about services being ‘open as usual’ have been released. Coupled with this increasing
demand, we were also faced with a decrease in care capacity available to support
6

Page 110

people, compounding an already challenging position.
14.

As a result, we entered winter 2021 in an already difficult position with pressures being
felt across the system. This was reflected in the high number of delayed discharges at
the start of the winter period. Despite this challenging position, we were able to
maintain delays at a relatively similar level throughout December and January,
avoiding the increase in the number usually seen in January each year. Since January,
delays have been on a decreasing trend through the remainder of winter, with delays in
March 18% lower than in November, something not seen in previous years. This has
also bucked the national trend, with a 14% drop in delays at census point for those
over 18 years of age between the peak in January and March in Edinburgh, compared
with a 7% rise across the rest of Scotland (minus Edinburgh). There was a similar trend
for those over 75 years of age, with a 13% drop in Edinburgh and a 10% rise across
Scotland. Also, a 17% drop in monthly bed days occupied for 18+ between the peak in
January and March in Edinburgh compared to a 5% rise across the rest of Scotland.
For 75+ this was a 16% drop in Edinburgh and a 7% rise across Scotland. A
breakdown of activity of the winter months is included as Appendix 4.

15.

Community hospital bed provision continued to deliver rehabilitation, intermediate care
and hospital based complex clinical care (HBCCC) over the winter months. There were
no additional beds opened over this period although six extra unfunded intermediate
care beds remained open at Liberton Hospital; a continuation of additional beds from
the end of winter 2020/21. Following direction given by NHS Lothian’s Gold Command,
options were investigated to open additional capacity in both Liberton Hospital and
Astley Ainslie Hospital due to system pressures. Although the wards were prepared,
they could not open as it was not possible to achieve safe nursing staff levels despite a
pan-Lothian approach taken to secure the required staff. This was due to the ongoing
high levels of nurse vacancies across Lothian and unplanned leave particularly during
peaks of staff absence due to Covid-19.

16.

The Astley Ainslie Discharge Hub supported flow through the hospital beds by
retaining accurate waiting lists, ensuring patients were on the right pathway for the type
of ongoing inpatient care they required, and proactively arranging admissions as soon
as discharges were planned. The ward clinical teams focussed on early discharge
planning whenever this was achievable and identified any potential barriers or
challenges with discharge planning as early in the patient stay as possible. Home First
Navigators or named social workers were allocated to the intermediate care and
HBCCC services to reduce the overall number of social workers working with the
clinical teams with the aim of improving focus on early discharge planning and health
and social care staff working in a more integrated way in inpatient settings.
Discussions on discharge planning included seeking consent for a move to an interim
bed if timely discharge home directly was not achievable. The clinical teams had
realistic conversations with patients and their families regarding this.

17.

Fillieside Ward at Finlay House participated in a test of change for Planned Date of
Discharge (PDD) and this work continues. This increased the focus of the whole team
on aiming for a specific discharge date from the outset with the PDD set within 48
hours of admission. The increased collective working was evident including the
invaluable contributions by the allocated Home First Navigator to the team.

7

Page 111

18.

The Partnership are progressing with the implementation of phase one of the bed-base
review which will see a rebalance of intermediate care, HBCCC and care home beds
across the city. Adaptations are required to transition the former Drumbrae Care Home
to an HBCCC facility. When Drumbrae is operational, the redesign of Intermediate
Care can begin. Phase one of the bed base review will see an increase in Intermediate
care capacity and a reduction of HBCCC capacity. Further to that, we are in the
process of recruiting to our new model of care within our 60 bedded care homes. The
introduction of nursing staff into the care homes will enable the Partnership to provide
high quality nursing care at affordable local authority rates, an area where Edinburgh
has limited provision at present. The nursing staff will be recruited over the next six to
nine months with one of three care homes operating the new model in time for winter.

19.

The Partnership purchased a number of interim care home beds to support people who
are medically fit to leave hospital but need additional time to ensure a package of care
is in place to support them at home. These beds were purchased during extreme
system pressures however, due to the impact on hospital flow, some of these beds will
be considered on a longer-term basis as part of the Partnerships commitment to
improve flow through the system. There were 121 people moved into an interim
placement by 31 March 2021 (end of the financial year) and 71 of these had already
ended their placement, a 59% turnover. In total this initiative saved 6,239 bed days in
hospital by the end of the financial year and reduced the number of daily delayed
discharges by 61 delays at the peak.

20.

Phase 2 of the Redesign of Urgent Care continues, with the expansion of the Home
First Navigators (HFN) in the Flow Centre to provide a service for longer hours Monday
to Friday. They take calls mainly from GPs across Edinburgh for urgent therapy and/or
social care to prevent admission and liaise directly with the patient/family and locality
hubs. The HFNs are also working closely with the Frailty Assistant Nurse Practitioner
(ANP) in the Flow Centre, which is also strengthening links to Hospital at Home
(H@H). Under the banner of Home First, the Prevention of Admission work is being
further developed with collaboration of Partnership colleagues to focus on three
workstreams – frequent attenders, re-admissions, and prevention of admission from
care homes. Data is currently being collected to inform the interventions that may be
successful in reducing the number of people presenting or being admitted to an acute
hospital.

21.

Home First Edinburgh continues to build on the work undertaken to date and will have
a number of key areas of focus in the year ahead:
a. Structure and governance - ensuring the correct management and reporting
structure is in place so that colleagues have clear roles and responsibilities, are
part of a wider Home First network and are supported in their roles.
b. Interface Care (prevention of admission and attendance) - building on the
prevention work that has taken place already, interface care will identify and target
areas of improvement that will support prevention of admission or attendance from
acute hospital sites. Building on the work undertaken so far, including a single point
of access via the Flow Centre and Home First navigators at the front door of
Emergency Department (ED), Interface Care will provide alternatives to hospital
attendance and admission, enabling citizens to access the most appropriate care
and support through alternative community-based services.
c. Optimising patient flow (including Discharge without Delay) - optimising patient flow
and discharge without delay will be accelerated in the coming year aligned to the
8

Page 112

Scottish Government’s national initiative. Working collaboratively with all
Partnerships across Lothian, system wide priorities have been identified. Edinburgh
will consider these locally and establish an action plan on how to achieve the
system wide priorities at local level.
d. Pathways - pathways into and out of hospital need to support the initiatives outlined
above, they need to be streamlined, consistently applied, and should not cause
unnecessary delays. Some of the pathways in Edinburgh could be improved and
these will be targeted, driven by data, and based on the experience of those
working with them in front line services. Pathways, where possible, should be
consistently applied regardless of where they are provided from. Pathway
improvements will follow a quality improvement (QI) methodology allowing
evaluation and amendments throughout.
e. Performance metrics and data analytics - Home First now has a dedicated data
analyst and service improvement manager who will support all the planned
activities going forward. Measuring success through data capture and trend
analysis and where improvements are identified, working to a defined QI
methodology to ensure consistency of practice and continuous improvement
processes. Local support will be supplemented regionally and nationally through
collaborative working and shared objectives.
22.

The Discharge without Delay (DwD) programme continues to progress, with five areas
identified for action this quarter, to facilitate working towards Planned Date of
Discharge (PDD) in Lothian. This three-month action plan has been shared with the
Partnership and will include:
a. Focus on first 72 hours of the acute patient journey - developing a whole system
approach aligned to the ‘front door’ to facilitate the very earliest date of discharge.
A test of change is being planned for the Western General Hospital.
b. Home First Patient Flow and Discharge Tracker - to categorise and prioritise
patients for whom Edinburgh HSCP interventions are expected to prevent
admission to downstream wards or facilitate a sooner discharge. In time this will
allow automatic updating of the PDD, keeping community services informed of
changes.
c. Request for Service (RFS) – improve the RFS process by reducing the number of
steps required between the ward team deciding they need social care input and the
partnerships actions.
d. Roll out the PDD initiative to other two wards in Liberton Hospital- implementing the
new model of PDD.
e. Discharge and transfer policy review - the new policy is now a pan-Lothian policy,
incorporating Scottish Government’s DwD guidance. A self-assessment tool has
been developed and baseline assessment done to identify areas for improvement.

23.

The development of the H@H service continues with ongoing review of progress
following recommendations arising from a Lothian-wide review against Healthcare
Improvement Scotland (HIS) guiding principles for service development. A number of
different referral routes have been introduced including from Scottish Ambulance
Service (SAS) as well as ED. Virtual clinics have been introduced to accept ED
referrals out-of-hours for visits the following day, and there are GP out-of-hour referrals
for care home residents. There is ongoing work with acute medical unit colleagues to
increase referrals from “front door” areas.

9

Page 113

24.

The H@H service is working to increase virtual capacity, having been set a target
increase of 50% by HIS to be achieved by March 2022 and doubling capacity by March
2023. Using funding provided for one-off costs to support short-term increases in bed
capacity to help relieve pressure, enabled the service to exceed this first target with an
increase of nearly 61%. Work is now underway to better understand what will be
needed to meet the 2023 target.

Ensuring Business Continuity
25.

Throughout 2021/22, the Partnership continued to deal with COVID-19 alongside
undertaking resilience planning for COP26, the climate change conference being
hosted in Glasgow, and care for people. The Partnership Severe Weather Resilience
Plan was formally reviewed in the summer 2021 and will be continuously reviewed on
an annual basis with the addition of any lessons learnt from the impacts of Severe
Weather.

26.

Resilience plans are in place for all services across the Partnership and are in the
process of being reviewed and updated. Work is also ongoing to develop tabletop
exercises to test the Partnership resilience plans over the 2022/23 cycle.

27.

The Partnership as part of its Severe Weather had arrangements in place to access 4
x 4 vehicles if required. There were no significant severe weather incidents that arose
during winter 2021/22.

Winter Vaccination Programme
28.

The Partnership winter vaccination programme for adults was planned to have all
eligible people vaccinated by early December 2021, with a concentration on flu
vaccination delivery. Changes were however required due to the changing guidance
and the programme was extended at full capacity to accommodate the additional
groups.

29.

From September 2021, the lead responsibility for the delivery of the Covid vaccination
programme transferred from NHS Lothian to Edinburgh HSCP. The approach to
delivery remains highly collaborative between all Lothian HSCPs and NHS Lothian.

30.

The programme started in September with an emphasis on delivering flu vaccinations,
but this emphasis changed due to the emergence of the Omicron variant of Covid-19.

31.

The scale of this delivery was unprecedented. In 2019, medical practices and
community pharmacists delivered approximately 70,000 flu vaccinations to 70,000
adults. By Christmas 2021 for comparison, more than 300,000 vaccinations in total
were given.

32.

The vaccination programme became multifaceted and complex as more groups were
added:
a. The NHS Lothian children’s Community Vaccination Team carried out the school
programme for Flu (including home-schooled pupils). In Edinburgh, the additional
Covid 12 to 15 and 16 to 17 year-old cohorts were fitted into the adult programme
from 4 October 2021 and first doses were delivered to all those willing to come

10

Page 114

b.

c.
d.
e.

forward. Opportunity to ‘drop-in’ to all local clinics for first doses in these cohorts
has been maintained.
Vaccination of those in care homes and the housebound started from 27
September 2021. Care Homes were completed by 5 November 2012 and all
housebound were to be visited or brought to clinics by early December (both
vaccinations offered, and staff and any carers eligible also offered vaccination).
Health and social care staff were vaccinated through a mixture of peer vaccination,
staff clinics and self-appointment to adult clinics.
From November 2021, those aged 50-59 and unpaid carers were able to selfappoint (totalling approximately 100,000 people in Edinburgh).
Community Pharmacists have played an important role again this year, offering
booked appointments for flu (only) to patients unable to get to clinics.

33.

In total, 145,352 flu vaccinations were delivered to all eligible groups by end of
December 2021.

34.

Covid-19 booster vaccinations were prioritised at beginning of December and a
'Booster by the Bells' campaign began with the ask of boosters to be delivered to as
many people aged 18 years and over by the end of December 2021. From the
beginning of October 2021 to the end of December 2021, 258,491 third and booster
doses were given.

35.

Spring Covid-19 booster vaccinations are currently being offered to everyone aged
over 75 and those at highest risk of severe Covid-19 disease including residents in
care homes for older adults, and individuals aged 12 years and over who are
immunosuppressed. The decision came following the latest Joint Committee on
Vaccinations and Immunisation advice that a second booster jab was required to
provide as much protection as possible and to reduce the risk of waning immunity.
Latest guidance is that a further autumn booster should be offered to over-65s, health
and care staff and clinically vulnerable adults aged 16 to 64.

36.

Lowland Hall at Ingliston Showground in Edinburgh was an essential and very effective
clinic to offer vaccinations to large numbers however it is recognised that it was not a
convenient or popular venue. Early in 2022 Lowland Hall was decommissioned as a
venue and the vaccination programme has been delivered in two ‘mini-mass’ sites in
the Gyle shopping centre and Ocean Terminal which will offer year-round vaccinations.
There is also a venue in Waverley Mall which is anticipated to remain in use to provide
accommodation for any surge vaccinations required during the 2022/23 programme as
well as offering an accessible city centre venue. The delivery of the programme should
gradually be more evenly distributed across the whole year, making possible the use of
smaller venues in combination with our established network of local clinics.

Communications
37.

The communications for winter 2021/22 followed a similar format to previous years,
focusing on the most vulnerable with preventative messaging. This winter, there was
the added complexity of changing messaging around winter vaccinations (for flu and
Covid-19) for those who were eligible.
a. Frontline adult social care workers were encouraged to get their winter
vaccinations.
11

Page 115

b. Key information was created and shared with frontline teams to help them support
vulnerable audiences over winter.
c. The Edinburgh Carer Support team worked with the communications team to
provide customised information for carers online, and on carer information boards
in hospitals.
d. Shared public messaging from NHS Lothian, Public Health Scotland, and Scottish
Government.
e. Supported vulnerable audiences mainly through Partnership care workers and
backed that up with social media and information on the Edinburgh Health and
Social Care website. Also, internally through colleague news, colleague hub,
briefings to frontline teams and services, and through News Beat, the Council’s emagazine.
38.

An evaluation of communications undertaken is available on request.

Forward Planning for 2022/23
39.

Planning in already underway around priority actions which will need to be in place for
winter 2022/23. These include:
a. Progressing work around Home First including a 12-month plan aligning with
Urgent and Unscheduled Care, and more specifically the DwD programme.
b. Enhancing hospital-based social work capacity to deliver on DwD ambitions. This
would include development of dedicated, site-based hospital teams focussing on
early identification, assessment and pull, arranging timely community support and
enable PDD, with designated teams allocated to individual wards. A proposal has
been submitted from the Partnership following the release of recurring funding from
Scottish Government to provide additional social work capacity within local
authorities, but this is highly unlikely to be met in full so winter funding can be used
to augment this resource.
c. Supporting community-based services within the Partnership to provide care in the
community and avoid emergency admissions. Learning from the Home First
Prevention of Admission and Frequent Attenders workplan will inform this work.
d. Explore the CRT+ model for future winters including the skill mix in CRT and
Physio@Home. This is being explored through the Interface Care Group.
e. Work more closely with third sector organisations to relieve pressure on health and
social care services and provide community-based care and support for local
residents. This will include working with the Cyrenians, the Defence Medical
Welfare Service (DMWS) and other third sector organisations via our expanding
Community Resilience (community navigators) team to support discharge for
veterans, those experiencing homelessness and the elderly. Locality-based
workers will support clients holistically and link with colleagues to provide tailored
advice on local community resources which could be used before or instead of
statutory services.

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
12

Page 116

Financial
40.

NHS Lothian was allocated a total of £1.451M to support the costs of ensuring health
and social care services were prepared for winter 2021/22.

41.

A total of £171,000 was allocated to Edinburgh HSCP based on the average
percentage of funding received in the previous three years.

42.

An additional £8,132 was made available by the Partnership to other initiatives to
support unpaid carers over the festive period and for anticipatory care planning to
improve outcomes for people with several frailty.

43.

The Partnership is now in receipt of the £171,000 allocation for winter 2022/23 and
planning has started to address priority areas.

Legal / risk implications
44.

Ability to recruit, not only to short-term posts required for surge capacity, but
permanent posts will continue to be challenging due to system-wide pressures and the
competitiveness of the local recruitment market. In future there will be a need to weigh
up the recruitment timescale and training costs involved against the potential benefits
accrued by some of these posts.

Equality and integrated impact assessment
45.

An integrated impact assessment was undertaken in November to consider potential
impacts on people with protected characteristics and other groups of winter plans. It
was not deemed necessary to repeat that this year as the key areas of focus remained
the same.

Environment and sustainability impacts
46.

Improvements to public safety through identification of vulnerable people living in the
community and ensuring appropriate support is in place, for example through ATEC24
or Technology Enabled Care; protecting their vital interests during periods of severe
weather or where there are concerns for their safety.

47.

Improved infection control through care management at home.

48.

Reduced need to travel, and potential for accidental injury, by providing care closer to
home.

49.

Potential impact of severe weather and disruption of services minimised; priority
locations for road clearance and gritting; access to emergency food supplies to those
assessed as requiring them.

Quality of care
50.

Winter planning continues to be providing safe and effective care for people using
services and ensuring there is sufficient capacity to meet the expected surge in
demand. It focuses on providing care close to home, avoiding unnecessary admissions
and re-admissions where possible, and facilitating the early supported discharge where
admission is needed. This supports service delivery across the wider system of health
and social care over the winter months and during festive public holidays.
13

Page 117

Consultation
51.

Preparing for winter is done in close consultation with key stakeholders through the
Winter Planning Group, which includes multidisciplinary representation not only from
the Partnership but also acute services and the third sector.

52.

The Partnership is also represented on the NHS Lothian Unscheduled Care Tactical
Committee which has oversight of Lothian-wide planning for winter.

Report Author
Judith Proctor
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Contact for further information:
Name: Angela Lindsay, Locality Manager (North-East Edinburgh), Strategic Lead for Home
First and Winter Planning
Email: Angela.Lindsay@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk Telephone: 07971 336292

Background Reports
Not applicable

Appendices
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4

Supplementary Checklist of Winter Preparedness Checklist
Update on Winter 2021/22 for NHS Lothian Unscheduled Care
Committee
Evaluation of Winter 2021/22 for NHS Lothian Unscheduled Care
Committee
Evaluation of Edinburgh HSCP Performance for Winter 2021/22

14

Page 118

Preparing for Winter 2021/22:
Supplementary Checklist of Winter Preparedness: SelfAssessment
Priorities
1. Resilience
2. Unscheduled / Elective Care

Page 119

3. Out of Hours
4. Norovirus
5. COVID -19, RSV, Seasonal Flu, Staff
Protection & Outbreak Resourcing
6. Respiratory Pathway
7. Integration of Key Partners / Services

These checklists supplement the narrative and deliverables
identified in your RMP4 and support the strategic priorities for
improvement identified by local systems from their review of last
winter’s pressures and performance and experiences of managing
Covid -19.
Your winter preparedness assessment should cover systems,
processes and plans which take into account the potential impacts
of COVID-19, Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV), seasonal flu,
other respiratory conditions and severe weather impacts. Plans
should recognise that some of these events may occur
concurrently and should take into account system wide impacts.
Plans should also reflect a strategic as well as operational
approach to maintain service resilience and business continuity.
The checklists also include other areas of relevance but are not
exhaustive. Local systems should carefully consider where
additional resources might be required to meet locally identified
risks that might impact on service delivery.
NHS National Boards should support local health and social care
systems to develop their winter plans as appropriate.
1

Winter Preparedness: Self-Assessment Guidance
•

Local governance groups can use these checklists to self-assess the quality of overall winter preparations and to identify
where further action may be required. This should link to the guidance available for continual provision of service available
on the associated web links highlighted on the accompanying paper.

•

The following RAG status definitions are offered as a guide to help you evaluate the status of your overall winter
preparedness.

RAG Status

Page 120

Definition

Action
Required

Green

Systems / Processes fully
in place & tested where
appropriate.

Routine
Monitoring

Amber

Systems / Processes are
in development and will be
fully in place by the end of
October.
Systems/Processes are
not in place and there is
no development plan.

Active
Monitoring &
Review

Red

2

Urgent Action
Required

1

Resilience Preparedness

RAG

(Assessment of overall winter preparations and further actions required)
1

Further Action
/Comments

Page 121

NHS Board and Health and Social Care Partnerships (HSCPs) have clearly identified
all potential disruptive risks to service delivery and have developed robust Business
Continuity (BC) plans to mitigate these risks. Specific risks include the impact of
Respiratory Infections (e.g. Covid, RSV, Seasonal Flu) on service capacity, severe
weather and staff absence.

The Partnership has a designed
Resilience Lead and Co-ordinator
who regularly link with both
Council and NHSL resilience
teams in a resilience event.

Business continuity arrangements have built on lessons identified from previous
events, and are regularly tested to ensure they remain relevant and fit for purpose.

The Partnership Resilience Team
review the severe weather plan
annually as part of a formal
review, with reviews undertaken
as part of any severe weather
incidents to ensure any lessons
learned are captured in future
iterations of the plan (eg this year
the resilience teams will work with
CEC Transport and Roads
colleagues to ensure optimal use
of existing resources. In addition,
additional seasonal resources
such as hired 4x4s will be brought
in at an earlier stage).

Resilience officers are fully involved in all aspects of winter preparedness to ensure
that business continuity management principles are embedded in Remobilisation /
Annual Operating Plans as part of all-year-round capacity and service continuity
planning
The Preparing For Emergencies: Guidance For Health Boards in Scotland (2013) sets out the
expectations in relation to BCM and the training and exercising of incident plans – see
Sections 4 and 5, and Appendix 2 of Preparing for Emergencies for details. This guidance
Preparing for Emergencies Guidancesets out the minimum standard of preparedness
expected of Health Boards – see Standard 18.

There are several groups that
manage/co-ordinate resilience
activity included the Resilience
Steering Group, Resilience
Committee which includes a
cross-section of the Partnership
and focus on resilience events.
Alongside this, a severe weather
group was set up in 2019, and

3

include a range of key
stakeholders. This group
specifically focuses on winter
weather-related incidents.

Page 122

As the response to COVID19 is
now being managed in a more
planned way, the command
centre has been stood down,
however an Operational
Oversight Group was stood up in
its place in Summer 2021 and
was changed to focus on system
pressures highlighting the fluid
and dynamic nature of the
operational response at this time.
This arrangement will be kept
under review.
The Partnership are currently in
the process of updating their
resilience plans and Business
Impact Assessments and aim to
be completed by early October.
The plans cover the
arrangements for services to
maintain their service in the event
of a resilience event (eg loss of
building, loss of IT etc). The
Partnership are currently looking
to create integrated resilience
plans as currently the Council and
NHSL have difference ways of
documenting their approach to a
resilience event.

4

The Resilience Steering Group
also discuss a range of potential
resilience related activity that
could affect service deliver (eg
EU Exit, COP26) and agree /
discuss mitigation strategies
2

BC plans take into account all critical activities across the NHS Board / HSCPs
spectrum of activity and include analysis of the risks of disruption and their actual
effects and demonstrate that planning has been based upon the likelihood and
impact of worst case scenarios.

Page 123

Risk assessments take into account staff absences including those likely to be
caused by a range of scenarios and are linked to a business impact analysis to
ensure that essential staff are in place to maintain key services. All critical activities
and actions required to maintain them are included on the corporate risk register and
are actively monitored by the risk owner.
The Health Board and HSC partnership have robust arrangements in place to
support mutual aid between local / regional partners in respect of the risks and
impacts identified

Partnership Resilience Plans
cover all essential / critical
services and document the risks
and impact of service disruption
and considers the resources
needed to maintain key services
in an emergency and appropriate
risk assessment have been
undertaken.
The Partnership have also tested
their call trees in terms of how
long it would take key staff to
arrive on site to allow planning to
determine minimum number of
staff that could be available in a
resilience situation.
The Partnership resilience lead /
co-ordinator is linked into the
relevant Council and NHS Lothian
resilience groups.

3

The NHS Board and HSCPs have appropriate policies in place to cover issues such
as :
• what staff should do in the event of severe weather or other issues hindering

5

Both CEC and NHS Lothian have
appropriate procedures in place
which are held on the orb
/intranet. The procedures are

•
•

access to work, and
arrangements to effectively communicate information on appropriate travel
and other advice to staff and patients
how to access local resources (including voluntary groups) that can support
a) the transport of staff to and from their places of work during periods of
severe weather and b) augment staffing to directly or indirectly maintain key
services. Policies should be communicated to all staff and partners on a
regular basis.

Resilience officers and HR departments will need to develop a staff travel advice and
communications protocol to ensure that travel advice and messages to the public are
consistent with those issued by Local /Regional Resilience Partnerships to avoid confusion.
This should be communicated to all staff.

regularly communicated with staff
about what they should do in the
event of adverse weather/ access
to work.
The Partnership also ensures that
any key communications relating
to accessing travel arrangements
are cascaded through the
management line (eg bus strike)
or via colleague news.

4

Page 124

NHS Board/HSCPs websites will be used to advise patients on any changes to
service access arrangements or cancellations of clinics / outpatient services due to
severe weather, reduced staffing levels etc,

There are communication plans in
place and in the event of severe
weather impacting on service
delivery, access to services, the
Partnership website as well as
NHS Lothian and CEC would be
updated accordingly. The
Partnership would also utilise
relevant twitter accounts to
communicate any issues.

6

The NHS Board, HSCPs and relevant local authorities have created a capacity plan
to manage any potential increase in demand for mortuary services over the winter
period; this process has involved funeral directors.

This is included the Council’s
Severe Weather plan.

6

2
1
1.1

Unscheduled / Elective Care Preparedness
(Assessment of overall winter preparations and further actions required)
Clinically Focussed and Empowered Management
Clear site management and communication process are in place across
NHS Boards and HSCPs with operational overview of all emergency and
elective activity and visibility of other key performance indicators
To manage and monitor outcomes monthly unscheduled care meetings of the hospital
quadrumvirate should invite IJB Partnership representatives and SAS colleagues (clinical
and non-clinical) to work towards shared improvement metrics and priority actions. A
member of the national improvement team should attend these meetings to support
collaborative working.

RAG

Further
Action/Comments
Clear operational lines of
escalation and communication
processes are in place within
EHSCP including regular
Executive Management Team
meetings and Senior Operational
Team meetings.

Page 125

Shared information should include key contacts and levels of service cover over
weekends and festive holiday periods, bed states and any decisions which have been
taken outside of agreed arrangements.

1.2

Effective communication protocols are in place between clinical departments and
senior managers across the whole system, to ensure that potential system
pressures are identified as they emerge and as soon as they occur departmental
and whole system escalation procedures are invoked with key actions and
timescales assigned to individuals.

1.3

A Target Operating Model and Escalation policies are in place and communicated
to all staff. Consider the likely impact of emergency admissions on elective work
and vice versa, including respiratory, circulatory, orthopaedics, cancer patients,
ICU/PICU.

7

Daily tele- or video conferences
will be scheduled if there are
significant pressures across the
system. Individual services have
systems in place for daily
communication and escalation of
pressures or issues, for example
via daily huddles. From these
actions are identified and followed
up.
Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

This should be based on detailed modelling, pre-emptive scheduling of electives throughout
the autumn, and early spring, and clear strategies regarding which lists may be subject to
short-notice cancellation with a minimum impact.
Pressures are often due to an inability to discharge patients timeously. Systems should be
in place for the early identification of patients who no longer require acute care, with PDDs
(planned dates of discharge) visible and worked towards, to ensure patients are discharged
without delay.

1.4

Escalation procedures are linked to a sustainable resourcing plan, which
encompasses the full use of step-down community facilities, such as community
hospitals and care homes. HSCPs should consider any requirement to purchase
additional capacity over the winter period.

Page 126

All escalation plans should have clearly identified points of contact and should be
comprehensively tested and adjusted to ensure their effectiveness.

Care Home admissions are
managed centrally matched to
available capacity and information
about capacity in private care
homes is also utilised to match
service users to places dependant
on price and funding available.
Should exceptional pressures
develop these will be escalated to
EMT.
Senior Mgt is in regular contact
with the AAH Discharge Hub
throughout the day especially
over winter and has
knowledge/early sight of any
specific issues in community
hospitals which could impact on
flow and assist the team in finding
solutions. There are no plans to
increase the capacity in Liberton
Hospital over winter. Any
escalations will be via Head of
Operations to the EMT/Chief
Officer.
The Partnership is in the process

8

of reviewing how any excess
capacity in internal care homes
might be utilised to the best effect
over winter, and working closely
with other providers to secure
additional interim care placements
should the need arise

Undertake detailed analysis and planning to effectively manage scheduled elective, unscheduled and COVID-19
activity (both short and medium-term) based on forecast emergency and elective demand and trends in infection
rates, to optimise whole systems business continuity. This has specifically taken into account the surge in
unscheduled activity in the first week of January.

2.1

Pre-planning and modelling has optimised demand, capacity, and activity plans
across urgent, emergency and elective provision are fully integrated, including
identification of winter surge beds for emergency admissions

Page 127

2

Weekly projections for scheduled and unscheduled demand and the capacity required to
meet this demand are in place.
Weekly projections for COVID demand and the capacity required to meet this demand
including an ICU surge plan with the ability to double capacity in one week and treble in two
weeks and confirm plans to quadruple ICU beds as a maximum surge capacity.
Plans in place for the delivery of safe and segregated COVID-19 care at all times.
Plans for scheduled services include a specific ‘buffering range’ for scheduled queue size,
such that the scheduled queue size for any speciality/sub-speciality can fluctuate to take
account of any increases in unscheduled demand without resulting in scheduled waiting
times deteriorating. This requires scheduled queue size for specific specialities to be
comparatively low at the beginning of the winter period.
NHS Boards can evidence that for critical specialities scheduled queue size and shape are
such that a winter or COVID-19 surge in unscheduled demand can be managed at all
times ensuring patient safety and clinical effectiveness without materially disadvantaging
scheduled waiting times.

9

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

2.2

Pre-planning created pathways which provide an alternative to admission, and
optimised the use of inpatient capacity for the delivery of emergency and elective
treatment, including identification of winter / COVID-19 surge beds for emergency
admissions and recovery plans to minimise the impact of winter peaks in demand
on the delivery of routine elective work.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

This will be best achieved through the use of structured analysis and tools to understand
and manage all aspects of variation that impact on services, by developing metrics and
escalation plans around flexing or cancelling electives, and by covering longer term
contingencies around frontloading activity for autumn and spring. Where electives are
cancelled consideration should be given on whether the Scottish Government Access
Support team should be informed in order to seek support and facilitate a solution.

Page 128

Ensure that IP/DC capacity in December/January is planned to take account of conversions
from OPD during Autumn to minimise the risk of adverse impact on waiting times for
patients waiting for elective Inpatient/Day-case procedures, especially for patients who are
identified as requiring urgent treatment.
Management plans should be in place for the backlog of patients waiting for planned care in
particular diagnostic endoscopy or radiology set in the context of clinical prioritisation and
planning assumptions

3

Agree staff rotas in October for the fortnight in which the two festive holiday periods occur to match planned capacity
and demand and projected peaks in demand. These rotas should ensure continual access to senior decision makers
and support services required to avoid attendance, admission and effective timely discharge. To note this year the
festive period public holidays will span the weekends.

3.1

System wide planning should ensure appropriate cover is in place for Consultants
(Medical and Surgical), multi-professional support teams, including Infection,
Prevention and Control Teams (IPCT), Social Workers, home care and third sector
support. This should be planned to effectively manage predicted activity across the
wider system and discharge over the festive holiday periods, by no later than the
end of October.
This should take into account predicted peaks in demand, including impact of significant

10

EHSCP will map annual leave
arrangements for all teams to
ensure there is adequate cover in
place. There will be clearly
defined points of contact across
the system for the duration of the
festive period; providing
assurance there is adequate

events on services, and match the available staff resource accordingly. Any plans to reduce
the number of hospitals accepting emergency admissions for particular specialties over the
festive period, due to low demand and elective activity, need to be clearly communicated to
partner organisations.

3.2

Extra capacity should be scheduled for the ‘return to work’ days after the four day
festive break and this should be factored into annual leave management
arrangements across Primary, Secondary and Social Care services.

3.3

Additional festive services are planned in collaboration with partner organisations
e.g. Police Scotland, SAS, Voluntary Sector etc.

Page 129

3.4

NHS Boards and HSC Partnerships are aware of externally provided festive services such
as minor injuries bus in city centre, paramedic outreach services and mitigate for any
change in service provision from partner organisations

Out of Hours services, GP, Dental and Pharmacy provision over festive period will
be communicated to clinicians and managers including on call to ensure
alternatives to attendance are considered.
Dental and pharmacy provision should be communicated to all Health and Social Care
practitioners across the winter period to support alternatives to attendance at hospital.

Develop whole-system pathways which deliver a planned approach to
urgent care ensuring patients are seen in the most appropriate clinical
environment, minimising the risk of hospital associated infection and
crowded Emergency Departments.
Please note regular readiness assessments should be provided to the
SG Unscheduled Care team including updates on progress and
challenges.
11

leadership in place for the
purpose of immediate decisionmaking, responding to any
unexpected situations that may
arise as well as programmed
activity.
As above

EHSCP now has a tactical
resilience plan and an Incident
Management Team. The
resilience plan includes
collaborative links with Police
Scotland, for example during
severe weather.
This is communicated via NHS
Lothian Primary Care Contracts
Office (PCCO) at Waverley Gate.
PCCO communicate community
pharmacy hours of service to
relevant parties, including
updating NHS Inform.

To ensure controlled attendance to A&E services a 24/7 Health Board Flow
Navigation Centre will offer rapid access to a senior clinical decision maker and be
staffed by a multi-disciplinary team, optimising digital health when possible in the
clinical consultation and should have the ability to signpost to available local
services, such as MIU, AEC, GP (in and out of hours), pharmacy and ED if
required. Self-care / NHS inform should be promoted where appropriate.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete (under the Redesign of
Urgent Care workstream)

Referrals to the flow centre will come from:
• NHS 24
• GPs and Primary and community care
• SAS
• A range of other community healthcare professionals.

Page 130

If a face to face consultation is required, this will be a scheduled appointment with
the right person and at the right time in the right place based on clinical care needs.
Technology should be available to book appointments for patients and provide
viable appointments / timeslots at A&E services.
The impact on health-inequalities and those with poor digital access should be
taken into account, mitigated, monitored and built into local equality impact
assessments.
Professional to professional advice and onward referral services should be
optimised where required
Development of pathways across whole system for all unscheduled care working
with Scottish Ambulance Service to access pathways and avoid admission.

Work is continuing and ongoing
as part of the Redesign of Urgent
Care Phase 2 workstream to
redirect appropriate community
pathways through the Flow
Centre .
There has been refinement to
Urgent Care pathways via the
Flow Centre to support Prevention
of Admission (Home First,
Hospital at Home and the
Community Respiratory Team).

12

There have been additional
pathways established including
that from SAS direct to Hospital
and Home, ED direct to Hospital
at Home, and the SAS Falls
Pathway.

Page 131

Hospital at Home takes referrals
from SAS crews to prevent
transporting to hospital and
therefore avoiding admission.
They have also enhanced
weekend referrals to the service
by taking GP referrals from care
homes.
Additional resource has been
sourced and obtained from HIS
and RUC for additional posts in
Hospital at Home, the Flow
Centre Home First Team and the
Community Respiratory Team
which will provide increased
capacity and support.
Development of a frailty nurse
post in the Flow Centre to redirect
admissions to hospital at home
and rapid assessment.

4

Optimise patient flow by proactively managing Discharge Process utilising PDD (Planned Date of Discharge) and
associated discharge planning tools such as – Daily Dynamic Discharge, to shift the discharge curve to the left and
optimise in day capacity, and ensure same rates of discharge over the weekend and public holiday as weekday.
13

4.1

Discharge planning in collaboration with HSCPs, Transport services, carer and
MDT will commence prior to, or at the point of admission, using, where available,
protocols and pathways for common conditions to avoid delays during the
discharge process.
Patients, their families and carers should be involved in discharge planning with a multidisciplinary team as early as possible to allow them to prepare and put in place the
necessary arrangements to support discharge.
Utilise Criteria Led Discharge wherever possible.
Supporting all discharges to be achieved within 72 hours of patient being ready.

Page 132

Where transport service is limited or there is higher demand, alternative arrangements are
considered as part of the escalation process – this should include third sector partners
(e.g. British Red Cross) Utilise the discharge lounge as a central pick-up point to improve
turnaround time and minimise wait delays at ward level.

Onsite presence of Home First
Navigators on both RIE and WGH
acute sites with ED/MAU and
wards working as part of the MDT
to support POA.
Home First Navigator working
within discharge hub in WGH to
manage people on acute medical
wards.
Discharge to Assess pathway and
service fully utilised to create an
alternative pathway to admission.
Tests of change currently
underway to begin the roll out of
PDD in WGH (Wd 51) and ICF
(Fillieside) with a further plan for
the RIE site.
PDD approach is heavily invested
in the involvement of the patient
and family/carer.
Additional SW resource allocated
for WGH and RIE sites as well as
ICF to promote the Home First
approach and early supported
discharged maximising
community assets.

4.2

To support same rates of discharge at weekend and public holiday as weekdays
regular daily ward rounds and bed meetings will be conducted to ensure a
proactive approach to discharge. Discharges should be made early in the day, over

14

Hub therapy weekend working will
re-convene in November (Sat and
Sun) and Social Work (SW) on

all 7 days, and should involve key members of the multidisciplinary team, including
social work. Criteria Led Discharge should be used wherever appropriate.
Ward rounds should follow the ‘golden hour’ format – sick and unwell patients first,
patients going home and then early assessment and review. Test scheduling and the
availability of results, discharge medication, transport requirements and availability of
medical and nursing staff to undertake discharge should all be considered during this
process to optimise discharge pre-noon on the estimated date of discharge. Criteria Led
Discharge should be used wherever appropriate.

Saturdays. There will also be
public holiday SW cover over the
festive period for acute sites. SWs
will work closely with the D/C
hubs. There is a low level of
system wide discharge at
weekends. The Lothian wide PDD
work stream will drive
improvements in performance as
it rolls out.
CRT operates a 7 day service as
routine

4.3

Page 133
4.4

Discharge lounges should be fully utilised to optimise capacity. This is especially
important prior to noon.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

Processes should be in place to support morning discharge at all times (e.g.) breakfast
club, medication, pull policy to DL, default end point of discharge. Utilisation should be
monitored for uptake and discharge compliance.
Extended opening hours during festive period over public Holiday and weekend

Key partners such as: pharmacy, transport and support services, including social
care services, will have determined capacity and demand for services and be able
to provide adequate capacity to support the discharge process over winter period.
These services should be aware of any initiatives that impact on increased
provision being required and communication processes are in place to support
this. e.g. surge in pre-Christmas discharge
There should be a monitoring and communication process in place to avoid delays,
remove bottlenecks and smooth patient discharge processes

15

The NHS Lothian Community
Pharmacy Core Group review
demand and adjust Community
Pharmacy opening hours
accordingly. Pharmacists and
Technicians are deployed across
GP Practices to support
pharmacotherapy services,
medicines reconciliation at
discharge and acute prescription
requests.

5

5.1

Agree anticipated levels of homecare packages that are likely to be required over the winter (especially festive) period
and utilise intermediate care options such as Rapid Response Teams, enhanced supported discharge or reablement
and rehabilitation (at home and in care homes) to facilitate discharge and minimise any delays in complex pathways.

Close partnership working between stakeholders, including the third and
independent sector to ensure that adequate care packages are in place in the
community to meet all discharge levels.
This will be particularly important over the festive holiday periods.

Page 134

Partnerships will monitor and manage predicted demand supported by enhanced
discharge planning and anticipated new demand from unscheduled admissions.
Partnerships should develop local agreements on the direct purchase of homecare
supported by ward staff.
Assessment capacity should be available to support a discharge to assess model across 7
days.

Provision of care packages in
Edinburgh is an ongoing
challenge, in keeping with the
trends across much of the Health
and Social Care sector. The
sector as a whole continues to
struggle with the impact of COVID
and Brexit on the available
workforce and this is evidenced
by the increasing levels of unmet
need in the community and
hospital delays.
To mitigate some of the
challenges and pressures EHSCP
are working in close partnership
with providers of these support
services, and other wider groups
of stakeholders to support at a
minimum stability in the market
and the existing capacity that they
deliver. Measures currently being
implemented to support and
hopefully improve the situation
are:
• EHSCP funded and led
campaign to promote
employment opportunities in
Edinburgh across the Health

16

•

Page 135
17

and Social Care sector
targeted to start end
Sept/early Oct and run
through to Jan/Feb at a
minimum. A landing page on
EHSCP website will provide
an understanding of what
working in Health and Social
Care means, rewards of the
career, skills, values and
attributes required and linking
to roles organisations
advertise through My Job
Scotland. .
Additional CCA resources in
post - 1WTE each for
SE/SW/NW localities to start
in Oct. This will replicate the
successful “unmet need
officer” role piloted in NE
Locality which delivered a
significant reduction in unmet
need and hospital delays
through a single point of
contact and pro-active
approach to building of
relationships with providers,
assessors, other health
professionals and people
waiting for support. The aim
being to come to practical
solutions to enable support to
be put in place rapidly where
previously there were barriers
indicated. Also tracking

•

Page 136
5.2

Intermediate care options, such as enhanced supported discharge, reablement and
rehabilitation will be utilised over the festive and winter surge period, wherever
possible.
Partnerships and Rapid Response teams should have the ability to directly purchase
appropriate homecare packages, following the period of Intermediate care.
All delayed discharges will be reviewed for alternative care arrangements and discharge to

18

hospital admissions where
care arrangements exist and
ensuring that these are restarted at earliest point of
fitness to discharge, or where
no discharge planning is in
place to free up the capacity
to match to another individual
to support discharge home or
prevention of admission.
Mapping exercise of existing
care capacity both internally
and externally, and new
process implemented to
increase collaborative working
between all organisations
delivering support. Maximise
efficiencies that can be
delivered through more joined
up approaches to use of
existing workforce to increase
the number of individuals who
can be supported to remain at
home through provision of
appropriate support
arrangements.

Additional Assistant Practitioner
posts have been agreed and are
currently being implemented to
increase therapy capacity to
support Discharge to Assess. The
additional skills mix will ensure
that the therapists are made
available to provide additional

assess where possible

rehabilitation, supporting better
outcomes in a shorter duration.
Patients considered through a
variety and increasing range of
pathways and services, including
Discharge to Assess, Hospital at
Home, Intermediate Care, and the
Community Respiratory Team to
reduce the length of hospital stay
and to prevent a delayed
discharge.

5.3

Page 137

Patients identified as being at high risk of admission from, both the SPARRA
register and local intelligence, and who have a care manager allocated to them, will
be identifiable on contact with OOH and acute services to help prevent admissions
and facilitate appropriate early discharge.
Key Information Summaries (KIS) will include Anticipatory Care Planning that is utilised to
manage care at all stages of the pathways.

The Long Term Conditions (LTC)
Programme has worked with
health & social care professionals
and third sector organisations to
improve ACP conversations and
models for sharing/accessing
information across the integrated
system.
COVID19 ACP bundles with
educational guidance, information
for citizens, and resources for
sharing/accessing ACP quality
criteria across the integrated
system have been developed for
health and social care
professionals, GP practice teams,
care homes and third sector
partners. The care home ACP
model has been shared nationally
and recently updated with

19

learning and improvements
gained during the pandemic,
available on the NHS Lothian care
home website: 7 steps to
ACP: Creating Covid-19 relevant
ACPs in Care Homes Implementation Guide and
Resources All other ACP bundles
are available on the NHS Lothian
intranet and will be soon be
available on the HIS
5.4

Page 138

All plans for Anticipatory Care Planning will be implemented, in advance of the
winter period, to ensure continuity of care and avoid unnecessary emergency
admissions / attendances.
KIS and ACPs should be utilised at all stages of the patient journey from GP / NHS 24,
SAS, ED contact. If attendances or admissions occur Anticipatory Care Plans and key
information summaries should be used as part of discharge process to inform home
circumstances, alternative health care practitioners and assess if fit for discharge.

There are 259,301 active Key
Information Summaries (KIS) in
place for people in Edinburgh, a
287% increase since March 2020.
Guidance has been shared with
GP practices on how to review
and update the volume of KISs in
place, including when to obtain
consent to prevent KISs for high
risk individuals created under the
COVID19 protocol being deleted.
The Long Term Conditions
Programme is facilitating the
scale and spread of ACP across
community, primary, acute, and
3rd sector services. Providing
improvement and implementation
support to utilise the ACP bundles
(see 5.3), working with teams to
test and embed ACP across the
patient journey (eg Medicine of
the Elderly, Old Age Psychiatry,

20

Page 139

Emergency Medicine, Clinical
Genetics Service, Community
Nursing, Lanfine Service
(neurological conditions), District
Nursing, Home Care, Carer
Support Services, Adults with
Complex and Exceptional Needs
Service, Care Homes, and Home
First teams, Dementia Link
Workers, Admiral Nurses, and
Improving the Cancer Journey
Link Workers). The Edinburgh
ACP Stakeholder Group meets
quarterly to drive ACP
improvements in practice and
during the pandemic has focused
on improving information sharing
at the interface between acute
and primary care.
During winter 2021-22 an ACP
model will be tested with: falls
practitioners to improve
information shared through ACP
on falls prevention and
management; and with social
workers to improve the quality of
social care information shared for
people with severe frailty,
including Power of Attorney
arrangements. Both tests of
change aim to decrease
avoidable admissions and
delayed discharges from hospital
through ACP.

21

800 KIS magnets and wallet cards
have been given to people who
are at risk of hospital admission to
display in their home, prompting
SAS, OOH, ED to check KISs for
quality criteria that will improve
shared decision-making on
providing quality care at home or
as close to home as possible.
5.5

COVID-19 Regional Hubs fully operational by end November. Additional lab
capacity in place through partner nodes and commercial partners by November.
Turnaround times for processing tests results within 24/48 hours.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

Page 140

6.0

Ensure that communications between key partners, staff, patients and the public are effective and that key messages
are consistent.

6.1

Effective communication protocols are in place between key partners, particularly
across emergency and elective provision, local authority housing, equipment and
adaptation services, Mental Health Services, and the independent sector and into
the Scottish Government.
Collaboration between partners, including NHS 24, Locality Partnerships, Scottish
Ambulance Service, SNBTS through to A&E departments, OOH services, hospital wards
and critical care, is vital in ensuring that winter plans are developed as part of a whole
systems approach.

Managed at a corporate level
across the whole system through
Gold Command and at a
partnership level though the
winter command centre group.
.

Shared information should include key contacts and levels of service cover over
weekends and festive holiday periods, bed states and any decisions which have been
taken outside of agreed arrangements.

6.2

Communications with the public, patients and staff will make use of all available
mediums, including social media, and that key messages will be accurate and
consistent.

22

EHSCP will amplify the Scottish
Government campaign promoting
flu vaccination and promote
Public Health Scotland’s range of

SG Health Performance & Delivery Directorate is working with partners and policy
colleagues to ensure that key winter messages, around direction to the appropriate
service are effectively communicated to the public.
The public facing website http://www.readyscotland.org/ will continue to provide a one
stop shop for information and advice on how to prepare for and mitigate against the
consequences from a range of risks and emergencies. This information can also be
accessed via a smartphone app accessible through Google play or iTunes.
The Met Office National Severe Weather Warning System provides information on the
localised impact of severe weather events.
Promote use of NHS Inform, NHS self-help app and local KWTTT campaigns

promotional materials aimed at
the different audiences.
As well as that, EHSCP will
promote preventative or
operational messages around
seven key topics; winter resilience
messages and arrangements,
winter vaccination programme,
falls prevention, hospital
avoidance/signposting,
anticipatory care planning,
keeping safe and healthy over
winter, and support and advice for
carers.

Page 141

We will target communications to
some of our most vulnerable
residents, who are among the
largest users of health and social
care resources. This includes
vulnerable older people, people
who receive a care at home
service, those who receive
technology-enabled care and
equipment from us, people with
long-term health conditions or
who are at higher risk of falls.
The most effective route to such a
wide audience is through the
health and social care workers,
their unpaid carers and
organisations that support them to
live their daily lives. For that

23

Page 142

reason, we plan to communicate
with our primary audiences
through general practice, social
work, occupational and physical
therapists, pharmacies, care at
home agencies, care home staff
and ATEC24. We will also support
GPs in their messaging on
websites and social media. In
addition we will link with the Carer
Support Team to ensure that
carer organisations are kept
informed to allow them to support
unpaid carers who often struggle
at this time of year.
We will keep the EHSCP
workforce informed through
regular internal communications
and briefings to staff on winter
arrangements, including the
winter vaccination programme.
And we will work closely with the
City of Edinburgh Council
communications team on
resilience messaging around
severe weather etc to ensure we
more effectively reach people in
Edinburgh with time critical
messages.

24

3

Out of Hours Preparedness

RAG

(Assessment of overall winter preparations and further actions required)
1

The OOH plan covers the full winter period and pays particular attention to the
festive period and public holidays.

Further
Action/Comments
Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

This should include an agreed escalation process.
Have you considered local processes with NHS 24 on providing pre-prioritised calls during
OOH periods?

2

Page 143

3

4

The plan clearly demonstrates how the Board will manage both predicted and
unpredicted demand from NHS 24 and includes measures to ensure that pressures
during weekends, public holidays are operating effectively. The plan demonstrates
that resource planning and demand management are prioritised over the festive
period.
There is evidence of attempts at enabling and effecting innovation around how the
partnership will predict and manage pressures on public holidays/Saturday
mornings and over the festive period. The plan sets out options, mitigations and
solutions considered and employed.

There is reference to direct referrals between services.
For example, are direct contact arrangements in place, for example between Primary Care
Emergency Centres (PCECs)/Accident & Emergency (A&E) Departments/Minor Injuries
Units (MIUs) and other relevant services? Are efforts being made to encourage greater use
of special notes, where appropriate?

5

The plan encourages good record management practices relevant to maintaining
good management information including presentations, dispositions and referrals;
as well as good patient records.

25

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

Additional capacity has been put in
place provide seven-day working
in areas of key demand
Operational managers will ensure
that there is sufficient capacity to
provide front-line services over the
festive period.
Not applicable. EHSCP has no
OOH other than the emergency
social work. Other services will
link with LUCS.
Processes are in place to ensure
availability of robust management
information and this will be
monitored by senior management
on an on-going basis.

6

There is reference to provision of pharmacy services, including details of the
professional line, where pharmacists can contact the out of hours centres directly
with patient/prescription queries and vice versa

7

In conjunction with HSCPs, ensure that clear arrangements are in place to enable
access to mental health crisis teams/services, particularly during the festive period.

Page 144

Pharmacists have established
professional to professional lines
in place and LUCS has access to
the Community Pharmacy
Palliative Care Network of
pharmacies providing an
emergency call out service.
NHS24 algorithms updated to
include details of the community
pharmacy first service, treating
UTI and impetigo infections.
Emergency mental health
assessment is provided 24/7 via
the Mental Health Assessment
Centre at REH. Referral is via GP
or phone call; and includes selfreferral. Due to COVID19 MHAS is
not at present offering a 24-hour
walk in service but individuals
needing a face-to-face
assessment will be offered a
specific time slot which will be as
soon as possible within hours.
Intensive Homecare Treatment
Team can provide intensive crisis
service into people’s homes
following an MHAS referral. The
crisis centre is a third sector
commissioned service that is
operational 52 weeks of the year
and provides people with advice
and support, it also has the
capacity for people to stay over in
the building.

26

8

Ensure there is reference to provision of dental services, that services are in place
either via general dental practices or out of hours centres

This service is accessed by people
in distress, services can refer but it
is a not clinical area and people
need to be self-determined
PCCO lead on this for HSCPs

This should include an agreed escalation process for emergency dental cases; i.e. trauma,
uncontrolled bleeding and increasing swelling.

9

The plan displays a confidence that staff will be available to work the planned rotas.
While it is unlikely that all shifts will be filled at the moment, the plan should reflect a
confidence that shifts will be filled nearer the time. If partnerships believe that there may be
a problem for example, in relation to a particular profession, this should be highlighted.

Page 145
10

There is evidence of what the Board is doing to communicate to the public how their
out of hours services will work over the winter period and how that complements the
national communications being led by NHS 24.

EHSCP will map annual leave
arrangements for all teams to
ensure there is adequate cover in
place. Operational managers will
ensure that there is sufficient
capacity to provide front-line
services over the festive period.
Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

This should include reference to a public communications strategy covering surgery hours,
access arrangements, location and hours of PCECs, MIUs, pharmacy opening, etc.

11

There is evidence of joint working between the HSCP, the Board and the SAS in
how this plan will be delivered through joint mechanisms, particularly in relation to
discharge planning, along with examples of innovation involving the use of
ambulance services.

The Home First navigator posts
are well established within the RIE
and WGH (4) alongside the InReach Nurses (4) in a Home First
Team providing a link between
acute and community services.
Additional SW resource has been
allocated for WGH and RIE sites
as well as ICF to promote the

27

Home First approach and early
supported discharged maximising
community assets.
Additional capacity has also been
obtained to support the Flow
Centre Home First Navigator not
only support POA, also to support
the flow out of hospital, a reduced
length of hospital stay and
prevention of delayed discharge
by utilising community assets.

Page 146

The Hospital at Home team has
been successful in obtaining
funding for resource to increase its
capacity for an ANP and
APP/AHP.
There have been additional
pathways established for Hospital
at Home and other EHSCP
services including that from SAS
direct to Hospital and Home, ED
direct to Hospital at Home, and the
SAS Falls Pathway.
These pathways and services are
bedding in and demonstrating
increasing success and it is
anticipated that they will help avoid
admissions for the aging patient
with underlying frailty, and comorbidity, in addition to those with

28

a risk of infection, deconditioning
and loss of independence.
12

There is evidence of joint working between the Board and NHS 24 in preparing this
plan.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

This should confirm agreement about the call demand analysis being used.

13

There is evidence of joint working between the acute sector and primary care Outof-Hours planners in preparing this plan.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

This should cover possible impact on A&E Departments, MIUs and any other acute
receiving units (and vice versa), including covering the contact arrangements.

14

Page 147
15

There is evidence of joint planning across all aspects of the partnership and the
Board in preparing this plan.
This should be include referral systems, social work on-call availability, support for primary
care health services in the community and support to social services to support patients /
clients in their own homes etc.

There is evidence that Business Continuity Plans are in place across the
partnership and Board with clear links to the pandemic flu and other emergency
plans, including provision for an escalation plan.
The should reference plans to deal with a higher level of demand than is predicted and
confirm that the trigger points for moving to the escalation arrangements have been agreed
with NHS 24.

29

The Winter Planning Group
includes multi-agency and pansystem representation, including
membership from acute sites,
Social Care Direct, and includes
leads for flu, carers, third sector,
resilience, and communications.
The group leads on the planning,
monitoring and evaluation of the
winter plans. Members of the
group have all contributed to
preparing the plan and this
checklist.
All Partnership services have
resilience plans/business impact
assessments in place, and are in
the process of reviewing and
updated through September / and
October. All resilience plans are
held by the Resilience Lead in a

confidential shared space and can
be accessed in an emergency
situation.

4

Prepare for & Implement Norovirus Outbreak Control
Measures

RAG Further Action/Comments

(Assessment of overall winter preparations and further actions required)
1

NHS Boards must ensure that staff have access to and are adhering to the
national guidelines on Preparing for and Managing Norovirus in Care Settings
This includes Norovirus guidance and resources for specific healthcare and non-healthcare
settings.

Page 148
2

IPCTs and HPTs will be supported in the execution of a Norovirus Preparedness
Plan before the season starts.

All EHSCP staff have access to
appropriate guidance depending on
care setting and report cases via
local reporting system’s e.g.
Huddles, care inspectorate
reporting.
Bed based areas - Escalation to
local infection control teams
Care Homes – Escalation to Public
health
Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

Boards should ensure that their IPCTs and Health Protection Teams (HPTs) are supported
to undertake the advance planning to ensure that Norovirus outbreaks in hospitals and care
homes are identified and acted upon swiftly. Boards should ensure that there are sufficient
resources to provide advice and guidance to ensure that norovirus patients are well looked
after in these settings.

3

PHS Norovirus Control Measures (or locally amended control measures) are easily
accessible to all staff

30

All EHSCP staff have access to
appropriate guidance.
In hospital settings staff are
required to access most up to date
information on line with the
exception of daily outbreak records
which are kept through the course

of the outbreak. In other settings
paper copies may be held for ease
of access. Local outbreaks are
discussed and recorded at daily
safety huddles.
4

How are NHS Board communications regarding bed pressures, ward closures, kept
up to date in real time.
Boards should consider how their communications Directorate can help inform the public
about any visiting restrictions which might be recommended as a result of a norovirus
outbreak.

Page 149
5

Debriefs will be provided following significant outbreaks or end of season outbreaks
to ensure system modifications to reduce the risk of future outbreaks.
Multiple ward outbreaks at one point in time at a single hospital will also merit an
evaluation.

6

IPCTs will ensure that the partnership and NHS Board are kept up to date
regarding the national norovirus situation via the PHS Norovirus Activity Tracker.

7

Are there systems in place that would ensure appropriate patient placement,
patient admission and environmental decontamination post discharge in ED and
assessment areas

31

Local sit rep reports are in place
detailing capacity and any
pressures.
Staff also have access to NHS
Lothian infection control sit rep
which is circulated at least twice a
day or more frequently if
necessary. This advises on ward
closures.
Outbreak management systems
are in place for all settings
• Problem assessment groups
(PAG)
• Incident management teams
(IMT)
These are led by IPCT and include
local clinical management teams.
This information is available and
shared as appropriate
Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

8

NHS Boards must ensure arrangements are in place to provide adequate cover
across the whole of the festive holiday period.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

While there is no national requirement to have 7 day IPCT cover, outwith the festive holiday
period, Boards should consider their local IPC arrangements.

9

The NHS Board is prepared for rapidly changing norovirus situations, e.g. the
closure of multiple bays / wards over a couple of days.

Surge capacity planning is
incorporated in the EHSCP
resilience plans

As part of their surge capacity plan, Boards should consider how wards will maintain
capacity in the event that wards are closed due to norovirus.

10

Page 150
11

There will be effective liaison between the IPCTs and the HPTs to optimise
resources and response to the rapidly changing norovirus situation.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

Are there systems in place to deploy norovirus publicity materials information
internally and locally as appropriate,

Materials are available on NHS
internet and CEC Orb for staff to
access.
Any communications are cascaded
through operational and
professional lines to front line staff

12

Boards should consider how their communications Directorate can help inform the
public about any visiting restrictions which might be recommended as a result of a
norovirus outbreak Boards should consider how their communications Directorate
can help inform the public about any visiting restrictions which might be
recommended as a result of COVID-19.

32

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

5

COVID -19, RSV, Seasonal Flu, Staff Protection & Outbreak
Resourcing

RAG

Further Action/Comments

(Assessment of overall winter preparations and further actions required)
Staff, particularly those working in areas with high risk patients such as paediatric,
oncology, maternity, care of the elderly, haematology, ICUs, etc., have been
vaccinated to prevent the potential spread of infection to patients and other staff, as
recommended in the CMOs seasonal flu vaccination letter published on Adult flu
immunisation programme 2021/22 (scot.nhs.uk) and Scottish childhood and school
flu immunisation programme 2021/22 . Further CMO letters will be issued before
the flu season begins to provide further details on aspects of the programme,
including the marketing campaign and details of education resources for staff
administering vaccinations.

EHSCP is working closely with
colleagues from NHS Lothian and
nationally to implement the winter
vaccination programme, starting in
September and aiming to have all
eligible people vaccinated by 6
December 2021.

Page 151

This will include existing eligible
groups, NHS Lothian staff and
social care staff delivering direct
personal care, and additional
groups added this year such as
independent contractors, teachers
and prison officers.
The winter vaccination programme
will be offered acute sites, through
peer vaccination and by selfregistering to attend one of 11
vaccination sites/2 drive-through
sites being made available across
Edinburgh.

33

2

All of our staff have easy and convenient access to the seasonal flu vaccine. In line
with recommendations in CMO Letter clinics are available at the place of work
and include clinics during early, late and night shifts, at convenient locations.

Drop-in clinics are also available for staff unable to make their designated
appointment and peer vaccination is facilitated to bring vaccine as close to the
place of work for staff as possible.
It is the responsibility of health care staff to get vaccinated to protect themselves from
seasonal flu and in turn protect their vulnerable patients, but NHS Boards have
responsibility for ensuring vaccine is easily and conveniently available; that sufficient
vaccine is available for staff vaccination programmes; that staff fully understand the role flu
vaccination plays in preventing transmission of the flu virus and that senior management
and clinical leaders with NHS Boards fully support vaccine delivery and uptake.
Vaccine uptake will be monitored weekly by performance & delivery division

Online booking for self-registration
will go live on 13 September with
vaccinations offered on acute sites,
through peer vaccination and by
self-registering to attend one of 11
vaccination sites/2 drive-through
sites being made available across
Edinburgh. The aim is to ensure
the programme is as accessible as
possible and provide flexibility
around work commitments.

Page 152

The Community Vaccination Team
will lead on the school programme
covering both staff and pupils in
primary and secondary schools.
Full guidance is still awaited from
the JCVI and centrally, including
whether there will be a need for
COVID booster doses, so there
may still be alterations to these
plans as that position becomes
clearer.

34

3

The winter plan takes into account the predicted surge of seasonal flu activity that
can happen between October and March and we have adequate resources in
place to deal with potential flu outbreaks across this period.
If there are reported flu outbreaks during the season, where evidence shows that
vaccination uptake rates are not particularly high, NHS Boards may undertake targeted
immunisation. SG procures additional stocks of flu vaccine which is added to the stocks
that Health Boards receive throughout the season, which they can draw down, if required.
Antiviral prescribing for seasonal influenza may also be undertaken when influenza rates
circulating in the community reach a trigger level (advice on this is generated by a CMO
letter to health professionals co-ordinated and issued by the Vaccinations Strategy
Division.)

4

PHS weekly updates, showing the current epidemiological picture on COVID-19,
RSV and influenza infections across Scotland, will be routinely monitored over the
winter period to help us detect early warning of imminent surges in activity.

Page 153

Public Health Scotland and the Vaccinations Strategy Division within the Scottish
Government monitor influenza rates during the season and take action where necessary,
The Outbreak Management and Health Protection Team brief Ministers of outbreak/peaks
in influenza activity where necessary. PHS produce a weekly influenza bulletin and a
distillate of this is included in the PHS Winter Pressures Bulletin.

5

Adequate resources are in place to manage potential outbreaks of COVID-19,
RSV and seasonal flu that might coincide with norovirus, severe weather and
festive holiday periods.
NHS board contingency plans have a specific entry on plans to mitigate the potential
impact of potential outbreaks of seasonal influenza to include infection control, staff
vaccination and antiviral treatment and prophylaxis. Contingency planning to also
address patient management, bed management, staff redeployment and use of reserve
bank staff and include plans for deferral of elective admissions and plans for alternative
use of existing estate or opening of reserve capacity to offset the pressures.

35

EHSCP has sufficient capacity to
meet the demands of the winter
vaccination programme and is
ensuring that appropriate training is
in place to facilitate it.

Regular updates from NHS Lothian
Public Health and Infection
Prevention and Control Teams
regarding outbreaks and availability
of flu vaccines.

Partnership resilience plans are
now in place (subject to review /
updating) and detail the required
resourcing / response to dealing
with concurrent events which may
include prioritisation to essential
services only.

6

Ensure that sufficient numbers of staff from high risk areas where aerosol
generating procedures are likely to be undertaken such as Emergency
Department, Assessment Units, ID units, Intensive Care Units and respiratory
wards (as a minimum) are fully aware of all IPC policies and guidance, FFP3 fittested and trained in the use of PPE for the safe management of suspected
COVID-19, RSV and flu cases and that this training is up-to-date.

All staff have access to PPE and
training. This is monitored via
safety huddles, Care Inspectorate,
care home support teams, PQIs,
IPCTs and informally by team
leads, senior charge nurses, care
home managers.

Colleagues are reminded of the legal responsibility to control substances
hazardous to health in the workplace, and to prevent and adequately control
employees’ exposure to those substances under all the Regulations listed
in the HSE’s ‘Respiratory protective equipment at work’ of HSG53 (Fourth
edition, published 2013). https://www.hse.gov.uk/pUbns/priced/hsg53.pdf
7

Page 154
8

Staff in specialist cancer & treatment wards, long stay care of the elderly and
mental health (long stay) will also will be required to continue to undertake
asymptomatic weekly testing for COVID-19 throughout this period. We are
actively reviewing the current asymptomatic Healthcare Worker testing
Operational Definitions to ensure they are still fit for purpose.

Weekly PCRs continue to be
undertaken in HBCCC -frail elderly
and old age psychiatry areas.
This is supplemented by LFT
testing

Ensure continued support for care home staff asymptomatic LFD and PCR testing
and wider social services staff testing.

Weekly PCR testing of care home
staff has now transferred from NHS
Lighthouse to the NHS Lothian
Lauriston Hub.

This also involves the transition of routine weekly care home staff testing from
NHS Lighthouse Lab to NHS Labs. Support will be required for transfer to NHS by
end of November, including maintaining current turnaround time targets for
providing staff results.
Enhanced care home staff testing introduced from 23 December 2020 . This involves
twice weekly LFD in addition to weekly PCR testing review of enhanced staff testing
underway. PCR testing - transition to NHS lab complete. Good level of staff participation in
PCR testing.
Testing has been rolled out to a wide range of other social care services including care at
home, sheltered housing services.

36

9

Page 155
10

NHS Health Boards have outlined performance trajectory for each of the eligible
cohort for seasonal flu vaccine (2020/2021) which will allow for monitoring of take
up against targets and performance reporting on a weekly basis. The eligible
cohorts are as follows:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Adults aged over 65
Those under 65 at risk
Healthcare workers
Unpaid and young carers
Pregnant women (no additional risk factors)
Pregnant women (additional risk factors)
Children aged 2-5
Primary School aged children
Frontline social care workers
55-64 year olds in Scotland who are not already eligible for flu vaccine and
not a member of shielding household
Eligible shielding households

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete
EHSCP are operationally
responsible for the Vaccination
Programme and will monitor uptake
with NHS colleagues and adjust
any delivery arrangements to
ensure performance trajectory is on
target ie use of bus for ‘pop up’,
opening up more appointments

The vaccinations are expected to start this week (week commencing 28th
September), and we will be working with Boards to monitor vaccine uptake. This
will include regular reporting that will commence from day 1 of the programme
utilising automated data collection methods for performance monitoring. Public
Health Scotland will report weekly.
Low risk –
Any care facility where: a) triaged/clinically assessed individuals with no
symptoms or known recent COVID-19 contact who have isolated/shielded AND
have a negative SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) test within 72 hours of treatment and,
for planned admissions, have self-isolated from the test date OR b) Individuals
who have recovered from COVID-19 and have had at least 3 consecutive days
without fever or respiratory symptoms and a negative COVID-19 test OR c)
patients or individuals are regularly tested (remain negative)

37

EHSCP follows NHS Lothian
guidance on classification of wards
with all areas classed as Amber
(medium) risk. We follow COVID
pathways for those in, admitted to
or transferred into our service using
both local and national infection
control standards and risk
assessments.

Medium risk
Any care facility where: a) triaged/clinically assessed individuals are
asymptomatic and are waiting a SARSCoV-2 (COVID-19) test result with no
known recent COVID-19 contact OR b) testing is not required or feasible on
asymptomatic individuals and infectious status is unknown OR c) asymptomatic
individuals decline testing

Page 156
11

http://www.nipcm.hps.scot.nhs.uk/scott
ish-covid-19-infection-prevention-andcontrol-addendum-for-acutesettings/#a2732

High risk
Any care facility where: a) untriaged individuals present for assessment or
treatment (symptoms unknown) OR b) confirmed SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19)
positive individuals are cared for OR c) symptomatic or suspected COVID-19
individuals including those with a history of contact with a COVID-19 case, who
have been triaged/clinically assessed and are waiting test results OR d)
symptomatic individuals who decline testing
So all emergency admissions where COVID-19 status is unknown/awaited will fall
into the medium risk pathways until testing can be undertaken to allow them to
transition into green.
All NHS Scotland Health Boards have provided assurance that all emergency and
all elective patients are offered testing prior to admission.

Not applicable – NHS Lothian to
complete

Testing after admission should continue to be provided where clinically appropriate for
example where the person becomes symptomatic or is part of a COVID-19 cluster.

12

Staff should be offered testing when asymptomatic as part of a COVID-19 incident
or outbreak investigation at ward level when unexpected cases are identified. This
will be carried out in line with existing staff screening policy for healthcare
associated infection: https://www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/dl/DL(2020)01.pdf
In mid-February 2021, the scope of the LFD testing pathway was expanded further to
include patient facing primary care staff (general practice, pharmacy, dentistry, optometry),
hospice staff, and NHS24 and SAS call handlers. Some hospice staff had been included
in the original scope where staff worked between hospitals and hospices, so this addition
brought all patient facing hospice staff into the testing programme.

38

These decisions are made at IMTs
in conjunction with IPCT and
partnership (union) representatives

On the 17 March Scottish Government announced that the scope of the HCW testing
pathway would be further expanded to include all NHS workers. The roll out is currently
underway and we expect that all Boards across Scotland will have fully implemented the
roll-out of twice weekly lateral flow testing to eligible staff by the end of June 2021. This
will include staff who may have been shielding or working from home and is in line with
national guidance.
Current guidance on healthcare worker testing is available here, including full operational
definitions: https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-COVID-19-healthcare-workertesting/

6
1
1.1

RAG

Respiratory Pathway

Further Action/Comments

(Assessment of overall winter preparations and further actions required)
There is an effective, co-ordinated respiratory service provided by the NHS board.

Page 157

Clinicians (GP’s, Out of Hours services, A/E departments and hospital units) are
familiar with their local pathway for patients with different levels of severity of
exacerbation in their area.

Multi-disciplinary Community
Respiratory Hub is well established
in Edinburgh. Annually, GPs, Out
of Hours, SAS receive winter
reminder of service available to
prompt clinicians to access
this highly effective community
service. Fortnightly MDT meeting
held at RIE to discuss COPD
patients at risk and strengthen links
between RIE and community
services.
Between April 2020 and March
2021 414 people who were at
immediate high risk of hospital
admission were assessed by the
Community Respiratory Team
within the hub. 84% of these
people were able to be safely kept
at home.

39

1.2

Plans are in place to extend and enhance home support respiratory services over a
7 day period where appropriate.

Page 158

Multi-disciplinary Community
Respiratory Hub operates 7 day
week, 8am-6pm weekdays and
0830am-4pm weekends with acute
response to COPD exacerbations.
90min response pathway in place
for COPD exacerbations referred
from Scottish Ambulance Service
and Flow Centre. Prof to Prof
support line set up with Respiratory
Consultant for Community
Respiratory Hub to escalate
decision making if necessary
and/or fast track to hot clinic during
winter period.
The Community Respiratory Hub
will increase staffing capacity to
support a larger group of patients
to include all those with acute
respiratory illness over the winter
period, including at the weekend.
This may include supporting
appropriate hospital discharge of
COVID-19 patients, with an
existing respiratory condition.
Enhanced staffing is also planned
for over the festive weekend
periods to support respiratory care
in the community.

40

1.3

Anticipatory Care/ Palliative care plans for such patients are available to all staff at
all times.
Consider use of an effective pre admission assessment/checklist i.e. appropriate medication
prescribed, correct inhaler technique, appropriate O2 prescription, referred to the right
hospital/right department, referred directly to acute respiratory assessment service where in
place..
Consider use of self-management tools including anticipatory care plans/asthma care plans
and that patients have advice information on action to take/who to contact in the event of an
exacerbation.
Patients should have their regular and emergency medication to hand, their care needs are
supported and additional care needs identified (should they have an exacerbation).

Page 159
1.4

Simple messages around keeping warm etc. are well displayed at points of contact,
and are covered as part of any clinical review. This is an important part of ‘preparing
for winter for HCPs and patients.
Simple measures are important in winter for patients with chronic disease/COPD. For
example, keeping warm during cold weather and avoiding where possible family and friends
with current illness can reduce the risk of exacerbation and hospitalisation.

41

Individuals at high risk of admission
identified via COPD frequent
attender database. High risk
patients reviewed at consultant led
multi-disciplinary team meeting
using care bundle checklist.
ACP/KIS generated for high risk
patients shared across the health
system via TRAK alert and
ACP created using KIS. Special
notes of KIS created to alert all
staff across the health system to
contact Community Respiratory
Team for COPD exacerbation.
Patients issued with self
management ACP and ‘Think
COPD Think CRT’ fridge magnet to
prompt them to
‘MyCOPD’ is an app to support
people living with Chronic
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
(COPD) to remotely selfmanage their condition.
Key messages are sent to all
patients with COPD known to CRT
including fridge magnet of CRT
contact details as first point of
contact should the patient feel
unwell with their COPD. Simple
advice given by all HCPs to keep
warm and hydrated over the winter
period

2
2.1

There is effective discharge planning in place for people with chronic respiratory disease including COPD
Discharge planning includes medication review, ensuring correct usage/dosage
(including O2), checking received appropriate immunisation, good inhaler technique,
advice on support available from community pharmacy, general advice on keeping
well e.g. keeping warm, eating well, smoking cessation.
Local arrangements should be made to ensure that the actions described are done in the
case of all admissions, either in hospital, before discharge, or in Primary Care soon after
discharge, by a clinician with sufficient knowledge and skills to perform the review and make
necessary clinical decisions (specifically including teaching or correcting inhaler technique).

Page 160

Community respiratory Hub will
support the discharge plan by
ensuring a holistic assessment and
management plan is put in place,
This may include medication
review, ensuring correct
usage/dosage (including O2),
checking received appropriate
immunisation, good inhaler
technique, advice on support
available from community
pharmacy, general advice on
keeping well e.g. keeping warm,
eating well, smoking cessation.

2.2

All necessary medications and how to use them will be supplied on hospital
discharge and patients will have their planned review arranged with the appropriate
primary, secondary or intermediate care team.

3

People with chronic respiratory disease including COPD are managed with anticipatory and palliative care approaches
and have access to specialist palliative care if clinically indicated.

3.1

Anticipatory Care Plan's (ACPs) will be completed for people with significant COPD
and Palliative Care plans for those with end stage disease.
Spread the use of ACPs and share with Out of Hours services.
Consider use of SPARRA/Risk Prediction Models to identify those are risk of emergency
admission over winter period.

42

Dedicated pharmacist within
community respiratory
hub. Medication review will be
carried out at initial assessment by
the Community Respiratory Hub.
Access to specialist pharmacy
review available if required

Individuals with COPD at high risk
of admission are proactively
identified via COPD frequent
attender database which is
refreshed every 6-8 weeks. KIS
accessible by primary & secondary
care, LUCS and SAS out of hours.

SPARRA Online: Monthly release of SPARRA data,
Consider proactive case/care management approach targeting people with heart failure,
COPD and frail older people.

4

Page 161

4.1

TRAK alert as prompt for prompt to
acute services COPD KIS in place.
COPD patients issued with ACP
self management plan and ‘Think
COPD Think CRT’ fridge magnet to
prompt contacting CRT in event of
exacerbation as alternative to
emergency services. 918 of
patients actively managing their
condition using LiteTouch
telehealth – with dedicated CRT
support line should their condition
deteriorate.

There is an effective and co-ordinated domiciliary oxygen therapy service provided by the NHS board
Staff are aware of the procedures for obtaining/organising home oxygen services.
Staff have reviewed and are satisfied that they have adequate local access to
oxygen concentrators and that they know how to deploy these where required. If
following review, it is deemed that additional equipment is needed to be held locally
for immediate access, please contact Health Facilities Scotland for assistance (0131
275 6860)
Appropriate emergency plans/contacts are in place to enable patients to receive
timely referral to home oxygen service over winter/festive period.
Contingency arrangements exist, particularly in remote and rural areas, and
arrangements are in place to enable clinical staff in these communities to access
short term oxygen for hypoxaemic patients in cases where hospital admission or
long term oxygen therapy is not clinically indicated.
Take steps to remind primary care of the correct pathway for accessing oxygen, and its
clinical indications.

43

Patients with COPD should aim to
have oxygen saturations on air of
88% or above at rest if doesn’t
have LTOT at home.
If a patient is acutely unwell with
lower oxygen saturations they
should be referred to hospital for
treatment which may include acute
oxygen therapy
If a patient is stable and oxygen
saturations on air are 88% or below
then they should be referred for
an LTOT assessment at the
respiratory outpatient clinic. There
is no evidence for only ambulatory
oxygen for patients with COPD.

Once a patient receives LTOT they
will be given the appropriate
system for their requirements.
5

People with an exacerbation of chronic respiratory disease/COPD have access to oxygen therapy and supportive
ventilation where clinically indicated.

5.1

Emergency care contact points have access to pulse oximetry.
Take steps to ensure that all points of first contact with such patients can assess for
hypoxaemia, and are aware of those patients in their area who are at risk of CO2 retention.
Such patients should be known to Ambulance services, Out of Hours Emergency centres and
A/E departments, either through electronic notifications such as eKIS, or by patient help
cards, message in a bottle etc.

Page 162
44

Currently 918 CRT patients on Lite
Touch/ Self Referral have a pulse
oximeter at home. There is
capacity for this to increase and
pulse oximeters are available.

7

RAG

Key Roles / Services

Further Action/Comments

Heads of Service
Nursing / Medical Consultants
Consultants in Dental Public Health

Not applicable, done through PCCO

AHP Leads
Infection Control Managers
Managers Responsible for Capacity & Flow
Pharmacy Leads
Mental Health Leads

Page 163

Business Continuity / Resilience Leads, Emergency Planning Managers
OOH Service Managers
GP’s
NHS 24
SAS
Other Territorial NHS Boards, eg mutual aid

Not applicable

Independent Sector
Local Authorities, inc LRPs & RRPs
Integration Joint Boards
Strategic Co-ordination Group

Through Chief Officer

Third Sector
SG Health & Social Care Directorate

Through Chief Officer

45

COVID-19 Surge Bed Capacity Template

Annex A

Baseline
ICU
Capacity
PART A:
ICU

Double
‘Triple plus’
Capacity and
Capacity
Commitment Commitment
to deliver in to deliver in
one week
two weeks

Please confirm that your NHS Board
can deliver the stated level of ICU
Capacity in the time periods set out

Page 164

PART B:
CPAP

Please set out the maximum
number of COVID-19 patients
(at any one time) that could be
provided CPAP in your NHS
Board, should it be required

PART C:
Acute

Please set out the maximum
number of acute beds that your
NHS Board would re-provision
for COVID-19 patients (share of
3,000 nationally), should it be
required

46

ICU
Max
Surge
Beds

Y - Correct /
N Incorrect with
comment

Please list assumptions &
consequences to other service
provision to meeting these
requirements

Annex B
Infection Prevention and Control COVID-19 Outbreak Checklist
(Refer to the National Infection Prevention and Control Manual (NIPCM) for further information
http://www.nipcm.hps.scot.nhs.uk/ )

This COVID-19 tool is designed for the control of incidents and outbreak in healthcare settings.
Definitions: 2 or more confirmed or suspected cases of COVID-19 within the same area within 14 days where cross
transmission has been identified.
Confirmed case: anyone testing positive for COVID-19
Suspected case: anyone experiencing symptoms indicative of COVID (not yet confirmed by virology)

Page 165

This tool can be used within a COVID-19 ward or when there is an individual case or multiple cases.
Standard Infection Control Precautions;
Apply to all staff, in all care settings,

at all times, for all patients when blood, body fluids or recognised/unrecognised source of

infection are present.
Patient Placement/Assessment of risk/Cohort area

Date
Patient placement is prioritised in a suitable area pending investigation such as for a single case i.e. single room with clinical
wash hand basin and en-suite facilities
Cohort areas are established for multiple cases of confirmed COVID-19 (if single rooms are unavailable). Suspected cases
should be cohorted separately until confirmed. Patients should be separated by at least 2 metres if cohorted.
Doors to isolation/cohort rooms/areas are closed and signage is clear (undertake a patient safety risk assessment for door
closure).
If failure to isolate, inform IPCT. Ensure all patient placement decisions and assessment of infection risk (including
isolation requirements) is clearly documented in the patient notes and reviewed throughout patient stay.
Patient placement is reviewed as the care pathway changes. NB: Patients may be moved into suspected or confirmed COVID-19
cohorts or wards to support bed management.
Personal Protective Clothing (PPE)

47

1. PPE requirements: PPE should be worn in accordance with the COVID 19 IPC addendum for the relevant sector:
• Acute settings
• Care home
• Community health and care settings
2. All staff should wear a FRSM in accordance with the updated guidance on face coverings, which can be found here.

Safe Management of Care Equipment
Single-use items are in use where possible.
Dedicated reusable non-invasive care equipment is in use and decontaminated between uses. Where it cannot be dedicated
ensure equipment is decontaminated following removal from the COVID-19 room/cohort area and prior to use on another patient.
Safe Management of the Care Environment

Page 166

All areas are free from non-essential items and equipment.
At least twice daily decontamination of the patient isolation room/cohort rooms/areas is in place using a combined
detergent/disinfectant solution at a dilution of 1,000 parts per million (ppm) available chlorine (av.cl.).
Increased frequency of decontamination (at least twice daily)is incorporated into the environmental decontamination schedules
for areas where there may be higher environmental contamination rates e.g. “frequently touched" surfaces such as door/toilet
handles and locker tops, over bed tables and bed rails.
Terminal decontamination is undertaken following patient transfer, discharge, or once the patient is no longer considered
infectious.
Hand Hygiene
Staff undertake hand hygiene as per WHO 5 moments: using either ABHR or soap and water
Movement Restrictions/Transfer/Discharge
Patients with suspected/confirmed COVID should not be moved to other wards or departments unless this is for essential care
such as escalation to critical care or essential investigations.
Discharge home/care facility:
Follow the latest advice in COVID-19 - guidance for stepdown of infection control precautions and discharging COVID-19
patients from hospital to residential settings.
Respiratory Hygiene
Patients are supported with hand hygiene and provided with disposable tissues and a waste bag

Information and Treatment
Patient/Carer informed of all screening/investigation result(s).
Patient Information Leaflet if available or advice provided?

48

Education given at ward level by a member of the IPCT on the IPC COVID guidance?
Staff are provided with information on testing if required

Page 167
49

Impact / Effect on
Flow

Overall
Workforce

Business Unit Proposal

Option

Description

Edinburgh

Winter

Edinburgh
Community
Respiratory Hub

Enhance CRT
capacity 1 WTE
APP physio, 2
WTE specialist
PT

Prevent attendance AHP
/ admission

3

Edinburgh

Winter

Hub Social Worker
Enhancement

Enhance hospital
social care
assessments and
completion
within 72 hours ,
4 WTE SW, 2
WTE SSW

Support Flow from Social
RIE/ WGH - target is Workers
90% of 11B's (
20/21 achieved a
58% reduction)

6

Page 168

Edinburgh

Edinburgh

Winter

Winter

Supported
Support flow from
discharge of
RIE
patients with
C19, monitoring
respiratory
symptoms and
facilitating
oxygen weaning.

Funding £k

Period to cover

45 4 months

130

4 months

Medium

Agreed for Winter
Funding - Recruitment
underway however
few/no appropriate
candidates at first
atttempt

Implementation Status

Recruitment has been difficult due to lack of interest and available candidates.
Despite this, there has been a steady flow of non-COPD respiratory patients that are
still able to access physiotherapy through referral to Physio@Home and there have
been six referrals to date. This service have been meeting the needs of these
patients Mon-Fri and saw a slight increase in activity over the festive weekend and
public holidays. This is having a small impact on the Physio@Home routine waiting
list and we are in the process of exploring a couple of locum candidates, through the
StaffBank to enhance staffing within Physio@Home.
Slippage has occurred due to the above mentioned recruitment challenges.

Despite three attempts to recruit to 4 WTE social worker and 2 WTE senior social
worker posts we have been unable to find suitable candidates. A fourth round of
recruitment has now taken place with more success. Interviews were held on
14/1/22 for three full-time Home First social workers, the intention being that these
posts will be made permanent.
Slippage has occurred due to the above mentioned recruitment challenges.

Discharge to Assess Enhance D2A
Support Flow from AHP
skill mis and
acture sites and
enhance
reduce delays
capacity - 4 WTE
assistant
practitioners,
one per locality

Early supported
discharge C19

WTE

Likelihood
to
Achieve Comments added
by
December
Medium Agreed for Winter
Funding - Recruitment
underway

AHP

4

0.5

47 4 months

9 4 months

High

Medium

Not agreed through
Winter Funding
previously - EHSCP agreed
to find resourcs and
recruitment underway on
a permanent basis as per
agreement with Tom
Cowan - Additional
Winter Funding now
requested

Recruitment to these posts has been delayed as a result of challenges in advertising
the vacancies. Despite this, interviews were held on 17/1/22 with a strong field of
candidates and we are confident that posts will be filled.

Previously agreed for
Winter Funding Recruitment underway

Plans have been put in place, although we were unable to recruit 0.2 WTE Band 7
Advanced Physiotherapist.

These posts are being made permanent and will be based within the Home First
service, improving patient flow and reducing length of stay.
Slippage has occurred due to the above mentioned recruitment challenges.

Patients discharged via this pathway continue to have a complex presentation with
all patients discharged in November and December being on oxygen.
CRT clinicians have supported 20 patients so far, and it is estimated that from these
patients, there has been a total of 140 bed days saved.
Slippage has occurred due to the above mentioned recruitment challenges.

Evaluation of Winter 2021/22
NHS Board:
Health & Social Care Partnerships:

NHS Lothian
West Lothian
Edinburgh
East Lothian
Midlothian

Winter Planning Executive Lead:

Alison MacDonald, Chief Officer,
East Lothian Health & Social Care
Partnership

Introduction

Page 169

To continue to improve winter planning across NHS Lothian and the four Health and Social Care Partnerships (HSCP’s) we are asking colleagues to
complete this winter evaluation for 2021/22. This is a beneficial exercise which helps to identify lessons learned and key priorities areas for Winter
2022/23.
Completed evaluations should be sent to Louise.Baillie@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk no later than close of play on Thursday 21st April 2022.
Thank you for your continuing support.
Iain Gorman
Head of Operations, East Lothian HSCP
Unscheduled Care Tactical Committee Chair

Jill Gillies
Director
Unscheduled Care Programme

1.0

Overall process to support Winter Planning and Funding 2021/22
(Please consider how the new process worked for you and your teams. No longer bidding for funding, the release of funding earlier/set amount, recruitment
processes etc.)

1.1

What went well?




Page 170

1.2

What could have gone better?







1.3

The new process for allocating funds was positive. The Partnership was made aware of available funding early in the winter planning
process and was free to allocate them as desired based on previously identified local priorities which were also aligned with other
programmes of work.
It removed the need for service managers to take time out to prepare proposals for consideration by the USC with no guarantee of
success.
Availability of funding earlier in the year enabled recruitment to start ahead of Winter however ultimately this remained a challenge
for reasons outlined below.

Recruitment to key service areas to support reducing admissions/re-admissions and delayed discharges proved to be a significant
challenge. This was a sector-wide issue but worsened in Edinburgh due to the competitiveness of the local recruitment market. The
increased demand for staff from across the system also made it difficult to source suitably qualified candidates.
Navigating the NHS recruitment systems is further complicated where services are managed by a local authority employee as may be
the case for a HSCP
o the authorisation process for going to advert can be delayed with no direct link or support available, and
o a post was approved but then deleted in error resulting in the process needing to start again and taking six weeks in total.
Where successful candidates are new to the NHS, completing the necessary checks prior to taking up post can be lengthy.
The induction period for new staff can be significant, with some staff required to achieve the desired band competency during that
time. In certain cases, this took up to 12 weeks and impacted on their ability to support winter pressures.
These issues were not limited to short-term contracts but also experienced for roles the Partnership was recruiting to on a
permanent basis and would be funding after the end of winter.

Key Lessons / Actions


Attracting the required number of potential candidates for short-term contracts has historically been difficult. In future there will be
a need to weigh up the recruitment timescale and training costs involved against the potential benefits accrued.

2.0

Impact of Winter Interventions
(Please consider how effective your interventions have been and include any evidence you may have on impact. Anything you would do differently going
forward?)

2.1

What went well?




Page 171





2.2

Although unable to recruit to additional CRT+ posts as planned, the Physio@Home service supported non-COPD respiratory patients
in Edinburgh with a referral pathway on SCI-Gateway and professional lines for this group. There were a total of 13 referrals to the
service during the winter period with minimal impact to their routine waiting list or delivery of their normal weekend service. There
were a total of 32 interventions (13 face-to-face and 19 telephone calls). Physio@Home involvement provided an improved
experience for the patients as there were fewer hand offs, with the service able to provide follow-up intervention to support other
non-respiratory symptoms or needs.
CRT further built on the success of the test of change done in Wards 203/204 at the RIE earlier in 2021 to support the discharge of
COVID19 patients. Patients continued to have a complex presentation with all patients discharged during November 2021 to January
2022 requiring long-term oxygen. This also involved an increased number of interventions, in some cases spanning several months.
CRT clinicians supported them in navigating the system, ensuring appropriate follow-up from the wider MDT and overseeing the
oxygen weaning process. There were 20 referrals over the reporting period with average number of days on oxygen being 27 days
(range 0-147). The average number of days on the CRT caseload was 41 days (range 5-147). No new referrals were received during
February and March indicating a trend towards reducing demand, and all patients have now been discharged from the service.
The locality-based Discharge to Assess teams took on meeting the additional demands of winter and were supported in this by the
wider Hub therapy team therapists as required. This ensured discharges were still supported but ability to support prevention of
admission functions had to be monitored to ensure they were not being negatively affected. The additional permanent posts which
were planned are now filled and in the post learning and development stage, meaning they will support the wider teams going
forward.
The VOCAL Surviving Christmas programme supported 105 unpaid carers (114 in total as carers could be accompanied) across a
range of interventions. An evaluation has shown high levels of improvement in areas of mental health and social interaction, but also
improved relationships, financial situation and confidence. It was well received with participants reporting feeling less isolated,
having improved wellbeing and for many, the funding enabled them to access supports they would not otherwise have been able to
afford at that time of year.

What could have gone better?


Recruitment of experienced social work staff was exceptionally challenging despite being advertised on a permanent basis. The 4
WTE social worker (SW) and 2 WTE senior social worker (SSW) posts were re-advertised four times however it was not until January
2022 that recruitment to the 4 SW posts was successful. Following employment checks, three of these candidates were offered a
start date between March and April. The fourth unfortunately took up an offer from another local authority. Recruitment to the SSW





2.3

Key Lessons / Actions


Page 172




3.0

posts has been unsuccessful to date but will be re-advertised this month. These posts will enhance acute hospital social work
capacity but with a focus on a Home First approach. A SW will be part of a dedicated team at the ‘front door’ where the focus is on
the patient for the first 72 hours, supporting them and ensuring early conversations with the person and their family/carer to assist
and influence discharge. It is anticipated that this will reduce the numbers being admitted and enabling prompt discharges from the
‘front door’.
We were unable to recruit to additional Band 6 physiotherapy posts to support CRT+ due to lack of interest and suitable candidates.
Recruitment to the Discharge to Assess assistant practitioner posts took several months to complete, with start dates only
commencing the week of 21st and 28th March.
Level of weekend activity and discharges across the system remains a concern.

The challenge of recruiting Band 6 CRT roles on a temporary basis and the ‘pool’ of internal staff from Physio@Home/associated
services that have previously shown interest has now been exhausted.
The COVID19 pathway time for oxygen weaning was longer than expected due to their complexity of the patient group but the
project highlighted that this can be facilitated in the community by a specialist respiratory team.
Carers should continue to be supported as a means of sustaining their caring role, improving their resilience, and relieving some
potential pressure on health and social care services.

Top Five Priorities for Winter 2022/3
1. Progress work around Home First including a 12-month plan aligning with Urgent and Unscheduled Care, and more specifically the
Discharge without Delay (DwD) programme.
2. Enhance hospital based social work capacity to deliver on DwD ambitions. This would include development of dedicated, site-based
hospital teams focussing on early identification, assessment and pull, arranging timely community support and enable PDD, with
designated teams allocated to individual wards. A proposal has been submitted from Edinburgh HSCP for additional funding
following the release of recurring funding from Scottish Government to provide additional social work capacity within local
authorities, but this is highly unlikely to be met in full, so winter funding can be used to augment.
3. Supporting community-based services within the Partnership to provide care in the community and avoid emergency admissions.
Learning from the Home First Prevention of Admission / Frequent Attenders workplan will inform.
4. Explore the CRT+ model for future winters including the skill mix in CRT and Physio@Home. This is being explored through the
Interface Care Group.
5. Work more closely with third sector organisations to relieve pressure on health and social care services and provide communitybased care and support for local residents. This will include any learning from the DwD pathfinder sites working with the Red Cross.

Evaluation of Edinburgh HSCP Performance – Winter 2021-22
Overall commentary
Since October 2021 the EIJB has received updates describing the significant system pressures being
faced by the wider Lothian health and social care system as society opened up and restrictions
eased. This is also reflected nationally and many of these pressures are not new although they have
been exacerbated by the EU exit and the covid pandemic.
We saw both an increase in referrals to our Assessment and Care Management teams for requests
for service, and an increasing number of people being assessed as requiring a service since March
2021. Other drivers for increasing demand include people being de-conditioned (i.e. frailer, less
confident) following periods of lockdown, family/unpaid carers who are exhausted having cared for
people during the pandemic returning to work following furlough, and a general build-up of demand
emerging as messaging about services being ‘open as usual’ have been released. Coupled with this
increasing demand for services, we were also faced with a decrease in care capacity available to
support people, compounding an already challenging position.
As a result, we entered winter 2021 in an already difficult position with pressures being felt across
the health and social care system. This was reflected in the high number of delays at the start of the
winter period. Despite this challenging position, we were able to maintain delays at a relatively
similar level throughout December and January, avoiding the increase in the number of delays
usually seen in January each year.
Since January, our delays have been on a decreasing trend through the remainder of winter, with
delays in March 18% lower than in November, a trend that has not been seen in previous years. This
has also bucked the national trend, with a 14% drop in delays at census point for 18+ between the
peak in January and March in Edinburgh compared to a 7% rise across the rest of Scotland and a 17%
drop in monthly bed days occupied for 18+ between the peak in January and March in Edinburgh
compared to a 5% rise across the rest of Scotland1.

1

Taken from Public Health Scotland’s monthly delayed discharges report https://publichealthscotland.scot/publications/delayed-discharges-in-nhsscotland-monthly/delayeddischarges-in-nhsscotland-monthly-figures-for-march-2022/

Page 173

1.0 Delayed Discharge
1.1 Average number of delay discharge* (DD) patients by month during the winter
period
This covers Edinburgh HSCP, acute and non-acute sites.
The average number of delayed discharge patients for the winter months across Edinburgh acute
and non-acute sites have increased by 141% in comparison with the previous winter 2020/21. This is
an increase of 40% in comparison to the pre covid winter 2019/20. This data doesn’t include delayed
discharge numbers in the Royal Edinburgh Hospital.

Average Delayed Discharge Patients During Winter
2019-2022
250
200
150
100
50
0

November

December

January

February

March

2019-20

135

135

172

167

138

2020-21

73

79

94

84

104

2021-22

217

222

223

207

178

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

*Standard delays plus code 9 delays – this definition matches the nationally reported delay figures.

1.2 Average Delay Discharge (DD) in community settings
Average number of Delay Discharge (DD) patients by month during the winter period in community
hospitals and interim placement. This covers Edinburgh HSCP non-acute sites, with the exception of
the Royal Edinburgh Hospital. Average number of delayed discharge patients have increased by 96%
this winter in comparison to the previous winter.

Page 174

Average Delayed Discharged Patients During Winter
2019-2022
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

November

December

January

February

March

2019/20

40

42

42

33

35

2020/21

30

24

32

36

47

2021/22

65

72

74

69

52

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

1.3 Average Delayed Discharge Edinburgh 2021-22
The below graph shows the trends on delayed discharge patients during the year 2021 and 2022 in
Edinburgh. The average number of patients delayed in acute and non- acute settings was steady
during the first five months of the year however these delays have increased since May 2021.

Average number of Delayed Discharge Patients
2021-22
250

217

200

172

150
100

94

84

104

113

120

193
169

186

132

50
0

Page 175

222

223

207
178

179

1.4 Average number of delayed discharge patients in acute sites 2021-22

Average Number of Delayed Discharge Patients in Acute
Settings 2021-22
180

161

149

160
131

140

160

159

148

135

129

135

142

120
100
80

72

60

70

93

92

81

60
40
20
0

1.5 Average number of delayed discharge patients in community hospitals 2021-22

Average Number of Delayed discharge Patients in
Community Settings, 2021-22
80

72

70

60

60
47

50
40

32

36

47

43

49

48

53

35

30
20
10
0

Page 176

65

74

69
52

47

1.5 Weekly Average of Delayed Discharge by reason of delay- Social Care Delays 11 A
and 11B during 2021-22.
The graph below shows the weekly average number of social care delays by month in Edinburgh
acute and community hospitals.

Weekly Average Delayed Discharge by 11A & 11B
Winter 2019-22
40
35

29

30
25

23 23

32

29

26

20
15
10
5

3

5

8

7 6
5

11 12

14

34
27
19

17

0 0 1 0 1

1 1

4

2 3

Nov-19
Dec-19
Jan-20
Feb-20
Mar-20
Apr-20
May-20
Jun-20
Jul-20
Aug-20
Sep-20
Oct-20
Nov-20
Dec-20
Jan-21
Feb-21
Mar-21
Apr-21
May-21
Jun-21
Jul-21
Aug-21
Sep-21
Oct-21
Nov-21
Dec-21
Jan-22
Feb-22
Mar-22

0

32

11A

11B

2.0 Length of stay
2.1 Length of Stay in Hospital – Winter Months
The graph below shows a three-year comparison of Length of Stay (days) in acute settings. The
length of stay (LOS) in hospital increased this winter by 5%. LOS days for the winter 2021/22 are still
showing a positive position compared to the year 2019/20 with a reduction of 10%.
The total LOS for the past four winters (2019-2022)

Total Length of Stay During Winter
2019 to 2022
110,000

108,561

105,000
100,000

97,307

95,000

92,406

90,000
85,000
80,000
Total
2019/20

Page
2020/21 177
2021/22

2.2 Length of Stay in Acute Settings
The LOS trend line for year for acute settings show similar steady numbers of days across the year
with the months of winter remaining similar with no heavy changes during months with surge in
demand.

Hospital Length of Stay 2021-22
30,000.00
25,000.00
20,000.00
15,000.00
10,000.00
5,000.00
0.00

3.0 Admissions to A&E
3.1 Attendances to Emergency Department
Despite attendances remaining low this winter, increased complexity, pressures on staffing (partly
due to self-isolation requirements) and reduced flow through hospital resulted in significant
challenges for emergency departments. Attendances have increased compared to the previous
winter; however attendances were lower than 2019-20. A comparison of the past three winter
periods from 2019 -20 to 2021-22 is shown below:

Emergency Department Total Attendances in Edinburgh
Winter 2019-2022
9,000
8,000
7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0

NOVEMBER

DECEMBER

JANUARY

FEBRUARY

MARCH

2019-20

7,878

8,054

8,381

7,762

8,328

2020-21

6,441

6,258

6,113

5,651

6,973

2021-22

7,674

7,168

7,299

7,097

8,102

2019-20

2020-21

Page 178

2021-22

3.2 Admissions to A&E
Emergency admissions in 2021/22 were lower than previous winters. Admissions to A&E decreased
by 9% in comparison to 2020/21. The graph below shows emergency admissions by month, for both
the RIE and WGH sites, across the last three winters.

Emergency Department Admissions in Edinburgh
Winter 2019-2022
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
0

November

December

January

February

March

2019/20

2,697

2,851

2,756

2,501

2,139

2020/21

2,565

2,619

2,599

2,247

2,627

2021/22

2,495

2,418

2,321

2,028

2,285

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8.1

REPORT
Appointments to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and
Committees
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
9 August 2022

Executive
Summary

The purpose of this report is to inform the Board of
changes to membership.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Edinburgh Integration Joint
Board:
1.

Note that NHS Lothian have agreed to re-appoint
Peter Murray as a voting member of the Joint
Board, with effect from 27 June 2022.

2.

Note that NHS Lothian have agreed to appoint
Peter Knight as a voting member of the Joint Board,
with effect from 1 May 2022.

3.

Note that NHS Lothian have agreed to appoint
George Gordon as a voting member of the Joint
Board, with effect from 1 June 2022.

4.

Note that NHS Lothian have agreed to appoint
Elizabeth Gordon as a voting member of the Joint
Board, with effect from 1 August 2022.

5.

Note that The City of Edinburgh Council have
agreed to appoint Councillor Tim Pogson as the
Chair of the Joint Board, with effect from 26 May
2022.

6.

Note that The City of Edinburgh Council have
agreed to appoint Councillor Euan Davidson,
Councillor Max Mitchell, Councillor Vicky Nicolson

Page 181

1|Page

and Councillor Claire Miller as voting members of
the Joint Board, with effect from 26 May 2022.
7.

Note that Councillor Tim Pogson will take up the
position of Vice-Chair of the Strategic Planning
Group, with effect from 9 August 2022.

8.

To appoint Peter Murray as the Chair of the Audit
and Assurance Committee and Elizabeth Gordon,
Councillor Euan Davidson and Councillor Claire
Miller as voting members, with effect from 9 August
2022.

9.

To appoint Councillor Vicky Nicolson as the Chair
of the Clinical and Care Governance Committee
and George Gordon, Peter Knight and Councillor
Claire Miller as voting members, with effect from 9
August 2022.

10. To appoint Councillor Max Mitchell as Chair of the
Performance and Delivery Committee and
Councillor Euan Davidson, George Gordon and
Peter Knight as voting members, with effect from 9
August 2022.
11. To appoint Councillor Max Mitchell and Peter
Murray as voting members of the Strategic
Planning Group, with effect from 9 August 2022
12. Re-appoint Colin Beck to the EIJB as a non-voting
member as Co-Chair of the Professional Advisory
Group.

Directions
Direction to City
of Edinburgh
Council, NHS
Lothian or both
organisations


No direction required



Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS
Lothian

Page 182

2|Page

Report Circulation
This report has not been considered elsewhere.

Main Report
1.

The Joint Board is responsible, in line with section 3 of the Public Bodies (Joint
Working) (Integration Joint Boards) (Scotland) Order 2014 (the Order), for
appointing non-voting members to the Board. The City of Edinburgh Council
and NHS Lothian are responsible, under the same Order, for appointing their
own members to the Joint Board.

2.

In line with section 7 of the Order, the term of office of a member of the Joint
Board is not to exceed three years, but members can be reappointed for a
further term of office.

3.

Written correspondence has been received from NHS Lothian to confirm the
appointment of Peter Knight, Elizabeth Gordon and George Gordon to the
EIJB. The correspondence also confirmed the re-appointment of Peter Murray
to the EIJB.

4.

Written correspondence has also been received from the Professional Advisory
Group to confirm the re-appointment of Colin Beck to the EIJB as its Co-Chair.

5.

The City of Edinburgh Council agreed on 26 May 2022 to appoint Councillor
Tim Pogson as the Chair of the EIJB. The Council also agreed to appoint
Councillors Euan Davidson, Max Mitchell and Vicky Nicolson as voting
members of the EIJB. The Council also agreed on 30 June 2022 to appoint
Councillor Claire Miller as a voting member of the EIJB.

6.

The current voting vacancies of the EIJB Committees are listed below:
a. Audit and Assurance – 3 voting members.
b. Clinical and Care Governance – 4 voting members.
c. Performance and Delivery – 4 voting members.
d. Strategic Planning Group – 3 voting members.

7.

As per the Strategic Planning Group Terms of Reference, the Vice-Chair of the
EIJB will be appointed the Chair of the SPG, and the Chair of the EIJB will act
as Vice-Chair.

8.

The Board is asked to appoint the new members to the vacant Committee
positions.

9.

The Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Diaries for 2022 and 2023 are attached
at appendices 1 and 2. This is intended to give newly appointed members sight

Page 183

3|Page

of the remaining Committee dates for 2022, and the agreed Committee dates
for 2023.

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Financial
10. There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Legal / risk implications
11. Failure to appoint Joint Board members and members of the Strategic Planning
Group would result in the Joint Board failing to meet the requirements of the
Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Integration Joint Boards) (Scotland) Act 2014
and the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Integration Joint Boards) (Scotland)
Order 2014.
12. Equality and integrated impact assessment
13. There are no equalities implications arising from this report.
Environment and sustainability impacts
14. There are no environment or sustainability implications arising from this report.
Quality of care
15. Not applicable.

Consultation
16. None.

Report Author
Judith Proctor
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Contact for further information:
Name: Matthew Brass, Committee Services
Email: matthew.brass@edinburgh.gov.uk

Background Reports
1.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Governance Report, 21 July 2020

2.

Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014

3

Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Integration Joint Boards) (Scotland) Order
2014

Page 184

4|Page

4.

Integration Scheme

Appendices
1. Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and Committee Dates 2022
2. Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and Committee Dates 2023

Page 185

5|Page

Wk5

Mon

6

June

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

7

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

8

June

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

9

June

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

10

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

13

June

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

14

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

15

June

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

16

June

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

17

June

Clinical and Care Governance

a.m.
p.m.

Wk1

Mon

20

June

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

21

June

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

22

June

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

23

June

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

24

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

27

June

a.m.

Page 186

p.m.
Tue

28

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

Thu

29

30

June

June

a.m.

Audit and Assurance (accounts)

p.m.

Strategic Planning Group

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

1

July

a.m.
p.m.

Page 187

(Summer Recess until w/c 1 August 2022)
Wk3

Mon

1

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

2

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

3

August

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

4

August

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

5

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

8

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

9

August

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

10

August

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

11

August

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

12

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

15

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

16

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

17

August

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

18

August

Strategic Planning Group

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

19

August

a.m.
p.m.

Page 188

Wk6

Mon

22

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

23

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

24

August

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

25

August

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

26

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wk1

Mon

29

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

30

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

31

August

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

1

September

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

2

September

a.m.
p.m.

Page 189

Wk2

Mon

5

September

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

6

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

7

September

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

8

September

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

9

September

Clinical and Care Governance

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

12

September

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

13

September

a.m.

Budget Working Group

p.m.
Wed

14

September

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

15

September

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

16

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

19

September

Audit and Assurance

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

20

September

a.m.

p.m.
Wed

21

September

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

22

September

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

23

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

26

September

a.m.

Page 190

p.m.
Tue

27

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

28

September

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Annual Accounts +
Development Session

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

29

September

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

30

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

3

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

4

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

5

October

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

6

October

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

7

October

a.m.
p.m.

Page 191

Wk1

Mon

10

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

11

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

12

October

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

13

October

Strategic Planning Group

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

14

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

17

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

18

October

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

19

October

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

20

October

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

21

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

24

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

25

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

26

October

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

27

October

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

28

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

31

October

a.m.

Page 192

p.m.
Tue

1

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

2

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

3

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

4

November

Clinical and Care Governance

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

7

November

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

8

November

a.m.

Budget Working Group

p.m.
Wed

9

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

10

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

11

November

a.m.
p.m.

Page 193

Wk6

Mon

14

November

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

15

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

16

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

17

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

18

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wk1

Mon

21

November

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

22

November

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Development
Session

p.m.
Wed

23

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

24

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

25

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

28

November

Audit and Assurance

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

29

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

30

November

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

1

December

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

2

December

a.m.
p.m.

Page 194

Wk3

Mon

5

December

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

6

December

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Development
Session

p.m.
Wed

7

December

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

8

December

Strategic Planning Group

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

9

December

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

12

December

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

13

December

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

14

December

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

15

December

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

16

December

a.m.
p.m.

Page 195

Wk5

Mon

19

December

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

20

December

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

21

December

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

22

December

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

23

December

a.m.
p.m.

Page 196

(Christmas and New Year Recess until w/c 9 January 2023)
Wk1

Mon

9

January

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

10

January

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

11

January

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

12

January

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

13

January

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

16

January

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

17

January

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

18

January

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

19

January

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Development
Session

p.m.
Fri

20

January

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

23

January

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

24

January

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

25

January

a.m.

Strategic Planning Group

p.m.
Thu

26

January

a.m.

Budget Working Group

p.m.

Page 197

Fri

27

January

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

30

January

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

31

January

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

1

February

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

2

February

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

3

February

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

6

February

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

7

February

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

8

February

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

9

February

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

10

February

a.m.
p.m.

Page 198

Wk6

Mon

13

February

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

14

February

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

15

February

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

16

February

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

17

February

a.m.

Audit and Assurance

p.m.
Wk1

Mon

20

February

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

21

February

a.m.

Budget Working Group

p.m.
Wed

22

February

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

23

February

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

24

February

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

27

February

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

28

February

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

1

March

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

2

March

a.m.

Clinical and Care Governance

p.m.
Fri

3

March

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

6

March

a.m.

Page 199

p.m.
Tue

7

March

a.m.

Budget Q&A

p.m.
Wed

8

March

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

9

March

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

10

March

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

13

March

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

14

March

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

15

March

a.m.

EIJB Governance Session

p.m.
Thu

16

March

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

17

March

a.m.
p.m.

Page 200

Wk5

Mon

20

March

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

21

March

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (Budget)

p.m.
Wed

22

March

a.m.

Strategic Planning Group

p.m.
Th

23

March

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

24

March

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

27

March

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

28

March

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

29

March

a.m.
p.m.

Th

30

March

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

31

March

a.m.
p.m.

Wk1

Mon

3

April

a.m.
p.m.

Tues

4

April

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

5

April

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

6

April

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

7

April

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

10

April

a.m.

Page 201

p.m.
Tue

11

April

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

12

April

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

13

April

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

14

April

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

17

April

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

18

April

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

19

April

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

20

April

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

21

April

a.m.
p.m.

Page 202

Wk4

Mon

24

April

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

25

April

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

26

April

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

27

April

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

28

April

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

1

May

Audit and Assurance

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

2

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

3

May

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
Development Session

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

4

May

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

5

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

8

May

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

9

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

10

May

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

11

May

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

12

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wk1

Mon

15

May

a.m.

Page 203

p.m.
Tue

16

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

17

May

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

18

May

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

19

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

22

May

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

23

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

24

May

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

25

May

a.m.

Clinical and Care Governance

p.m.
Fri

26

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

29

May

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

30

May

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

31

May

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

1

June

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

2

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

5

June

a.m.
p.m.

Page 204

Tue

6

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

7

June

a.m.

EIJB Governance Session

p.m.
Thu

8

June

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

9

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

12

June

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

13

June

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

14

June

a.m.

Strategic Planning Group

p.m.
Thu

15

June

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

16

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

19

June

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

20

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

21

June

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

22

June

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

23

June

a.m.

Audit and Assurance (accounts)

p.m.
Wk1

Mon

26

June

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

27

June

a.m.

Page 205

p.m.
Wed

28

June

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

31

August

(Summer recess until w/c 1 August 2021)
a.m.
p.m.

Tues

1

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

2

August

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

3

August

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

4

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

7

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

8

August

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

9

August

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

10

August

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

11

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

14

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

15

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

16

August

a.m.

Strategic Planning Group

p.m.
Thu

17

August

a.m.

Page 206

p.m.
Fri

18

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

21

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

22

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

23

August

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

24

August

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

25

August

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

28

August

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

29

August

a.m.

EIJB Governance Session

p.m.
Wed

30

August

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

31

August

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

1

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wk1

Mon

4

September

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

5

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

6

September

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

7

September

a.m.

Clinical and Care Governance

p.m.

Page 207

Fri

8

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wk2

Mon

11

September

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

12

September

a.m.

Budget Working Group

p.m.
Wed

13

September

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

14

September

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

15

September

a.m.

Audit and Assurance

p.m.
Wk3

Mon

18

September

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

19

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

20

September

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

21

September

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

22

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

25

September

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

26

September

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Annual Accounts &
Development Session

p.m.
Wed

27

September

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

28

September

a.m.
p.m.

Page 208

Fri

29

September

a.m.
p.m.

Wk5

Mon

2

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

3

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

4

October

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

5

October

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

6

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

9

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

10

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

11

October

a.m.

Strategic Planning Group

p.m.
Thu

12

October

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

13

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wk1

Mon

16

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

17

October

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

18

October

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

19

October

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

20

October

a.m.

Page 209

p.m.
Wk2

Mon

23

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

24

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

25

October

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

26

October

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

27

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

30

October

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

31

October

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

1

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

2

November

a.m.

Clinical and Care Governance

p.m.
Fri

3

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

6

November

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

7

November

a.m.

Budget Working Group

p.m.
Wed

8

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

9

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

10

November

a.m.
p.m.

Page 210

Wk5

Mon

13

November

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

14

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

15

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

16

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

17

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wk6

Mon

20

November

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

21

November

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Development
Session

p.m.
Wed

22

November

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

23

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

24

November

a.m.

Audit and Assurance

p.m.
Wk1

Mon

27

November

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

28

November

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

29

November

a.m.

Performance and Delivery

p.m.
Thu

30

November

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

1

December

a.m.
p.m.

Page 211

Wk2

Mon

4

December

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

5

December

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Development
Session

p.m.
Wed

6

December

a.m.

Strategic Planning Group

p.m.
Thu

7

December

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

8

December

a.m.
p.m.

Wk3

Mon

11

December

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

12

December

a.m.

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board

p.m.
Wed

13

December

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

14

December

a.m.

EIJB Governance Session

p.m.
Fri

15

December

a.m.
p.m.

Wk4

Mon

18

December

a.m.
p.m.

Tue

19

December

a.m.
p.m.

Wed

20

December

a.m.
p.m.

Thu

21

December

a.m.
p.m.

Fri

22

December

a.m.
p.m.

Page 212

Page 213

This page is intentionally left blank

